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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

C-17-327767-2

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor August 13, 2020COURT MINUTES

C-17-327767-2 State of Nevada
vs
Adrian Powell

August 13, 2020 01:15 PM Hearing RE: Appeal Remand-Denial of Withdrawal of Guilty Plea

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Israel, Ronald J.

Thomas, Kathy

RJC Courtroom 15C

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Deft. POWELL present by video, in custody in the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDC). 
Mr. Kane, prior counsel, present by video. State noted this hearing is regarding the limited 
remand of two issues; ineffective counsel, counsel and Deft's understanding of the new 
charges and counsel advising Deft. of a 6 to 15 year sentence. Upon Court's inquiry of waiving 
attorney client privilege and following discussions, Deft. understood and agreed to waive the 
attorney client privilege between the Deft. and Mr. Kane. Ms. McNeill noted the parties had 
stipulated to specific dates: Counsel appointed 11/08/17, start of trial 07/30/18 and discovery 
received 09/11/18. State agreed and clarified discovery was not the entire discovery, only the 
discovery packet for sentencing. 

HEARING: Mr. Kane sworn and testified. Deft's rested. State rested. Both Ms. McNeill and the 
State submitted on their closing arguments. Court trailed matter for review. Later recalled. 
Court found Mr. Kane s testimony to be credible and in direct conflict with the Deft's affidavit. 
Court referred to the testimony and quoted from the testimony. Court finds given counsel never 
told the Deft. he would receive 6 to 15 years, Court finds counsel was not ineffective as to this 
issues. Court Further noted Mr. Kane referred to; the Life Sentence being taken off the table 
and Mr. Kane went over the Guilty Plea Agreement several times with the Deft.; further the 10 
other cases didn't matter they were just thrown in. Court noted an Evidentiary Hearing has 
been held and the Deft. is not entitled to relief. Court finds there was no ineffective assistance 
of counsel and based on the standards; Court finds no grounds that there was no reason 
under "the fair and just" to withdraw plea. Court directed the State to prepare the order and 
pass it by counsel.

PARTIES PRESENT:
Adrian Powell Defendant

John Giordani Attorney for Defendant, Plaintiff

Monique   A. McNeill Attorney for Defendant

State of Nevada Plaintiff

RECORDER: Chappell, Judy

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 8/14/2020 August 13, 2020Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Kathy Thomas APP000460
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EXPT 
MONIQUE A. MCNEILL, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 009862 
P.O. Box 2451 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 
Phone: (702) 497-9734 
Email: monique.mcneill@yahoo.com 
Counsel for ADRIAN POWELL 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
THE STATE OF NEVADA,  ) 
      ) 

Plaintiff,  ) 
 )  CASE NO: C-17-327767-2  

vs.      ) 
)  DEPT. NO: XXVIII 

ADRIAN POWELL,  ) 
      )  DATE:  __________ 
      ) 

Defendant.   )  TIME:  __________ 
_________________________________) 
 

 
EX-PARTE APPLICATION FOR TRANSCRIPTS 

 
 
 

COMES NOW, ADRIAN POWELL, by and through his attorney, Monique 

McNeill, Esq., and hereby requests this Honorable Court issue an Order directing 

Judy Chappell to prepare the transcript of the evidentiary hearing on August 13, 

2020 with fees charged to the State. 

This Application is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file  

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

Case Number: C-17-327767-2

Electronically Filed
2/4/2021 1:13 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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herein, the attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral 

argument at the time of hearing, if deemed necessary by this Honorable Court. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
By: /s/ Monique McNeill  
MONIQUE MCNEILL, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 009862 
P.O. Box 2451 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 

 
POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 
The defendant is currently incarcerated in High Desert State Prison in Indian 

Springs, Nevada. Counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Powell and this case was 

remanded by the Supreme Court for an evidentiary hearing.  Counsel requests the 

production of the following transcripts: 

Evidentiary Hearing: 8/13/20 

The requested transcripts are necessary to provide to the appellate court for 

its consideration of a pending appeal. 

For the foregoing reasons, it is requested that this Ex-Parte Application be 

granted. 

DATED this 1st day of February, 2021.  

 
By: /s/ Monique McNeill  
MONIQUE MCNEILL, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 009862 
P.O. Box 2451 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 
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ORDR 
Monique McNeill, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 9862 
P.O. Box 2451 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 
(702) 497-9734
Fax (702) 920-8708Monique.mcneill@yahoo.com
Attorney for Defendant

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

THE STATE OF NEVADA,  ) 
) 

Plaintiff,  ) 
) CASE NO: C-17-327767-2

vs. ) 
) DEPT. NO: XXVIII 

ADRIAN POWELL, ) 
) DATE:  __________ 
) 

Defendant. ) TIME:  __________ 
____________________________________) 

ORDER FOR TRANSCRIPTS 

Upon the application of the above-named Defendant, ADRIAN POWELL, by and through, 

MONIQUE A. MCNEILL, ESQ., and good cause appearing therefore: 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Judy Chappell prepare the transcripts of the evidentiary 

hearing held on August 13, 2020 be prepared at State Expense for purposes of transmitting to the 

Supreme Court.  

DATED _______ day of February, 2021. 

DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 
Submitted by: 

MONIQUE MCNEILL, ESQ 
Nevada Bar No. 9862 

SC

Electronically Filed
02/08/2021 10:24 AM
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~-~4.:,._ 
CLERK OF THE COURT 

Dated this 8th day of February, 2021 

M/U 
108 802 75C7 E394 
Ronald J. Israel 
District Court Judge 
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: C-17-327767-2State of Nevada

vs

Adrian Powell

DEPT. NO.  Department 28

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all 
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 2/8/2021

MICHAEL KANE mike@the702firm.com

John Giordani John.Giordani@clarkcountyda.com

MONIQUE MCNEILL monique.mcneill@yahoo.com
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FCL 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
JOHN GIORDANI 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #12381 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500
Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ADRIAN POWELL, 

Petitioner, 

-vs-

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

    Respondent. 

CASE NO: 

DEPT NO: 

C-17-327767-2

XXVIII

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF 
LAW, AND ORDER 

DATE OF HEARING:  AUGUST 13, 2020 
TIME OF HEARING:  1:15 P.M. 

THIS CAUSE having come on for hearing before the Honorable RONALD J. ISRAEL, 

District Court Judge, on the 13th day of August, 2020, Petitioner not being present, being 

represented by MONIQUE A. MCNEILL, the Respondent being represented by STEVEN B. 

WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, through JOHN GIORDANI, Chief Deputy 

District Attorney, and the Court having considered the matter, including briefs, transcripts, 

and documents on file herein, now therefore, the Court makes the following findings of fact 

and conclusions of law:  

// 

// 

// 

// 

Electronically Filed
03/04/2021 11:46 AM
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FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On November 8, 2017, an Indictment returned in the District Court charging 

Defendants Larenzo Pinkey aka, Larenzo Pinkney, and Adrian Powell with two (2) counts of 

Conspiracy To Commit Robbery (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 199.480), two (2) counts 

of Burglary While In Possession Of A Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 205.060), 

three (3) counts of First Degree Kidnapping With Use Of A Deadly Weapon (Category A 

Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320, 193.165), seven (7) counts of Robbery With Use Of A Deadly 

Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.165) and one (1) count of Unlawful Taking 

Of Vehicle (Gross Misdemeanor - NRS 205.2715). All charges stemmed from robberies that 

occurred at a Pepe’s Tacos restaurant and a Walgreens store in Las Vegas, Nevada on 

September 28, 2017.  

On November 13, 2017, Defendants Pinkney and Powell were arraigned on the 

aforementioned charges in the District Court. The case ultimately proceeded to jury trial on 

July 30, 2018. Voir Dire commenced on Monday, July 30, 2018. Court concluded for the day, 

and the parties returned the following day to resume jury selection. That morning, the parties 

negotiated for hours, and the State ultimately agreed to allow the Defendants to plead guilty 

pursuant to the Guilty Plea Agreement discussed below.  

The Defendants pled guilty, the jury was discharged, and a sentencing date was set for 

September 12, 2018. The State agreed not to seek a life sentence on any count but retained full 

right to argue.  

Mr. Kane, Ben Durham and Roy Nelson, along with both Defendants, reviewed some 

discovery regarding the other 10 events. The other 10 crimes are relatively inconsequential to 

entering this guilty plea. Negotiations centered on Defendants trial charges when he plead. 

The State’s decision to refrain from filing other criminal charges against the Defendant’s were 

a bonus, not a crucial part of the Guilty Plea. However, the Defendant did not rely on state 

agreeing to not file in his decision to plead guilty. The main benefit of the deal was getting life 

off the table.   
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On January 14, 2019, Defendant filed a motion to withdraw guilty plea. The Court 

denied the Defendant’s motion to withdraw guilty plea on February 25, 2019. On May 22, 

2019, Defendant was sentenced to FIVE HUNDRED FIFTY-TWO (552) MONTHS 

MAXIMUM with a MINIMUM PAROLE ELIGIBILITY OF ONE HUNDRED NINETY-

TWO (192) MONTHS, and SIX HUNDRED TWO (602) DAYS credit for time served. 

Defendant appealed the Court’s denial of his Motion to Withdraw his Guilty Plea on June 14, 

2019. The Nevada Supreme Court reversed and remanded to the district court to conduct an 

evidentiary hearing on May 16, 2020.  

The Court conducted an Evidentiary Hearing on August 13, 2020, at which Michael C. 

Kane testified, who had been the Petitioner’s attorney when the Guilty Plea was agreed to. The 

Court found Mr. Kane’s testimony to be credible and contradicted Defendant’s claims. Mr. 

Kane never advised Petitioner that he would receive a particular sentence or promised anything 

regarding a particular sentence. The Court now makes the following findings and conclusions: 

ANALYSIS 

Petitioner claims (1) the district court erred by denying his present motion to withdraw 

his guilty plea without first conducting an evidentiary hearing, (2) his counsel was ineffective. 

I. THERE WAS NO FAIR AND JUST REASON TO GRANT WITHDRAWAL

AS PETITIONER KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERED HIS

PLEA

To Petitioners first claim, that the district court erred by denying his prestence motion to 

withdraw his guilty plea without first conducting an evidentiary hearing, this Court finds no 

fair and just reason to have granted the withdrawal. Pursuant to NRS 176.165, after sentencing, 

a defendant’s guilty plea can only be withdrawn to correct “manifest injustice.”  See also Baal 

v. State, 106 Nev. 69, 72, 787 P.2d 391, 394 (1990).  The law in Nevada establishes that a plea

of guilty is presumptively valid, and the burden is on a defendant to show that the plea was

not voluntarily entered.  Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986) (citing

Wingfield v. State, 91 Nev. 336, 337, 535 P.2d 1295, 1295 (1975)).  Manifest injustice does

not exist if the defendant entered his plea voluntarily. Baal, 106 Nev. at 72, 787 P.2d at 394.
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A court shall look to the totality of the circumstances to determine whether the plea was 

made freely, knowingly and voluntarily, and whether the defendant understood the nature of 

the offense and the consequences of the plea. State v. Freese, 116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 

442, 448 (2000).  The “totality of the circumstances” test includes a review of the plea 

agreement, the canvass conducted by the district court, and the record as a whole.  Id.; Woods, 

114 Nev. at 475, 958 P.2d at 95.  Further, there is “[n]o specific formula for making this 

determination,” thus each case is evaluated on a case-by-case basis.  Freese, 116 Nev. at 1106, 

13 P.3d at 448.  Even though there is no specific formula, the Nevada Supreme Court has 

concluded that “[a] thorough plea canvass coupled with a detailed, consistent, written plea 

agreement supports a finding that the defendant entered the plea voluntarily, knowingly, and 

intelligently.”  Molina, 120 Nev. at 191, 87 P.3d at 537-38. The decision to enter into a guilty 

plea belonged to Petitioner. Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002). Petitioner 

also attested that his plea was voluntarily entered: 
 

VOLUNTARINESS OF PLEA 
 

I understand that I am waiving and forever giving up the following rights and 
privileges:  

 
1. The constitutional privilege against self-incrimination… 
2. The constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury… 
3. The constitutional right to confront and cross-examine any witnesses who 
would testify against me…I have discussed the elements of the original 
charge(s) against me with my attorney and I understand the nature of the 
charge(s) against me…. I have discussed with my attorney any possible 
defenses, defense strategies and circumstances which might be in my favor… 
All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and waiver of rights have 
been thoroughly explained to me by my attorney. I believe that pleading guilty 
and accepting this plea bargain is in my best interest, and that trial would be 
contrary to my best interest. 
 
I am signing this agreement voluntarily…and I am not acting under duress 
or coercion or by virtue of any promise of leniency, except for those set forth 
in this agreement…My attorney has answered all my questions regarding this 
guilty plea agreement and its consequences to my satisfaction and I am satisfied 
with the services provided by my attorney.  
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Guilty Plea Agreement (09/11/2018), at 5-6.  
 

Moreover, at no time during Petitioner’s plea canvass did he inform the court that he 

was being coerced into entering his plea, or that he was innocent of the crime charged:  

 

THE COURT: Okay. I’m going to do these one at a time and very, hopefully, 

carefully. Let’s start off, Mr. Pinkey – 

… 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: [Defendant spells True Name] 

THE COURT: And how old are you? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: I’m 22, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: How far did you go in school? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: I never got my high school diploma or I never got 

a GED, but I’m planning on getting that. 

THE COURT: Do you have any sort of learning disability of any kind? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I grew up with a learning disability. I had an 

IEP, and I grew up with a lot like behavior, my behavior. I got the information 

on that too. Benjamin, he got status on the stuff, stating that type of stuff. 

THE COURT: Okay, do you read, write and understand the English language? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: And is English your primary language? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: Have you been treated recently for any mental illness or 

addiction of any kind? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: I have in the past, but not recently. 

THE COURT: Okay. Has anyone ever suggested to you that you be treated for 

mental illness or an emotional condition? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Well, yeah, but – and no. I say yeah and no. It’s a 
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yeah on the mental affect, it has been where they wanted me to get treated, but 

I just hadn’t. 

THE COURT: Okay. Are you currently under the influence of any drug, 

medication, or alcoholic beverage? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, sir. 

THE COURT: Have you been on any medication during your time in jail? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, sir. 

THE COURT: Have you received a copy of the indictment – or the guilty plea 

agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I have. 

THE COURT: Have you discussed this case with your attorney? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: Are you satisfied with his representation and the advice given 

to you by your attorney? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes I have. Or, yes, I am. Sorry. 

THE COURT: Okay. And as to the guilty plea agreement, are you pleading 

guilty to Counts … [Court lists counts in the Indictment] 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I do. 

THE COURT: And do you understand all the – have you read a copy of the 

guilty plea agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I read it over, sir. 

THE COURT: And do you understand everything contained in the guilty plea 

agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: And have you had an opportunity to discuss this with your 

attorney? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: And if you had any questions, did he answer your questions? 
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DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, he did. 

THE COURT: Do you have any questions of me regarding that at this time? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: And as to the charges in the guilty plea agreement that I just 

discussed, how are you pleading? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Pleading guilty. 

THE COURT: And is it because in truth and in fact you committed the charges 

listed in the guilty plea agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: Are you making this plea freely and voluntarily? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I am, sir. 

THE COURT: Has anyone forced or threatened you or anyone close to you to 

get you to enter this plea? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, sir. 

THE COURT: Has anyone made any promises other than what’s stated in the 

guilty plea agreement to get you to enter this guilty plea agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No. 

THE COURT: And do you understand that as part of the guilty plea 

agreement, although you are not admitting to these crimes, that the State will 

be allowed to argue these crimes as I’m about to list for you at the time of 

sentencing? … [Court then lists ten armed robbery dates, locations, and event 

numbers, which are also contained on page 2 of the guilty plea agreement]. 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: And you’re agreeable to the same? You’re agreeable to that? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I am. 

… [Court showed Defendant his signature on the guilty plea agreement] 

THE COURT: Okay. Before you signed it, again, did you read and discuss it 

with your attorney? 
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DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: And again, just to be clear, did you understand everything 

contained in the guilty plea agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I did, sir. 

THE COURT: Do you understand the constitutional rights you’re giving up by 

[] entering a guilty plea agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: And do you understand that you have a right to appeal on 

reasonable constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds that challenge the 

legality of the proceedings? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

… [Parties recite the range of punishment for each and every count to which 

Defendant pled] 

THE COURT: Do you understand the range of punishment? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

… [Colloquy regarding the maximum punishment for all counts] 

MR. GIORDANI: As long as both Mr. Pinkney and Mr. Powell understand the 

range for each count…[a]nd then also they understand sentencing is 

completely up to the Court, and if the Court can either run the counts 

concurrent or run the counts consecutive. 

THE COURT: Okay. … So you understand the individual range of 

punishments on each of the counts? 

… 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: I can – it’s at my discretion. And do you understand that the 

counts can be run consecutively or concurrently? Once again, that’s up to me. 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: And no one is in a position to promise you probation, leniency, 
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or any special treatment; do you understand that? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Oh, yeah, I understand that, sir. 

… 

THE COURT: Thank you. What is it that you did to cause you to plead guilty? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: I committed – I went to an establishment, and I 

commited two robberies – two more robberies – sir. 

THE COURT: What were the establishments? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: It was a Pepe’s, and another one was Walgreen’s, 

sir. 

THE COURT: All right. Do you have any questions you’d like to ask me or 

your attorney before I accept this plea? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, sir. Not questions, sir, no. 

THE COURT: The Court finds the Defendant’s plea of guilty is freely and 

voluntarily made, and the Defendant understands the nature of the offenses and 

consequences of his plea, and therefore, accepts the guilty plea. The matter is 

referred to Parole & Probation for a PSI report. 

MR. GIORDANI: Your Honor, before you move on, can I ask one more thing 

of the Court? 

THE COURT: Sure. 

MR. GIORDANI: Just with regard to your first few questions of Mr. Pinkney 

where he indicated he had an IEP, a learning program, learning disabilities 

growing up, can we just be clear on the record that Mr. Pinkney had sufficient 

time with his attorney – it’s been a couple hours, I think, since we broke and 

started really getting into the meat of this – understood fully both the written 

words and, you know, the conversations that he had with his attorney. 

MR. DURHAM: Your Honor, I signed the certificate of counsel, which 

indicates that I believe he’s fully competent to enter the plea; that I went over 

it with him. 
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THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. DURHAM: And so I would just ask the Court to adopt that as part of the 

plea agreement. 

THE COURT: That’s fine, and I certainly think I’ve asked him three times at 

least now if he had any questions regarding this, and he’s advised me that he 

does not. And you had plenty of time, for the record, to go over this with your 

attorney since it’s now 1:30 and you first met with him at approximately 11:00 

a.m., correct?

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes.

THE COURT: And once again, you have no questions regarding the

agreement?

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, sir.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you.

MR. DURHAM: Thank you.

THE COURT: I find it’s freely and voluntarily entered into. The Defendant is

remanded.

Reporter’s Transcript, pp. 3-12. 

Therefore, any claim from Petitioner that he was coerced into entering his plea is belied 

by the record and suitable for only summary denial under Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d 

at 225. Any claim that Petitioner was coerced lacks merit. Accordingly, this Court finds that 

Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily entered his guilty plea. Thus, the Court finds no "the fair 

and just" reason to have withdrawn Petitioners guilty plea. 

II. PETITIONER RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Petitioner claims that counsel was ineffective for (1) advising him to enter a guilty plea

without fully understanding the nature of 10 new charges mentioned during negotiations, and 

(2) advising petitioner that he would receive a sentence of approximately 6 to 15 years.

Petition at 2. Such claims are analyzed under the two-pronged test articulated in Strickland v.

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984), wherein the defendant must show (1) that
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counsel’s performance was deficient, and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the 

defense. Id. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064. “A court may consider the two test elements in any 

order and need not consider both prongs if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on 

either one.” Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1997); Molina v. State, 

120 Nev. 185, 190, 87 P.3d 533, 537 (2004).  

“Surmounting Strickland’s high bar is never an easy task.”  Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 

U.S. 356, 371, 130 S. Ct. 1473, 1485 (2010), because the issue is whether the attorney’s 

representation amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms, “not whether 

it deviated from best practices or most common custom.”  Harrington v. Richter,  562 U.S. 86, 

88, 131 S. Ct. 770, 778 (2011).  Further, “[e]ffective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, 

but rather counsel whose assistance is ‘[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of 

attorneys in criminal cases.’”  Jackson v. Warden, Nevada State Prison, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 

P.2d 473, 474 (1975) (quoting McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, 90 S. Ct. 1441, 

1449 (1970)). 

A Court begins with a presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether 

the petitioner has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was 

ineffective.  Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011-12, 103 P.3d 25, 32-33 (2004).  The role of 

a court in considering alleged ineffective assistance of counsel is “not to pass upon the merits 

of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances 

of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance.”  Donovan v. State, 

94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711(1978) (citing Cooper v. Fitzharris, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 

(9th Cir. 1977)). 

In considering whether trial counsel was effective, this Court determined whether 

counsel made a “sufficient inquiry into the information that is pertinent to his client’s case,” 

and then whether counsel made “a reasonable strategy decision on how to proceed with his 

client’s case.” Doleman v State, 112 Nev. 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996) (citing 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690–91, 104 S. Ct. at 2066).  Additionally, a defendant is not entitled 

to a particular “relationship” with his attorney. Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 14, 103 S. Ct. 
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1610, 1617 (1983). There is no requirement for any specific amount of communication as long 

as counsel is reasonably effective in his representation.  See Id.  

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an 

objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a 

reasonable probability that he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going 

to trial.  Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366 (1985); Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 

980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). “The defendant carries the affirmative burden of 

establishing prejudice.”  Riley v. State, 110 Nev. 638, 646, 878 P.2d 272, 278 (1994). 

The Nevada Supreme Court has held “that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the 

disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of 

the evidence.” Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004).  Furthermore, 

claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must 

be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to 

relief.  Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. “Bare” and “naked” allegations are not 

sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record.  Id.  NRS 34.735(6) states in relevant 

part, “[Petitioner] must allege specific facts supporting the claims in the petition[.] . . . Failure 

to allege specific facts rather than just conclusions may cause your petition to be dismissed.”  

(emphasis added). 

Each of Defendant’s ineffective counsel claims is without merit and is therefore denied.  

A. Ground One: Failure to Fully Understand the Evidence of Separate Charges 

Defendant complains that his lawyer failed to fully understand the evidence of separate 

charges that were mentioned during negotiations. Petition at 2. However, this claim is belied 

by the record and suitable only for summary denial. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 

225.  

First, Defendant has not offered any support for his assertion that “there is no evidence 

linking him to the new charges”. Petition at 2. Indeed, the record reflects the opposite. The 

State presented Arrest Reports and Witness Statements related to the 10 other charges. Further, 

the main concern of the Guilty Plea Agreement was taking life off the table, not these other 
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10 charges. This is supported by the fact that nowhere in the Guilty Plea Agreement are these 

10 charges mentioned. The guilty plea agreement concerned getting a life sentence off the 

table, not the other 10 cases, which were thrown in as an afterthought.  

An Evidentiary Hearing was held on August 13, 2020. Mr. Kane testified that 10 other 

cases didn't matter, but rather were just thrown in. The Court found Mr. Kane’s testimony to 

be credible.  

Second, Defendant’s claim is akin to a failure to investigate claim. However, a 

defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not adequately investigate 

must show how a better investigation would have rendered a more favorable outcome 

probable. Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004). Defendant fails to do 

so. 

Defendant merely alleges that an investigation would have discovered no evidence 

linking him to the new charges. Petition at 2. As an initial matter, Defendant’s claims that 

further investigation of the evidence would have shown no evidence linking him to the new 

charges are bare and naked, suitable only for summary of denial. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 

686 P.2d at 225. Moreover, Defendant cannot show prejudice because he cannot show how a 

better investigation into the evidence of charges, separate from the charges he plead guilty to, 

would have led to a better result—such as a verdict of not guilty at this trial.  

The Defendant has not established that the State could not have proved the new charges 

with the evidence it presented to Defendant. Thus, Defendant has not established that counsel 

was objectively unreasonable for not further investigating the police reports and witness 

statements or that he was at all prejudiced by this alleged failure. Because Defendant cannot 

establish either Strickland prong, this claim is denied.  

A. Ground Two: Advising Defendant to Plead Guilty 

Defendant complains that his attorney advised him that he would “receive a sentence 

of approximately 6 to 15 years”. Petition at 2. The decision whether to enter a guilty plea 

belongs to the defendant. Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002). Defendant’s 

factual allegations—including that his attorney advised him that he faced possible 6 to 15 years 
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in jail only demonstrates that counsel fulfilled his duty to offer candid advise about the costs 

and benefits of entering a guilty plea. Indeed, far from being ineffective, counsel was 

objectively reasonable in offering a complete picture of possibilities.  

Petitioner’s counsel never promised him 6 to 15 years. Rather, Mr. Kane went over the 

Guilty Plea Agreement several times with the Petitioner. At the Evidentiary Hearing on August 

13, 2020, Mr. Kane testified that he never told the Defendant he would receive 6 to 15 years. 

The Court found Mr. Kane’s testimony to be credible. 

As such, Defendant’s claim that he was “misled” or “convinced” to plead guilty is 

belied by the record and suitable only for summary of denial. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 

P.2d at 225. Moreover, in the end, the decision to accept counsel’s advice to plead guilty was

Defendant’s and Defendant’s alone. Rhyne, 118 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167. Defendant cannot

establish that he was prejudiced by counsel’s advice, even if that advice was objectively

unreasonable. This claim is denied.

ORDER 

THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, Petitioner Adrian Powell’s Petition for 

Writ of Habeas Corpus shall be, and is, DENIED. 

DATED this                     day of March, 2021. 

DISTRICT JUDGE 

STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 

BY /s// JOHN GIORDANI
JOHN GIORDANI
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #012381  

C-17-327767-2 SC
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 

I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this ____ day of 

October, 2020, by electronic transmission to: 
 
      MONIQUE MCNEILL 
      Monique.mcneill@yahoo.com  
 
 BY /s// E. Del Padre 

  
E. DEL PADRE 
Secretary for the District Attorney’s Office 
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: C-17-327767-2State of Nevada

vs

Adrian Powell

DEPT. NO.  Department 28

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was served via the 
court’s electronic eFile system to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled 
case as listed below:

Service Date: 3/4/2021

MICHAEL KANE mike@the702firm.com

John Giordani John.Giordani@clarkcountyda.com

MONIQUE MCNEILL monique.mcneill@yahoo.com
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

ADRIAN POWELL, 

 

                                 Petitioner, 

 

 vs. 

 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

 

                                 Respondent, 

  
Case No:  C-17-327767-2 
                             
Dept No:  XXVIII 
 

                
 

 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF FINDINGS OF FACT, 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER 

 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on March 4, 2021, the court entered a decision or order in this matter, a 

true and correct copy of which is attached to this notice. 

You may appeal to the Supreme Court from the decision or order of this court. If you wish to appeal, you 

must file a notice of appeal with the clerk of this court within thirty-three (33) days after the date this notice is 

mailed to you. This notice was mailed on March 5, 2021. 

 
      STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CLERK OF THE COURT 

 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF E-SERVICE / MAILING 

 

 I hereby certify that on this 5 day of March 2021, I served a copy of this Notice of Entry on the following: 

 

 By e-mail: 

  Clark County District Attorney’s Office  

  Attorney General’s Office – Appellate Division- 

     

 

 The United States mail addressed as follows: 

Adrian Powell # 1217413 Monique McNeill, Esq.       

P.O. Box 208 P.O.Box 2451       

Indian Springs, NV 89070 Las Vegas, NV 89125       

                  

 
 

 

/s/ Amanda Hampton 

Amanda Hampton, Deputy Clerk 

/s/ Amanda Hampton 

Amanda Hampton, Deputy Clerk 

Case Number: C-17-327767-2

Electronically Filed
3/5/2021 1:48 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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FCL 
STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
JOHN GIORDANI 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #12381 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

ADRIAN POWELL, 

   Petitioner, 

 -vs- 
 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
   

                                 Respondent. 

 

CASE NO: 

DEPT NO: 

C-17-327767-2 

XXVIII 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF 

LAW, AND ORDER 
DATE OF HEARING:  AUGUST 13, 2020 

TIME OF HEARING:  1:15 P.M. 
THIS CAUSE having come on for hearing before the Honorable RONALD J. ISRAEL, 

District Court Judge, on the 13th day of August, 2020, Petitioner not being present, being 

represented by MONIQUE A. MCNEILL, the Respondent being represented by STEVEN B. 

WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, through JOHN GIORDANI, Chief Deputy 

District Attorney, and the Court having considered the matter, including briefs, transcripts, 

and documents on file herein, now therefore, the Court makes the following findings of fact 

and conclusions of law:  

// 

// 

// 

// 

Electronically Filed
03/04/2021 11:46 AM
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FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On November 8, 2017, an Indictment returned in the District Court charging 

Defendants Larenzo Pinkey aka, Larenzo Pinkney, and Adrian Powell with two (2) counts of 

Conspiracy To Commit Robbery (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 199.480), two (2) counts 

of Burglary While In Possession Of A Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 205.060), 

three (3) counts of First Degree Kidnapping With Use Of A Deadly Weapon (Category A 

Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320, 193.165), seven (7) counts of Robbery With Use Of A Deadly 

Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.165) and one (1) count of Unlawful Taking 

Of Vehicle (Gross Misdemeanor - NRS 205.2715). All charges stemmed from robberies that 

occurred at a Pepe’s Tacos restaurant and a Walgreens store in Las Vegas, Nevada on 

September 28, 2017.  

On November 13, 2017, Defendants Pinkney and Powell were arraigned on the 

aforementioned charges in the District Court. The case ultimately proceeded to jury trial on 

July 30, 2018. Voir Dire commenced on Monday, July 30, 2018. Court concluded for the day, 

and the parties returned the following day to resume jury selection. That morning, the parties 

negotiated for hours, and the State ultimately agreed to allow the Defendants to plead guilty 

pursuant to the Guilty Plea Agreement discussed below.  

The Defendants pled guilty, the jury was discharged, and a sentencing date was set for 

September 12, 2018. The State agreed not to seek a life sentence on any count but retained full 

right to argue.  

Mr. Kane, Ben Durham and Roy Nelson, along with both Defendants, reviewed some 

discovery regarding the other 10 events. The other 10 crimes are relatively inconsequential to 

entering this guilty plea. Negotiations centered on Defendants trial charges when he plead. 

The State’s decision to refrain from filing other criminal charges against the Defendant’s were 

a bonus, not a crucial part of the Guilty Plea. However, the Defendant did not rely on state 

agreeing to not file in his decision to plead guilty. The main benefit of the deal was getting life 

off the table.   
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On January 14, 2019, Defendant filed a motion to withdraw guilty plea. The Court 

denied the Defendant’s motion to withdraw guilty plea on February 25, 2019. On May 22, 

2019, Defendant was sentenced to FIVE HUNDRED FIFTY-TWO (552) MONTHS 

MAXIMUM with a MINIMUM PAROLE ELIGIBILITY OF ONE HUNDRED NINETY-

TWO (192) MONTHS, and SIX HUNDRED TWO (602) DAYS credit for time served. 

Defendant appealed the Court’s denial of his Motion to Withdraw his Guilty Plea on June 14, 

2019. The Nevada Supreme Court reversed and remanded to the district court to conduct an 

evidentiary hearing on May 16, 2020.  

The Court conducted an Evidentiary Hearing on August 13, 2020, at which Michael C. 

Kane testified, who had been the Petitioner’s attorney when the Guilty Plea was agreed to. The 

Court found Mr. Kane’s testimony to be credible and contradicted Defendant’s claims. Mr. 

Kane never advised Petitioner that he would receive a particular sentence or promised anything 

regarding a particular sentence. The Court now makes the following findings and conclusions: 

ANALYSIS 

Petitioner claims (1) the district court erred by denying his present motion to withdraw 

his guilty plea without first conducting an evidentiary hearing, (2) his counsel was ineffective. 

I. THERE WAS NO FAIR AND JUST REASON TO GRANT WITHDRAWAL

AS PETITIONER KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERED HIS

PLEA

To Petitioners first claim, that the district court erred by denying his prestence motion to 

withdraw his guilty plea without first conducting an evidentiary hearing, this Court finds no 

fair and just reason to have granted the withdrawal. Pursuant to NRS 176.165, after sentencing, 

a defendant’s guilty plea can only be withdrawn to correct “manifest injustice.”  See also Baal 

v. State, 106 Nev. 69, 72, 787 P.2d 391, 394 (1990).  The law in Nevada establishes that a plea

of guilty is presumptively valid, and the burden is on a defendant to show that the plea was

not voluntarily entered.  Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986) (citing

Wingfield v. State, 91 Nev. 336, 337, 535 P.2d 1295, 1295 (1975)).  Manifest injustice does

not exist if the defendant entered his plea voluntarily. Baal, 106 Nev. at 72, 787 P.2d at 394.
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A court shall look to the totality of the circumstances to determine whether the plea was 

made freely, knowingly and voluntarily, and whether the defendant understood the nature of 

the offense and the consequences of the plea. State v. Freese, 116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 

442, 448 (2000).  The “totality of the circumstances” test includes a review of the plea 

agreement, the canvass conducted by the district court, and the record as a whole.  Id.; Woods, 

114 Nev. at 475, 958 P.2d at 95.  Further, there is “[n]o specific formula for making this 

determination,” thus each case is evaluated on a case-by-case basis.  Freese, 116 Nev. at 1106, 

13 P.3d at 448.  Even though there is no specific formula, the Nevada Supreme Court has 

concluded that “[a] thorough plea canvass coupled with a detailed, consistent, written plea 

agreement supports a finding that the defendant entered the plea voluntarily, knowingly, and 

intelligently.”  Molina, 120 Nev. at 191, 87 P.3d at 537-38. The decision to enter into a guilty 

plea belonged to Petitioner. Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002). Petitioner 

also attested that his plea was voluntarily entered: 
 

VOLUNTARINESS OF PLEA 
 

I understand that I am waiving and forever giving up the following rights and 
privileges:  

 
1. The constitutional privilege against self-incrimination… 
2. The constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury… 
3. The constitutional right to confront and cross-examine any witnesses who 
would testify against me…I have discussed the elements of the original 
charge(s) against me with my attorney and I understand the nature of the 
charge(s) against me…. I have discussed with my attorney any possible 
defenses, defense strategies and circumstances which might be in my favor… 
All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and waiver of rights have 
been thoroughly explained to me by my attorney. I believe that pleading guilty 
and accepting this plea bargain is in my best interest, and that trial would be 
contrary to my best interest. 
 
I am signing this agreement voluntarily…and I am not acting under duress 
or coercion or by virtue of any promise of leniency, except for those set forth 
in this agreement…My attorney has answered all my questions regarding this 
guilty plea agreement and its consequences to my satisfaction and I am satisfied 
with the services provided by my attorney.  
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Guilty Plea Agreement (09/11/2018), at 5-6. 

Moreover, at no time during Petitioner’s plea canvass did he inform the court that he 

was being coerced into entering his plea, or that he was innocent of the crime charged:  

THE COURT: Okay. I’m going to do these one at a time and very, hopefully, 

carefully. Let’s start off, Mr. Pinkey – 

… 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: [Defendant spells True Name] 

THE COURT: And how old are you? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: I’m 22, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: How far did you go in school? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: I never got my high school diploma or I never got 

a GED, but I’m planning on getting that. 

THE COURT: Do you have any sort of learning disability of any kind? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I grew up with a learning disability. I had an 

IEP, and I grew up with a lot like behavior, my behavior. I got the information 

on that too. Benjamin, he got status on the stuff, stating that type of stuff. 

THE COURT: Okay, do you read, write and understand the English language? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: And is English your primary language? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: Have you been treated recently for any mental illness or 

addiction of any kind? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: I have in the past, but not recently. 

THE COURT: Okay. Has anyone ever suggested to you that you be treated for 

mental illness or an emotional condition? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Well, yeah, but – and no. I say yeah and no. It’s a 
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yeah on the mental affect, it has been where they wanted me to get treated, but 

I just hadn’t. 

THE COURT: Okay. Are you currently under the influence of any drug, 

medication, or alcoholic beverage? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, sir. 

THE COURT: Have you been on any medication during your time in jail? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, sir. 

THE COURT: Have you received a copy of the indictment – or the guilty plea 

agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I have. 

THE COURT: Have you discussed this case with your attorney? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: Are you satisfied with his representation and the advice given 

to you by your attorney? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes I have. Or, yes, I am. Sorry. 

THE COURT: Okay. And as to the guilty plea agreement, are you pleading 

guilty to Counts … [Court lists counts in the Indictment] 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I do. 

THE COURT: And do you understand all the – have you read a copy of the 

guilty plea agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I read it over, sir. 

THE COURT: And do you understand everything contained in the guilty plea 

agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: And have you had an opportunity to discuss this with your 

attorney? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: And if you had any questions, did he answer your questions? 
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DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, he did. 

THE COURT: Do you have any questions of me regarding that at this time? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: And as to the charges in the guilty plea agreement that I just 

discussed, how are you pleading? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Pleading guilty. 

THE COURT: And is it because in truth and in fact you committed the charges 

listed in the guilty plea agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: Are you making this plea freely and voluntarily? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I am, sir. 

THE COURT: Has anyone forced or threatened you or anyone close to you to 

get you to enter this plea? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, sir. 

THE COURT: Has anyone made any promises other than what’s stated in the 

guilty plea agreement to get you to enter this guilty plea agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No. 

THE COURT: And do you understand that as part of the guilty plea 

agreement, although you are not admitting to these crimes, that the State will 

be allowed to argue these crimes as I’m about to list for you at the time of 

sentencing? … [Court then lists ten armed robbery dates, locations, and event 

numbers, which are also contained on page 2 of the guilty plea agreement]. 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: And you’re agreeable to the same? You’re agreeable to that? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I am. 

… [Court showed Defendant his signature on the guilty plea agreement] 

THE COURT: Okay. Before you signed it, again, did you read and discuss it 

with your attorney? 
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DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: And again, just to be clear, did you understand everything 

contained in the guilty plea agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, I did, sir. 

THE COURT: Do you understand the constitutional rights you’re giving up by 

[] entering a guilty plea agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: And do you understand that you have a right to appeal on 

reasonable constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds that challenge the 

legality of the proceedings? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

… [Parties recite the range of punishment for each and every count to which 

Defendant pled] 

THE COURT: Do you understand the range of punishment? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

… [Colloquy regarding the maximum punishment for all counts] 

MR. GIORDANI: As long as both Mr. Pinkney and Mr. Powell understand the 

range for each count…[a]nd then also they understand sentencing is 

completely up to the Court, and if the Court can either run the counts 

concurrent or run the counts consecutive. 

THE COURT: Okay. … So you understand the individual range of 

punishments on each of the counts? 

… 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: I can – it’s at my discretion. And do you understand that the 

counts can be run consecutively or concurrently? Once again, that’s up to me. 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: And no one is in a position to promise you probation, leniency, 
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or any special treatment; do you understand that? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Oh, yeah, I understand that, sir. 

… 

THE COURT: Thank you. What is it that you did to cause you to plead guilty? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: I committed – I went to an establishment, and I 

commited two robberies – two more robberies – sir. 

THE COURT: What were the establishments? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: It was a Pepe’s, and another one was Walgreen’s, 

sir. 

THE COURT: All right. Do you have any questions you’d like to ask me or 

your attorney before I accept this plea? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, sir. Not questions, sir, no. 

THE COURT: The Court finds the Defendant’s plea of guilty is freely and 

voluntarily made, and the Defendant understands the nature of the offenses and 

consequences of his plea, and therefore, accepts the guilty plea. The matter is 

referred to Parole & Probation for a PSI report. 

MR. GIORDANI: Your Honor, before you move on, can I ask one more thing 

of the Court? 

THE COURT: Sure. 

MR. GIORDANI: Just with regard to your first few questions of Mr. Pinkney 

where he indicated he had an IEP, a learning program, learning disabilities 

growing up, can we just be clear on the record that Mr. Pinkney had sufficient 

time with his attorney – it’s been a couple hours, I think, since we broke and 

started really getting into the meat of this – understood fully both the written 

words and, you know, the conversations that he had with his attorney. 

MR. DURHAM: Your Honor, I signed the certificate of counsel, which 

indicates that I believe he’s fully competent to enter the plea; that I went over 

it with him. 

APP000490



 

 10 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. DURHAM: And so I would just ask the Court to adopt that as part of the 

plea agreement. 

THE COURT: That’s fine, and I certainly think I’ve asked him three times at 

least now if he had any questions regarding this, and he’s advised me that he 

does not. And you had plenty of time, for the record, to go over this with your 

attorney since it’s now 1:30 and you first met with him at approximately 11:00 

a.m., correct? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: Yes. 

THE COURT: And once again, you have no questions regarding the 

agreement? 

DEFENDANT PINKNEY: No, sir. 

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. 

MR. DURHAM: Thank you. 

THE COURT: I find it’s freely and voluntarily entered into. The Defendant is 

remanded. 

Reporter’s Transcript, pp. 3-12. 

Therefore, any claim from Petitioner that he was coerced into entering his plea is belied 

by the record and suitable for only summary denial under Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d 

at 225. Any claim that Petitioner was coerced lacks merit. Accordingly, this Court finds that 

Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily entered his guilty plea. Thus, the Court finds no "the fair 

and just" reason to have withdrawn Petitioners guilty plea. 

II. PETITIONER RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL   

Petitioner claims that counsel was ineffective for (1) advising him to enter a guilty plea 

without fully understanding the nature of 10 new charges mentioned during negotiations, and 

(2) advising petitioner that he would receive a sentence of approximately 6 to 15 years.  

Petition at 2. Such claims are analyzed under the two-pronged test articulated in Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984), wherein the defendant must show (1) that 

APP000491



 

 11 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

counsel’s performance was deficient, and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the 

defense. Id. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064. “A court may consider the two test elements in any 

order and need not consider both prongs if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on 

either one.” Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1997); Molina v. State, 

120 Nev. 185, 190, 87 P.3d 533, 537 (2004).  

“Surmounting Strickland’s high bar is never an easy task.”  Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 

U.S. 356, 371, 130 S. Ct. 1473, 1485 (2010), because the issue is whether the attorney’s 

representation amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms, “not whether 

it deviated from best practices or most common custom.”  Harrington v. Richter,  562 U.S. 86, 

88, 131 S. Ct. 770, 778 (2011).  Further, “[e]ffective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, 

but rather counsel whose assistance is ‘[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of 

attorneys in criminal cases.’”  Jackson v. Warden, Nevada State Prison, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 

P.2d 473, 474 (1975) (quoting McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, 90 S. Ct. 1441, 

1449 (1970)). 

A Court begins with a presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether 

the petitioner has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was 

ineffective.  Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011-12, 103 P.3d 25, 32-33 (2004).  The role of 

a court in considering alleged ineffective assistance of counsel is “not to pass upon the merits 

of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances 

of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance.”  Donovan v. State, 

94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711(1978) (citing Cooper v. Fitzharris, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 

(9th Cir. 1977)). 

In considering whether trial counsel was effective, this Court determined whether 

counsel made a “sufficient inquiry into the information that is pertinent to his client’s case,” 

and then whether counsel made “a reasonable strategy decision on how to proceed with his 

client’s case.” Doleman v State, 112 Nev. 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996) (citing 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690–91, 104 S. Ct. at 2066).  Additionally, a defendant is not entitled 

to a particular “relationship” with his attorney. Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 14, 103 S. Ct. 
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1610, 1617 (1983). There is no requirement for any specific amount of communication as long 

as counsel is reasonably effective in his representation.  See Id.  

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an 

objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a 

reasonable probability that he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going 

to trial.  Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366 (1985); Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 

980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). “The defendant carries the affirmative burden of 

establishing prejudice.”  Riley v. State, 110 Nev. 638, 646, 878 P.2d 272, 278 (1994). 

The Nevada Supreme Court has held “that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the 

disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of 

the evidence.” Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004).  Furthermore, 

claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must 

be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to 

relief.  Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. “Bare” and “naked” allegations are not 

sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record.  Id.  NRS 34.735(6) states in relevant 

part, “[Petitioner] must allege specific facts supporting the claims in the petition[.] . . . Failure 

to allege specific facts rather than just conclusions may cause your petition to be dismissed.”  

(emphasis added). 

Each of Defendant’s ineffective counsel claims is without merit and is therefore denied. 

A. Ground One: Failure to Fully Understand the Evidence of Separate Charges

Defendant complains that his lawyer failed to fully understand the evidence of separate

charges that were mentioned during negotiations. Petition at 2. However, this claim is belied 

by the record and suitable only for summary denial. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 

225.  

First, Defendant has not offered any support for his assertion that “there is no evidence 

linking him to the new charges”. Petition at 2. Indeed, the record reflects the opposite. The 

State presented Arrest Reports and Witness Statements related to the 10 other charges. Further, 

the main concern of the Guilty Plea Agreement was taking life off the table, not these other 
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10 charges. This is supported by the fact that nowhere in the Guilty Plea Agreement are these 

10 charges mentioned. The guilty plea agreement concerned getting a life sentence off the 

table, not the other 10 cases, which were thrown in as an afterthought.  

An Evidentiary Hearing was held on August 13, 2020. Mr. Kane testified that 10 other 

cases didn't matter, but rather were just thrown in. The Court found Mr. Kane’s testimony to 

be credible.  

Second, Defendant’s claim is akin to a failure to investigate claim. However, a 

defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not adequately investigate 

must show how a better investigation would have rendered a more favorable outcome 

probable. Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004). Defendant fails to do 

so. 

Defendant merely alleges that an investigation would have discovered no evidence 

linking him to the new charges. Petition at 2. As an initial matter, Defendant’s claims that 

further investigation of the evidence would have shown no evidence linking him to the new 

charges are bare and naked, suitable only for summary of denial. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 

686 P.2d at 225. Moreover, Defendant cannot show prejudice because he cannot show how a 

better investigation into the evidence of charges, separate from the charges he plead guilty to, 

would have led to a better result—such as a verdict of not guilty at this trial.  

The Defendant has not established that the State could not have proved the new charges 

with the evidence it presented to Defendant. Thus, Defendant has not established that counsel 

was objectively unreasonable for not further investigating the police reports and witness 

statements or that he was at all prejudiced by this alleged failure. Because Defendant cannot 

establish either Strickland prong, this claim is denied.  

A. Ground Two: Advising Defendant to Plead Guilty 

Defendant complains that his attorney advised him that he would “receive a sentence 

of approximately 6 to 15 years”. Petition at 2. The decision whether to enter a guilty plea 

belongs to the defendant. Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002). Defendant’s 

factual allegations—including that his attorney advised him that he faced possible 6 to 15 years 
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in jail only demonstrates that counsel fulfilled his duty to offer candid advise about the costs 

and benefits of entering a guilty plea. Indeed, far from being ineffective, counsel was 

objectively reasonable in offering a complete picture of possibilities.  

Petitioner’s counsel never promised him 6 to 15 years. Rather, Mr. Kane went over the 

Guilty Plea Agreement several times with the Petitioner. At the Evidentiary Hearing on August 

13, 2020, Mr. Kane testified that he never told the Defendant he would receive 6 to 15 years. 

The Court found Mr. Kane’s testimony to be credible. 

As such, Defendant’s claim that he was “misled” or “convinced” to plead guilty is 

belied by the record and suitable only for summary of denial. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 

P.2d at 225. Moreover, in the end, the decision to accept counsel’s advice to plead guilty was 

Defendant’s and Defendant’s alone. Rhyne, 118 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167. Defendant cannot 

establish that he was prejudiced by counsel’s advice, even if that advice was objectively 

unreasonable. This claim is denied. 

ORDER 

THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, Petitioner Adrian Powell’s Petition for 

Writ of Habeas Corpus shall be, and is, DENIED. 

DATED this                     day of March, 2021. 
 
   

  
DISTRICT JUDGE 

STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
 
 
BY /s// JOHN GIORDANI 
 JOHN GIORDANI 

Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #012381  

 
 
 
  

C-17-327767-2 SC
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Dated this 4th day of March, 2021 

MIU 
• 

4D8 883 016C 0440 
Ronald J _ Israel 
District Court Judge 
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 

I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this ____ day of 

October, 2020, by electronic transmission to: 

MONIQUE MCNEILL 
Monique.mcneill@yahoo.com 

BY /s// E. Del Padre

E. DEL PADRE
Secretary for the District Attorney’s Office

JG/ed/GCU 
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: C-17-327767-2State of Nevada

vs

Adrian Powell

DEPT. NO.  Department 28

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was served via the 
court’s electronic eFile system to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled 
case as listed below:

Service Date: 3/4/2021

MICHAEL KANE mike@the702firm.com

John Giordani John.Giordani@clarkcountyda.com

MONIQUE MCNEILL monique.mcneill@yahoo.com
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DECLARATION 

MONIQUE A, MCNEll,I,,, ESQ,, makes the fullowing declaration. under penalty of 
perjury: 

1. I was appointed to represent Mr. Powell in his motion to withdraw the plea and then 

following appeal. 

2. I am informed and aware of all relevant facts contained in this motion and declaration. 

3. The supreme court issued a remittitur on June 3.0.. 2020, and reversed and remanded the 

case to the district court for an evidentiary hearing. 

4. At no time did I inform Mr. Powell that he had one year from the date of the remittitur to 

•• file a-petition for wrff of habeas coijjus~ My· infeiif was to·apperu after. tJie hearing,-· ------ •• -· -- •• ·- • 

depending on the outcome. Still, I should have informed Mr. Powell of ALL his right and 

ALL relevant dates, and I did not. 

5. The district court lield fill evidentiary hearing, and the findings of fact and conclusions of 

law and order was filed in March, 2021. 

lS . -f- 6. I did not file a Notice of Appeal after.that hear~g. as I s~t and .em~¥f~HlfilY 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

21 • 

28 

miscalculated the date. 
-........ _ ....... ,_'t"~~ .. -- ... - ....... .,, .. ,:0' 

~- 7. f" }4r)~owe!~ miss~~the date to ~~~eal the court's ~~~~~~ after thehyarigg_ due to my~rrorf 

which was inexcusable. 

* 8. Mt. Powell missed his opportunity to file a timely petition for wri.J.,Qf.b!lb.~S...QorpllS 
~------•-~--.c~-~•-•-•-~~--~,--,,,·-,-= 

~~~~r .. !,~::_~,~-~~~~~~~~~~~!..1lli,~~,dJ!!!~J~U1}~.~Y~~~~ .. l!r:}"m,i~~,~---. , 

deadlines to file appellate/ post conviction documents because he -was unaware ?f ~ ~t~s. 
• • ~~~-.... ~~~~ .. ~-~ .... ,..~.--.-...-.:-.~-..,,,_-.;.:....,,;-: ...... i.:-----•,,._,_,r,,,-~..,, .... r-.•.-..-.-..;.•.fy•-~~__,~ 

M'r. Powell relied on me, and I failed to properly ~<!~J!.i~JiQ~ly_J!l.Y~~mt.tJbat.., 
c::::::::, -~,.,,,;:;:::;,Jft.,..,.....~.~"::,,,,.;~ ... -~~: ..... ::-~ ... ~~~....,.,- • 

causes Mr. PowelI's petition to be untimely. 
~~••1'--~M•,.:............:..OnTl.=-•-•~•...IO,'t':':":• . .-,<:.:;::,,:-.,:.:.,;:,-<,4,-:-_,{";~.._,'t:,.<:?,.....,:a.,,-\~ 
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9. I believe Mr, Powell has legitimate issues to litigate and my failure has caused him 

prejudice by potentially putting him in a position to be denied the ability to litigate 

legitimate issues. This denies Mr. Powell his constitutional rights, 

EXECUTED this 5th Day of August 2021, under penalty of perjury. 
,,.,.,-·----:i 

lmque~; 
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LAW OFFICE OF 

Monique McNeill, Esq. 
POBox2451 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 
Telephone: (702) 497-9734 Faca~ (702) ~20-8708 

Legal mail/confidential 
Adrian Powel~ ID# 1217413 

Southern Desert Correctional Center 
P.O. Box208 

August 5, 2021 

. .... ----· .. - ..... TiidianSpriii.gs;·NV-89070______________ -----------------·--······--.... 

Mr. Powell, 

I write to inform you that I am embarrassed to admit that I missed a deadline in your case. 
This is not something that any attorney should do, and therefore I intend to help you with 
-claiming that I was ineffective, 

I have enclosed for you an affidavit from m.e, explaining that I miscalculated a date in 
your postwconviction proceedings. You will need to ftle the enclosed blank petition for 
writ of habeas corpus1 and you will attach the affidavit 

In the grounds, you will claim that: 
1) your counsel was ineffective when counseling you to take a plea deal and that you 

wouJd not have taken the deal but for his bad advice and 
2) your appellate counsel (me) was ineffective for failing_ to raise all claims and for failing 
to adv:i's"e you of the remitti.tur date .•• 

Also, file a motion asking for an attorney. The law library will have that fonn. Make sure 
you attach my affidavit. Call or write with questions. 

Sincere!~ 

MoniqueMcNei~ 
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Case No 
Dept. N1. 

A-21-839265-W 
Dept. 28 

~ 
IN THE .S..::::-....... JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE 

STATE OF NEVADA IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF.!,;'.;.be!.~ 

i-\d{O~AN, ... fowa.L ............ .. 
Petitioner, 

v. 

.. ~~~~ ... ~I ... Q~ ... Gfg~».\ 
Respondent. 

INSTRUCTIONS: 

PETITION FOR WRIT 
OF HABEAS CORPUS 
(POSTCONVICTION) 

(I) This petition must be legibly handwritten or typewritten, signed by the petitioner and verified. 

FILED 
AUG 1 O 2021 

aa&-'fmw 

(2) Additional pages are not pennitted except where noted or with respect to the facts which you rely upon to 
support your grounds for relief. No citation of authorities need be furnished. If briefs or arguments are submitted, 
they should be submitted. in the form of a separate memorandum. 

(3) If you want an attorney appointed, you must complete the Affidavit in Support of Request to Proceed in 
Fonna Pauperis. You must have an audforued officer at the prison CO!nplete the certificate as to the amount of 
money and securities on deposit to your credit in any account in the institution. 

(4) You must name as respondent the person by whom you are confined or restrained. If you are in a specific 
institution of the Departme~tof Corrections, name the ward~il or head of the institution. If you arc not in a specific 
institution of the Department but within its custody, name the. Oirector of the Department of Corrections. 

(5) You must include alltgrounds or claims for relief which you may have regarding your conviction or sentence. 
Failure to raise all grounds {p this petition may preclude you from filing future petitions challenging your conviction 
and sentence. itf 

(6) You must allege specific facts supporting the claims in the petition you file seeking relief from any conviction 
or sentence. Failu,re to allege specific facts rather than just conclusions may cause your petition to be dismissed. If 
your petition contains a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, that claim will operate to waive the attorney­
client privilege for the proceeding in which you claim your counsel was ineffective. 

(7) When the petition is fully completed, the original and one copy must be tiled with the cleric of the state 
district court for the county in which you were convicted. One copy must be mailed to the responden~ one copy to 
the Attorney General's Office, and one copy .to the district attorney of the county in which you were convicted or to 
the original prosecutor if you are challenging your original conviction or sentence. Copies must conform in all 
particulars to the original submitted for filing. 

PETITION 

1. Name of institution and county in which you are presently imprisoned or where and how you are presently 

restrained of your liberty: .~.Q.~.IBf~L.~~-~ ... CP..~.~~ .. t1n:~ ....................................... . 

/ 

2. Name and location of court which entered the judgment of conviction under attack: ~ .. ili{,.q~ .. ~ .. l 5:i, CT: 
................................................................. '5" ... !2'2.l·2()I q ................................................................................... .. 

3. Date of Judgment of conv1ct1on: ....... J..'....... . ........................................ .. 
:::0 4. Case nu~ber: .. ~.:i1.::)}.;.JJ.~.J.=.1: .................................... .. 
~ 5 .• (a) Length of sentence: ..\~.:::.T9 .. :: ... 1~.i§:~~-~ .................................................................................... . 

~ 
0 

-1-
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(b) If sentence is death, state any date upon which execution is scheduled: .... 

6. Arc you presently serving a sentence for a conviction other than the conviction under attack in this motion? 

Yes ........ No .Y.. 
lf"ycs," list crime, case number and sentence being served at this time: ......... r:A.J.~: ................................................ .. 

7. Nature of offense involved in conviction being challenged: .. ~~~ ..... ~ .. ~.~~f.f~:~fu.\.bit.~\..A(lt 

8. What was your plea? (check one) 

(a) Not guilty ........ 

. ✓ (b) Guilty .... ; ... 

(c) Guilty but mentally ill ........ 

(d) Nola contendere ... .-.... 
' . 

9. If you entered a plea of guilty or guilty but mentally ill to one count of an indictment or information, and a 
•. ·~~' 

plea of not guilty to another cc,unt of an indictment or information, or if a plea of guilty or guilty but mentally ill was 

negotiated, give details: .... r:4.,~ ............................................................................................................. : ...................... .. 

10. If you were found guilty or guilty but mentally ill after a plea of not guilty, was the finding made by: (check one) 

(a) Jury ........ 

(b) Judge without a jury ...... t-J f A-

l 1. Did you testify at the trial? Yes ........ No ........ 

12. Did you appeal from the judgment of conviction? Yes ........ No ........ 

13. If you did appeal, answer the following: 

(a) Name of court: .. ~E~.~ ... S.Uf,.:: .. LT.r. ................................................ .. 

(b) Case number or citation: .!.:'J~J?..JJ .............................................. .. 

(c) Result: .:O.i;;.\,l\.~ ............................................................................... .. 

(d) Date of result: .......................................................................................... . 

(Attach copy of order or decision, if available.) 
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14. If you did not appeal, explain briefly why you did not: ... ~/!!!. ......................................................................... .. 

•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••·••••••··•·•·····•·•·•····· .. ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••·•••••••·••··•••••• 
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••·•••••·••···••••·····•·•••••·•••····•·········•·····••········•················ 15. Other than a direct appeal from the judgment of conviction and sentence, have yo~eo/sly tiled !!DY 
petitions, applications or motions with respect to this judgment in any court, state or federal?~ .... lll/lllJI 

I 6. If your answer to No. 15 was "yes,'' give the following information: 

(a) (I) Name of court: ut~ .. l\fJ .. :.:U1~-r. .. ~ .. G.-: ............................................................................................ .. 

(2) Nature of proceeding: .. ~M. ... U.~1ti ...................................................................................... .. 

(4) Did you receive an evidentiary bearing on your petition, application or motion? Yes .... ~ No ........ 
'r 1tt.tVi7'r.1-n. I Af ~ /) ·" cd ' (5) Result: .... V..V.J.)l .... :J?-1.v.Y..~........ .!:.~~ ..................................... . 

(6) Date of result: .... ~V.~~ .. J.}jJ9..1Q .......................................... .. 
·:·! 

(7) If known, citations of any written opinion or date of orders entered pursuant to such result: 

(b) As to any second petition, application or motion, give the same information: 

(1) Name of court: ~Jh. ......................................................................... . 

(2) Nature of proceeding: ,,.Jf.~ ............................................................... . 
(3) Grounds raised: .... ~A .................................................................... .. 
(4) Did you receive an evidentiary hearing on your petition, application or motion? Yes ........ No ....... . 

(5) Resuli-t:Jj/!t...· ................................................................................... .. 

(6) Date of result: .J.J.~............................................................................ • 
(7) If known, citations of any written opinion or date of orders entered pursuant to such result: 

27 (c) As to any third or subsequent additional applications or motions, give the same infonnation as above, list 
2 e them on a separate sheet and attach. 

-3-
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{d) Did you appeal to the highest state or federal court having jurisdiction, the result or action taken on any 

petition, application or motion? ~/ 

(1) First petition, application or motion? Yes ........ No ...... .. 

Citation or date of decision: ... }:.~ .. :.J.L ....................................... .. 

(2) Second petition, application or motion? Yes ........ No ... /· 

Citation or date of decision: ... .,J.1.,\,................................................... / 

(3) Third or subsequent petitions, applications or motions? Yes ........ No ........ 

Citation or date of decision: .......... µ .. {.A ........................................ .. 

(e) If you did not appeal from the adverse action on any petition, application or motion, explain briefly why you 

did not. (You must relate specific facts in response to this question. Your response may be included on paper which 

is 8 l /2 by 11 inches attached to the petition. Your response may not exceed five handwritten or typewritten pages in • I 
length.) ................ ~ .. , .................................................................................................................................................. . 

··············-······························ .. ········· ................................................................................................................................. . 
•:.:i..· 

17. Has any ground bein~1~ised in this petition been previously presented to this or any other court by way of 
•. ,~\ 

petition for habeas corpus, motion, application or any other postconviction proceeding? If so, identify: 

• {a) Which of the grounds ithe same: ....... ~.I.A. .................................................................................................. .. 

..... (b) The proceedings. in which. these. grounds. were. raised: .~/& ........................................................................... . 

(c) Briefly explain why you arc again raising these grounds. (You must relate specific facts in response to this 

question. Your response may be included on paper which is 8 1/2 by 11 inches attached to the petition. Your 

response may not exceed five handwritten or typewritten pages in length.) ................................................................ . 

18. If any of the grounds listed in Nos. 23(a), (b), (c) and (d), or listed on any additional pages you have attached, 

were not previously presented in any other court, state or federal, list briefly what grounds were not so presented, 

and give your reasons for not presenting them. (You must relate specific facts in response to this question. Your 

response may be included on paper which is 8 1/2 by 11 inches attached to the petition. Your response may not 

exceed five handwritten or typewritten pages in length.) ............................................................................................... . 
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•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••·•··•·•············•·•········ 
19. Are you tiling this petition more than 1 year following the filing of the judgment of conviction or the filing 

of a decision on direct appeal? If so, state briefly the reasons for the delay. (You must relate specific facts in 

response to this question. Your response may be included on paper which is 8 1/2 by 11 inches attached to the 

petition. Your response may not exceed five handwritten or typewritten pages in length.) .......................................... .. 

20. Do you have any petition or appeal now pending in any court, either state or federal, as to the judgment 

under attack? Yes ........ No ....... . 

If yes, state what court and the case number: ................................................................................................................ .. 

21. Give the name of each attorney who represented you in the proceeding resulting in your conviction and on 

direct appeal: ..... ~.~ ....... J-k..J6J\:. ................................................ :························ .. ············ .. ········· 

22. OQ you have any future sentences to serve after you complete the sentence imposed by the judgment under 
✓' 

attack? Yes ........ No ...... .. 

If yes, specify where and whe~ it is to be served, if you know: ... :.0.../A ..................................................................... .. 

23. State concisely every ground on which you claim that you are being held unlawfully. Summarize briefly the 

facts supporting each ground. If necessary you may attach pages stating additional grounds and facts 

supporting same. 
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WHEf,-E,FORE, petitioner prays that the court grant petitioner relief to which petitioner may be entitled in this proceeding. , 

~CUTED at High Desert State Prison. on the.U day of the month of~ 20 l:1 
-~ 

. (II<' 

High Desert State Prison 
Post Office Box 650 
Indian Springs, Nevada 89070 
Petitioner in Proper Person 

VERIFICATION 

VP'ier penalty of perjury, the undersigned declares that the undersigned is the petitioner named in the foregoing petition and knows the contents thereof; that the pleading is true of the undersigned's own knowledge, except as to those matters stated on information and belief, and as to such matters the undersigned believes them to be true. 

tr:· .... _.·,. 
High Desert State Prison 
Io~: Office Box 650 
Indian Springs, Nevada 89070 
P~tioner in Proper Person 

AFFIRMATION (Pursuant to NRS 239B.030) 
fiC, .. 1 i ·: i"- • - . : 
:fR.J;,W,lclersigned does hereby affirm that the preceeding PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS filed in District 
;:;~er ti;·'.' Does not comalh the social security number of any person 

t·~1t(·~:--;·,; ,,.~; f · • • • '?:I·. •. ·:· r-,·:,jH.~'.-• ill1d ~--_~·~1. p·_e" __ ert State Prison t.·.N: .. ,.· "',H~ ~ l! ': ~~ ·jl't.::.: ,;;1 ·J?pst Office Bqx 650 
_Indian Springs, Nevada 89070 
~~tioncr in Proper Person 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL 

~/2 , hereby certify pursuant to N.R.C.P. S(b), that on this .,u_ day of the momh of C ·• , 20 ~ I mailed a true and correct copy pf the foregoing PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS .. ess . to: 

• •· ·'" Warden High Desert State Prison 
f.,f~t Otfice Box 650 
'Ri4f~ Springs, Nevada 89070 
f• :Ji:-r. 1\:.:. 

Clark County District Attorney's Office 
200 Lewis Avenue 
f~,V°:gas, Nevada 89155 
~-~-·-_,,; •• . ·,. . 
1\ ;, 

~-:' ..... 
f!:igh.Desert State Prison 
P-ost Office Box 650 
irn;lian Springs, Nevada 89070 
f.eptioncr in Proper Person 

~}nnt your name and NDOC back number and sign 

Attorney General of Nevada 
100 North Carson Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89701 
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PPOW 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Adrian Powell, 

Petitioner, 

vs. 

Nevada Department of Corrections, 

Respondent, 

Case No:  A-21-839265-W 
Department 28 

ORDER FOR PETITION FOR 
WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS 

Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction Relief) on 

August 10, 2021.  The Court has reviewed the Petition and has determined that a response would assist 

the Court in determining whether Petitioner is illegally imprisoned and restrained of his/her liberty, and 

good cause appearing therefore, 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Respondent shall, within 45 days after the date of this Order, 

answer or otherwise respond to the Petition and file a return in accordance with the provisions of NRS 

34.360 to 34.830, inclusive. 

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that this matter shall be placed on this Court’s 

Calendar on the              day of                       , 20_       , at the hour of 

o’clock for further proceedings.  

   

District Court Judge

Electronically Filed
08/12/2021 9:01 AM

APP000520

18th 

12:30 pm 

COURT FURTHER ORDERED, 
matter also set for possible 
appointment of counsel through 
the office of Appointed Counsel -
Drew Christensen. 

October 

(C-17-327767-2) 

21 

BOB 687 589A 27DF 
Ronald J. Israel 
District Court Judge 
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-21-839265-WAdrian Powell, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Nevada Department of 
Corrections, Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 28

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Electronic service was attempted through the Eighth Judicial District Court's 
electronic filing system, but there were no registered users on the case.

If indicated below, a copy of the above mentioned filings were also served by mail 
via United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, to the parties listed below at their last 
known addresses on 8/13/2021

Adrian Powell #1217413
SDCC
P.O. Box 208
Indian Springs, NV, 89070
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RSPN 
STEVEN WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
TALEEN PANDUKHT 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #005734 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
ADRIAN POWELL, 

   Petitioner, 

 -vs- 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

             Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

  

CASE NO: 

 

DEPT NO: 

 

A-21-839265-W  

C-17-327767-2 

XXVIII 

STATE’S RESPONSE TO PETITIONER’S PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS 

CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 

DATE OF HEARING: OCTOBER 13, 2021 
TIME OF HEARING: 8:30 a.m. 

 
COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN WOLFSON, District Attorney, 

through TALEEN PANDUKHT, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby submits the 

State’s Response to Petitioner’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction).  

This Response is made and based upon all the papers and documents on file herein, the 

attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if 

deemed necessary by this Honorable Court. 

// 

// 

// 

// 

Case Number: A-21-839265-W

Electronically Filed
9/14/2021 2:42 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On November 8, 2017, Adrian Powell (hereinafter “Petitioner”) and his Co-Defendant 

Larenzo Pinkey aka, Larenzo Pinkney were charged by way of Indictment with: Counts 1 and 

8 – Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (Category B Felony – NRS 200.380, 199.480); Counts 2 

and 9 – Burglary While in Possession of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony – NRS 

205.060); Counts 3, 10 and 14 – First Degree Kidnapping With Use of a Deadly Weapon 

(Category A Felony – NRS 200.310, 200.320, 193.165); Counts 4-7, 11-12 and 15 – Robbery 

With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony – NRS 200.380, 193.165); and Count 13 

– Unlawful Taking of Motor Vehicle (Gross Misdemeanor – NRS 205.2715). 

On July 30, 2018, the State filed an Amended Indictment charging Petitioner and his 

Co-Defendant with: Counts 1 and 8 – Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (Category B Felony – 

NRS 200.380, 199.480); Counts 2 and 9 – Burglary While in Possession of a Deadly Weapon 

(Category B Felony – NRS 205.060); Counts 3 and 13 – First Degree Kidnapping With Use 

of a Deadly Weapon (Category A Felony – NRS 200.310, 200.320, 193.165); and Counts 4-

7, 10-11 and 14 – Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony – NRS 200.380, 

193.165). The case proceeded to jury trial on July 30, 2018. Voir Dire commenced on July 30, 

2018.  The Court concluded for the day, and the parties returned the following day to resume 

jury selection. On July 31, 2018, the parties negotiated for hours, and the State ultimately 

agreed to allow both Petitioner and his Co-Defendant to plead guilty.   

On July 31, 2018, Petitioner pled guilty to Counts 1 and 8 - Conspiracy to Commit 

Robbery, Counts 2 and 9 - Burglary While in Possession of a Deadly Weapon, Counts 3 and 

13 - First Degree Kidnapping With Use of a Deadly Weapon, and Counts 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 11 and 

14 - Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon. The terms of the Guilty Plea Agreement 

(hereinafter “GPA”) were as follows: 
The Defendants agree to plead guilty to all counts in the Amended 
Indictment.  The State will maintain the full right to argue, 
including for consecutive time between the counts, however, the 
State agrees to not seek a Life sentence on any count.  The State 
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retains the full right to argue the facts and circumstances, but 
agrees to not file charges, for the following events: 
1. LVMPD Event No. 170605-0220: Armed robbery at 7-
Eleven located at 4800 West Washington, Las Vegas, Clark 
County, Nevada, on June 5, 2017. 
2. LVMPD Event No. 170614-0524: Armed robbery at 
Roberto's/Mangos located at 6650 Vegas Drive, Las Vegas, Clark 
County, Nevada, on June 14, 2017. 
3. LVMPD Event No. 170618-0989: Armed robbery at Pepe's 
Tacos located at 1401 North Decatur, Las Vegas, Clark County, 
Nevada, on June 18, 2017. 
4. LVMPD Event No. 170701-0545: Armed robbery at 
Roberto's located at 2685 South Eastern Avenue, Las Vegas, Clark 
County, Nevada, on July 1, 2017. 
5. LVMPD Event No. 170812-3809: Armed robbery at Pizza 
Bakery located at 6475 West Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, 
Clark County, Nevada, on August 12, 2017. 
6. LVMPD Event No. 170817-0241: Armed robbery at 
Terrible Herbst located at 6380 West Charleston Boulevard, Las 
Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, on August 17, 2017. 
7. LVMPD Event No. 170817-0470: Armed robbery at Rebel 
located at 6400 West Lake Mead Boulevard, Las Vegas, Clark 
County, Nevada, on August 17, 2017. 
8. LVMPD Event No. 170824-0521: Armed robbery at 
Roberto's located at 6820 West Flamingo Road, Las Vegas, Clark 
County, Nevada, on August 24, 2017. 
9. LVMPD Event No. 170824-0645: Armed robbery at 
Roberto's located at 907 North Rainbow Boulevard, Las Vegas, 
Clark County, Nevada, on August 24, 2017. 
10. LVMPD Event No. 170825-0589: Armed robbery at Pepe's 
Tacos located at 1401 North Decatur, Las Vegas, Clark County, 
Nevada, on August 25, 2017. 
 The Defendants agree to take no position at sentencing 
regarding the aforementioned ten (10) armed-robbery events. 
 This Agreement is contingent upon the co-defendant’s 
acceptance and adjudication on his respective Agreement. 

On October 31, 2018, the time set for sentencing, Petitioner expressed concerns about 

his plea, counsel was withdrawn, and new counsel, Monique McNeill, Esq., was appointed.  

On January 14, 2019, Petitioner filed a Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. The State filed its 

Opposition on February 5, 2019. On February 27, 2019, the district court denied Petitioner’s 

motion without conducting an evidentiary hearing. 
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On May 22, 2019, Petitioner was sentenced to the Nevada Department of Corrections 

as follows: as to Count 1 – twelve (12) to forty-eight (48) months; as to Count 2 – thirty-six 

(36) to one hundred twenty (120) months concurrent with Count 1; as to Count 3 – five (5) to

fifteen (15) years with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use

of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 2; as to Count 4 – thirty-six (36) to one hundred

twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for

use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 3; as to Count 5 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred

twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for

use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 4; as to Count 6 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred

twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for

use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 5; as to Count 7 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred

twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for

use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 6; as to Count 8 – twelve (12) to forty-eight

(48) months concurrent with Count 7; as to Count 9 – thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty

(120) months concurrent with Count 8; as to Count 10 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty

(120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a

deadly weapon concurrent with Count 7; as to Count 11 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty

(120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a

deadly weapon concurrent with Count 10; as to Count 13 - five (5) to fifteen (15) years with a

consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly weapon

consecutive to Count 3;  and as to Count 14 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120)

months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly

weapon concurrent with Count 11, with six hundred two (602) days credit for time served.

The aggregate total sentence was five hundred fifty-two (552) months maximum with a

minimum parole eligibility of one hundred ninety-two (192) months.

The Judgment of Conviction was filed on May 24, 2019. 

On June 14, 2019, Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal. On May 11, 2020, the Nevada 

Court of Appeals remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing to be conducted.  Remittitur 
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issued on June 5, 2020.  On August 13, 2020, an evidentiary hearing was conducted and 

Petitioner’s counsel Michael Kane, Esq. testified. At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, 

the Court found that Petitioner was not entitled to relief. The Court found there was no 

ineffective assistance of counsel and no grounds or fair and just reason to withdraw 

Petitioner’s plea.  The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was filed on March 4, 

2021. 

On August 10, 2021, Petitioner filed the instant Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus 

(Post-Conviction).  The State’s Response now follows. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The evidence in this case was overwhelming. The following is a summary of the 

victims’ testimony from the Grand Jury presentation, as well as a summary of the forensic 

evidence and the circumstantial evidence that would have been presented at trial. 

Testimony of Jose Chavarria 

Jose Alfredo Chavarria Valenzuela (“Chavarria”) was working as a cook at Pepe’s 

Tacos located at 2490 Fremont Street, Las Vegas, Nevada on September 28, 2017. At 

approximately 2:40 AM, Chavarria was in kitchen area when two gunmen entered the 

restaurant. Chavarria ran toward the back refrigerator where his co-worker was located, when 

one of the gunmen jumped the counter, followed Chavarria and pointed a gun at him. The 

gunman told Chavarria to get on the ground and that he “wanted the money.” The gunman 

then forced Chavarria at gunpoint from the back of the store to the front cash registers. At the 

cash registers, the gunman began jabbing Chavarria in his side, but Chavarria was unable to 

open the till because he did not have the correct passcode. The second gunman then retrieved 

Chavarria’s coworker from the back of the store and forced her to open the cash registers at 

the front of the store. One of the gunmen then took Chavarria to the second cash register, threw 

him on the ground, and pointed a gun to Chavarria’s head. The gunmen took the money from 

the cash registers but did not take any property from Chavarria.  

// 

// 
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Testimony of Yenir Hessing 

 Yenir Hessing (“Hessing”) works as the shift lead at the Walgreens located at 

4470 East Bonanza, Las Vegas, Nevada. On September 28, 2017, Hessing was working the 

graveyard shift with four other Walgreens employees when, at approximately 4:05 AM, two 

masked gunmen entered the store. Hessing was stocking the shelves in the food aisle when 

one of the gunmen pointed a gun to her stomach, demanded she move to the front of the store. 

The food aisle is located near the store’s photo section, away from the registers and store 

entrance. While pushing her to the front of the store, the gunman told Hessing to go to the cash 

registers in the front of the store, passing the cash register in the photo section. As gunman 

pushed Hessing, he told her this is “not a game and I'm going to kill you.”  

At the front of the store, the gunman told her to open the three cash registers, which 

Hessing did. At that moment, another Walgreens employee, Tifnie Bobbitt (“Bobbit”) was 

returning from lunch and, upon seeing Bobbitt, the gunman ordered her the front of the store 

too. Hessing testified that the gunman was “swearing and saying like really bad things … 

grabbed both of us and he asked me where is the big money, where is the safe, and I tell him 

it was in the office.” The gunman then used the gun to again push Hessing, this time toward 

the office located at the back of the store.  

While the gunman pushed Hessing toward the back of the store, Hessing saw down an 

aisle that the Walgreen’s pharmacist, Darlene Orat, was being held up by another gunman in 

the pharmacy. As the gunman pushed Hessing toward the back office at gunpoint, he told 

Hessing “I'm going to kill you.” Hessing responded to the gunman, telling him “please don't 

hurt me, I'm nine weeks pregnant, don't do anything to me.” To which the gunman responded, 

“I don't give a [fuck] I'm going to kill you if you do the wrong code or … try to call [police].”  

Upon reaching the back office, which is behind two doors that each have a different pin 

code, Hessing entered the code and the gunman forced Hessing and Bobbitt into the office. 

The door to the office closed behind them, leaving Hessing, Bobbitt and the gunman isolated 

from the rest of the store. In the office, the gunman began hitting Hessing in the ribs with the 

gun and demanding that she open the safe. Hessing opened the first of two safes and the 
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gunman grabbed everything. The gunman then demanded Hessing open the second safe, which 

she did. The gunman grabbed the contents from the second safe and fled from the office.  

Testimony of Tifnie Bobbitt 

Bobbit was working as a cashier at the Walgreens located at 4470 East Bonanza, Las 

Vegas, Nevada, on September 28, 2017. Around 4:00 AM, Bobbitt was headed to breakroom 

to take her lunch break when she heard a man “say the F word.” Bobbitt looked over to see 

the man crouching and walking behind Hessing. Bobbitt entered the code to the breakroom, 

entered the room and approached the seconded code-locked door to the office, which she 

knocked on to alert the Walgreen’s manager. Bobbitt’s manager left and did not return, so 

Bobbitt, thinking the situation was taken care of, walked out of the breakroom into the store. 

At that moment, the gunman saw her and yelled at her “Where the fuck do you think you’re 

going, bitch?” The gunman then ordered Bobbitt to the front of the store where Hessing was 

opening the cash registers for the gunman. From there, the gunman forced Bobbit and Hessing 

from the front of the store to the back office, pushing Bobbitt while telling the women they 

were walking too slowly. At the breakroom door, they enter the code and enter the breakroom. 

From there, Hessing entered the code to the office door and the gunman forced the women 

into the office. In the office, the gunman “kept jabbing the gun” into Hessing’s side as he was 

forcing her to open the safes. Once the safes were open, the gunman took the money from the 

safes and fled.  

Evidence in addition to Grand Jury Testimony 

Both of these armed robberies were captured on video surveillance. In addition, the 

Defendants used Mr. Pinkey’s girlfriend’s vehicle. After the Walgreen’s event, they crashed 

the vehicle while fleeing. Defendants Pinkney and Powell fled the wrecked vehicle on foot, 

leaving a trial of US Currency, a mask, and the proceeds of the robberies in their wake. Mr. 

Powell’s and Mr. Pinkney’s fingerprints were on the abandoned vehicle and Mr. Pinkney’s 

fingerprints were on the prescription bottles from the Walgreen’s robbery. They were 

apprehended a short time later wearing the same clothing they wore during the robberies.  

// 
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ARGUMENT 

 
I. THE COURT SHOULD DENY THIS PETITION AS IT IS PROCEDURALLY 

BARRED 

This Petition is time-barred. The instant petition was not filed within the one-year 

statutory limit after the Judgment of Conviction. Thus, this Petition is time-barred pursuant to 

NRS 34.726(1): 
Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that 
challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed 
within 1 year of the entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an 
appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the 
Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this 
subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner 
demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court: 
(a)  That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner; and 
(b)  That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly 
prejudice the petitioner. 

 
The Nevada Supreme Court has held that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its plain 

meaning. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 873–74, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001). As per the 

language of the statute, the one-year time bar proscribed by NRS 34.726 begins to run from 

the date the judgment of conviction is filed or a remittitur from a timely direct appeal is filed. 

Dickerson v. State, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133–34 (1998). 

The one-year time limit for preparing petitions for post-conviction relief under NRS 

34.726 is strictly applied. In Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 590, 596, 53 P.3d 901, 904 (2002), 

the Nevada Supreme Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed two (2) days late despite 

evidence presented by the defendant that he purchased postage through the prison and mailed 

the petition within the one-year time limit. 

This is not a case wherein the Judgment of Conviction was, for example, not final. See, 

e.g., Johnson v. State, 133 Nev. 571, 402 P.3d 1266 (2017) (holding that the defendant’s 

judgment of conviction was not final until the district court entered a new judgment of 

conviction on counts that the district court had vacated); Whitehead v. State, 128 Nev. 259, 
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285 P.3d 1053 (2012) (holding that a judgment of conviction that imposes restitution in an 

unspecified amount is not final and therefore does not trigger the one-year period for filing a 

habeas petition).  

Given that Petitioner’s Judgment of Conviction was never vacated, there is no legal 

basis for running the one-year time-limit from anything but the date of Remittitur. Remittitur 

issued on June 5, 2020. Thus, Petitioner had one year from June 5, 2020, to file this Petition. 

Petitioner did not file his Petition until August 10, 2021, over two (2) months late. Absent a 

showing of good cause to excuse this delay, this Petition must be denied.  

A. The Application of the Procedural Bars is Mandatory 

The Nevada Supreme Court held that the district court has a duty to consider whether a 

defendant’s post-conviction petition claims are procedurally barred. State v. Eighth Judicial 

Dist. Court (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 231, 112 P.3d 1070, 1074 (2005). The Riker Court found 

that “[a]pplication of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions 

is mandatory,” noting: 

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction 
are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The 
necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a 
time when a criminal conviction is final. 

 
Id. Additionally, the Court noted that procedural bars “cannot be ignored [by the district court] 

when properly raised by the State.” Id. at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. The Nevada Supreme Court 

has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply the statutory 

procedural bars; the rules must be applied. 

This position was reaffirmed in State v. Greene, 129 Nev. 559, 307 P.3d 322 (2013). 

There the Court ruled that the defendant’s petition was “untimely, successive, and an abuse of 

the writ” and that the defendant failed to show good cause and actual prejudice. Id. at 324, 307 

P.3d at 326. Accordingly, the Court reversed the district court and ordered the defendant’s 

petition dismissed pursuant to the procedural bars. Id. at 324, 307 P.3d at 322–23. The 
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procedural bars are so fundamental to the post-conviction process that they must be applied 

by this Court even if not raised by the State. See Riker, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074. 
B. Petitioner Waived the Substantive Claims by Not Addressing Them on Direct

Appeal

As to any substantive claims regarding the Indictment1, they are waived. NRS 

34.810(1) reads: 
The court shall dismiss a petition if the court determines that: 

(a) The petitioner’s conviction was upon a plea of guilty or guilty
but mentally ill and the petition is not based upon an allegation
that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly or that the plea was
entered without effective assistance of counsel.
(b) The petitioner’s conviction was the result of a trial and the
grounds for the petition could have been:
. . .
(2) Raised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for a writ of habeas
corpus or postconviction relief.

The Nevada Supreme Court held that “challenges to the validity of a guilty plea and 

claims of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel must first be pursued in post-

conviction proceedings…. [A]ll other claims that are appropriate for a direct appeal must be 

pursued on direct appeal, or they will be considered waived in subsequent proceedings.” 

Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994) (emphasis added) 

(disapproved on other grounds by Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999)). “A 

court must dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been 

presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the 

claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner.” Evans v. State, 

117 Nev. 609, 646-47, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001). 

NRS 34.810 (1)(a) specifically states that if a conviction was based upon a plea of 

guilty, the Court shall dismiss a petition if the claim is one other than “that the plea was 

involuntarily or unknowingly entered or that the plea was entered without effective assistance 

of counsel.” As such, the only claims Appellant could raise in a Petition for Writ of Habeas 

1 Petitioner refers to the Indictment as the complaint throughout the Petition.
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Corpus must be those related to whether his plea was involuntarily or unknowingly entered, 

or whether he received ineffective assistance of counsel.  

This Court should ignore Petitioner’s substantive claims. In Ground One, Petitioner 

alleges multiple substantive defects with the Indictment. In Ground Three, Petitioner alleges 

Brady violations. These are substantive claims that should have been raised on direct appeal. 

Therefore, these claims are waived unless Petitioner can demonstrate good cause and prejudice 

to overcome the procedural bars.  

C. Res Judicata Bars Petitioner’s Claims, as this Court Previously Addressed
Them

Res Judicata bars Petitioner’s claims regarding the voluntariness of the plea and 

whether counsel misled him about his sentence. The decisions of the district court are final 

decisions absent a showing of changed circumstances, and relitigation of claims is barred by 

the doctrine of res judicata. See Mason v. State, 206 S.W.3d 869, 875 (Ark. 2005) (recognizing 

the doctrine’s applicability in the criminal context); see also York v. State, 342 S.W. 528, 553 

(Tex. Crim. Appl. 2011).  Accordingly, by simply continuing to file motions with the same 

arguments, his motion is barred by the doctrines of the law of the case and res judicata.  Id.; 

Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 316, 535 P.2d 797, 799 (1975).  

This is not Petitioner’s first attempt to claim that the entry of his plea was unknowingly 

and involuntarily. This Court previously ruled on a similar claim: 
Therefore, any claim from Petitioner that he was coerced into 
entering his plea is belied by the record and suitable for only 
summary denial under Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. 
Any claim that Petitioner was coerced lacks merit. Accordingly, 
this Court finds that Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily 
entered his guilty plea. Thus, the Court finds no "the fair and just" 
reason to have withdrawn Petitioners guilty plea 

Order filed on March 4, 2021, at 10 (emphasis added). Petitioner also claims counsel misled 

him about possible sentencing ranges. The Court also denied this claim:  

Petitioner’s counsel never promised him 6 to 15 years. Rather, Mr. 
Kane went over the Guilty Plea Agreement several times with the 
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Petitioner. At the Evidentiary Hearing on August 13, 2020, Mr. 
Kane testified that he never told the Defendant he would receive 6 
to 15 years. The Court found Mr. Kane’s testimony to be credible. 
As such, Defendant’s claim that he was “misled” or “convinced” 
to plead guilty is belied by the record and suitable only for 
summary of denial. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. 

 
Id. at 14. Petitioner litigated both these issues resulting in the denial of his claims by this Court. 

Further litigation violates the principles of Res Judicata. Therefore, this Court should deny 

these claims.  

D. Petitioner Fails to Demonstrate, or Even Address, Good Cause  

To avoid procedural default under NRS 34.726 and NRS 34.810, a defendant has the 

burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate good cause for his failure to 

present his claim in earlier proceedings or comply with the statutory requirements. Hogan v. 

Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 959–60, 860 P.2d 710, 715–16 (1993); Phelps v. Dir.  Nev.  Dep’t of 

Prisons, 104 Nev. 656, 659, 764 P.2d 1303, 1305 (1988).   

 “To establish good cause, appellants must show that an impediment external to the 

defense prevented their compliance with the applicable procedural rule.” Clem v. State, 119 

Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003) (emphasis added); see Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 

248, 251, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003); Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537. Such an 

external impediment could be “that the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably 

available to counsel, or that ‘some interference by officials’ made compliance impracticable.” 

Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 251, 71 P.3d at 506 (quoting Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 488, 

106 S. Ct. 2639, 2645 (1986)); see also Gonzalez, 118 Nev. at 595, 53 P.3d at 904 (citing 

Harris v. Warden, 114 Nev. 956, 959-60 n.4, 964 P.2d 785 n.4 (1998)). Any delay in filing of 

the petition must not be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a).   

The Nevada Supreme Court clarified that a defendant cannot attempt to manufacture 

good cause. See Clem, 119 Nev. at 621, 81 P.3d at 526. To find good cause there must be a 

“substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse.” Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 251, 71 P.3d at 

506; (quoting Colley v. State, 105 Nev. at 236, 773 P.2d at 1230). Excuses such as the lack of 
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assistance of counsel when preparing a petition, as well as the failure of trial counsel to forward 

a copy of the file to a petitioner have been found not to constitute good cause. See Phelps, 104 

Nev. at 660, 764 P.2d at 1306, superseded by statute on other grounds as recognized in Nika 

v. State, 120 Nev. 600, 607, 97 P.3d 1140, 1145 (2004); Hood v. State, 111 Nev. 335, 890

P.2d 797 (1995).

Further, a petitioner raising good cause to excuse procedural bars must do so within a 

reasonable time after the alleged good cause arises. See Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 869–70, 34 

P.3d at 525–26 (holding that the time bar in NRS 34.726 applies to successive petitions); see

generally Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 252–53, 71 P.3d at 506–07 (stating that a claim reasonably

available to the petitioner during the statutory time period did not constitute good cause to

excuse a delay in filing). A claim that is itself procedurally barred cannot constitute good

cause. Riker, 121 Nev. at 235, 112 P.3d at 1077; see also Edwards v. Carpenter, 529 U.S. 446,

453 120 S. Ct. 1587, 1592 (2000).

Petitioner fails to include any argument for good cause. Failure to address good cause 

amounts to an admission that he is unable to do so. DCR 13(2); EDCR 3.20(b); Polk v. State, 

126 Nev. 180, 186, 233 P.3d 357, 360-61 (2010). Nowhere in his petition does Petitioner 

address the issue of good cause. He fails to allege any impediments that necessitated bringing 

a claim outside of the one-year timeline. Thus, Petitioner’s silence should be read as an 

admission that no good cause exists.  

Even if Petitioner did address the issue, good cause cannot be demonstrated. 

Petitioner’s claims rely upon facts that he had at his disposal. Petitioner knew about the 

Indictment, his communications with counsel, and the ten (10) mentioned armed robberies. 

Petitioner had all the facts and law available to file his Petition earlier but failed to do so. 

Based on this failure to properly allege good cause, this Court should decline to consider these 

claims.  

// 

// 

// 
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E. Petitioner Cannot Demonstrate Sufficient Prejudice to Ignore the Procedural 

Defaults 

In order to establish prejudice, the defendant must show “‘not merely that the errors of 

[the proceedings] created possibility of prejudice, but that they worked to his actual and 

substantial disadvantage, in affecting the state proceedings with error of constitutional 

dimensions.’” Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. at 960, 860 P.2d at 716 (1993) (quoting United 

States v. Frady, 456 U.S. 152, 170, 102 S. Ct. 1584, 1596 (1982)). Defendant’s procedural 

defaults cannot be excused because his underlying claim is meritless. 

In this case, Petitioner cannot establish prejudice to ignore the procedural defaults 

because his claims are without merit and belied by the record, as will be further discussed in 

more detail below. “Bare” and “naked” allegations are not sufficient to warrant post-

conviction relief, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 

498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). “A claim is ‘belied’ when it is contradicted or proven to 

be false by the record as it existed at the time the claim was made.” Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 

351, 354, 46 P.3d 1228, 1230 (2002).  As Petitioner cannot satisfy both prongs of Strickland 

or the basis of his other claims, he cannot demonstrate sufficient prejudice to ignore the 

procedural defaults. 

II. PETITIONER KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERED HIS PLEA 

Pursuant to NRS 176.165, after sentencing, a defendant’s guilty plea can only be 

withdrawn to correct “manifest injustice.”  See also Baal v. State, 106 Nev. 69, 72, 787 P.2d 

391, 394 (1990).  The law in Nevada establishes that a plea of guilty is presumptively valid, 

and the burden is on a defendant to show that the plea was not voluntarily entered.  Bryant v. 

State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986) (citing Wingfield v. State, 91 Nev. 336, 

337, 535 P.2d 1295, 1295 (1975)).  Manifest injustice does not exist if the defendant entered 

his plea voluntarily. Baal, 106 Nev. at 72, 787 P.2d at 394. 

In determining whether a guilty plea is knowingly and voluntarily entered, the court 

will review the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea.  Bryant, 102 

Nev. at 271, 721 P.2d at 367.  The proper standard set forth in Bryant requires the trial court 
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to personally address a defendant at the time he enters his plea in order to determine whether 

he understands the nature of the charges to which he is pleading.  Id. at 271; State v. Freese, 

116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 442, 448 (2000).  The guidelines for voluntariness of guilty 

pleas “do not require the articulation of talismanic phrases.” Heffley v. Warden, 89 Nev. 573, 

575, 516 P.2d 1403, 1404 (1973).  It requires only “that the record affirmatively disclose that 

a defendant who pleaded guilty entered his plea understandingly and voluntarily.”  Brady v. 

United States, 397 U.S. 742, 747-748, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 1470 (1970); United States v. Sherman, 

474 F.2d 303 (9th Cir. 1973).    

Specifically, the record must affirmatively show the following: 1) the defendant 

knowingly waived his privilege against self-incrimination, the right to trial by jury, and the 

right to confront his accusers; 2) the plea was voluntary, was not coerced, and was not the 

result of a promise of leniency; 3) the defendant understood the consequences of his plea and 

the range of punishment; and 4) the defendant understood the nature of the charge, i.e., the 

elements of the crime. Higby v. Sheriff, 86 Nev. 774, 781, 476 P.2d 950, 963 (1970).  

Consequently, in applying the “totality of circumstances” test, the most significant factors for 

review include the plea canvass and the written guilty plea agreement. See Hudson v. Warden, 

117 Nev. 387, 399, 22 P.3d 1154, 1162 (2001). 

The Nevada Supreme Court recently decided Stevenson v. State, 131 Nev. 598, 354 

P.3d 1277, (2015), holding that the statement in Crawford v. State, 117 Nev. 718, 30 P.3d

1123 (2001), which focuses the “fair and just” analysis solely upon whether the plea was

knowing, voluntary, and intelligent is more narrow than contemplated by NRS 176.165.  The

Nevada Supreme Court therefore disavowed Crawford’s exclusive focus on the validity of the

plea and affirmed that the district court must consider the totality of the circumstances to

determine whether permitting withdrawal of a guilty plea before sentencing would be fair and

just.  However, the Court also held that appellant had failed to present a fair and just reason

favoring withdrawal of his plea and therefore affirmed his judgment of conviction.  Stevenson

v. State, 131 Nev. 598, 605, 354 P.3d 1277, 1281-282 (2015).

In Stevenson, the Nevada Supreme Court found that none of the reasons presented 
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warranted the withdrawal of Stevenson’s guilty plea, including allegations that the members 

of his defense team lied about the existence of the video to induce him to plead guilty. Id. The 

Court found similarly unconvincing Stevenson’s contention that he was coerced into pleading 

guilty based on the compounded pressures of the district court’s evidentiary ruling, standby 

counsel’s pressure to negotiate a plea, and time constraints. Id. As the Court noted, undue 

coercion occurs when a defendant is induced by promises or threats which deprive the plea of 

the nature of a voluntary act. Id., quoting Doe v. Woodford, 508 F.3d 563, 570 (9th Cir. 2007).   

The Nevada Supreme Court also rejected Stevenson’s implied contention that 

withdrawal was warranted because he made an impulsive decision to plead guilty without 

knowing definitively whether the video could be viewed. Id. Stevenson did not move to 

withdraw his plea for several months. Id. The Court made clear that one of the goals of the fair 

and just analysis is to allow a hastily entered plea made with unsure heart and confused mind 

to be undone, not to allow a defendant to make a tactical decision to enter a plea, wait several 

weeks, and then obtain a withdrawal if he believes that he made a bad choice in pleading 

guilty. Id. at 1281-82, quoting United States v. Alexander, 948 F.2d 1002, 1004 (6th Cir. 

1991).  The Court found that considering the totality of the circumstances, there was no 

difficulty in concluding that Stevenson failed to present a sufficient reason to permit 

withdrawal of his plea. Id. at 1282. Permitting him to withdraw his plea under the 

circumstances would allow the solemn entry of a guilty plea to become a mere gesture, a 

temporary and meaningless formality reversible at the defendant’s whim, which the Court 

cannot allow. Id., 354 P.3d at 1282, quoting United States v. Barker, 514 F. 2d 208, 222 (D.C. 

Cir. 1975).  

A. Petitioner Voluntarily and Knowingly Entered His Plea 

Petitioner alleges that he entered his plea unknowingly and involuntarily. The 

overwhelming evidence in the record indicates this claim is meritless. First, the signed Guilty 

Plea Agreement (“GPA”) established that Petitioner understood he waived certain rights by 

pleading guilty: 
By entering my plea of guilty, I understand that I am waiving and 
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forever giving up the following rights and privileges: 

1. The Constitutional privilege against self-incrimination, 
including the right to refuse to testify at trial, in which 
event the prosecution would not be allowed to comment 
to the jury about my refusal to testify.  

2. The Constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by 
an impartial jury, free of excessive pretrial publicity 
prejudicial to the defense, at which trial I would be 
entitled to the assistance of an attorney, either appointed 
or retained. At trial the State would bear the burden of 
proving beyond a reasonable doubt each element of the 
offense(s) charged. 

3. The constitutional right to confront and cross-examine 
any witness who would testify against me 

4. The constitutional right to subpoena witnesses to testify 
on my behalf. 

5. The constitutional right to testify in my own defense 
6. The right to appeal the conviction with the assistance of 

an attorney, either appointed or retained, unless 
specifically reserved in writing and agreed upon as 
provided in NRS 174.035(3). I understand this means I 
am unconditionally waiving my right to a direct appeal 
of this constitutional, jurisdictional, or other grounds 
that challenge the legality of the proceedings as stated 
in NRS 177.015(4). However, I remain free to challenge 
my conviction through other post-conviction remedies 
including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to NRS 
Chapter 34. 

GPA, at 6. Not only did Petitioner acknowledge the waiver of rights, but he also acknowledged 

that his plea was voluntary and that he understood is charges:  
I have discussed the element of all the original charge(s) against 
me with my attorney and I understand the nature of the charge(s) 
against me 
. . . 
I am signing this agreement voluntarily, after consultation with my 
attorney, and I am not acting under duress or coercion or by virtue 
of any promises of leniency, except for those set forth in this 
agreement 
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Id. at 6-7. Petitioner’s counsel executed a “Certificate of Counsel” as an officer 

of the Court affirming the following: 

 
1. I have fully explained to the Defendant the allegations 

contained in the charge(s) to which guilty pleas are being 
entered. 

2. I have advised the Defendant of the penalties for each 
charge and the restitution that the Defendant may be 
ordered to pay. 

3. I have inquired of Defendant facts concerning Defendant’s 
immigration status and explained to Defendant that if 
Defendant is not a United States citizen any criminal 
conviction will most likely result in serious negative 
immigration consequences including but not limited to: 

a. The removal from the United States 
through deportation; 

b. An inability to reenter the United States; 
c. The inability to gain United States 

citizenship or legal residency;  
d. An inability to renew and/or retain any 

legal residency status; and/or 
e. An indeterminate term of confinement, by with United 

States Federal Government based on the conviction and 
immigration status. 

Moreover, I have explained that regardless of what Defendant may 
have been told by any attorney, no one can promise Defendant that 
this conviction will not result in negative immigration 
consequences and/or impact Defendant’s ability to become a 
United States citizen and/or legal resident.  
4. All pleas of guilty offered by the Defendant pursuant to this 

agreement are consistent with the facts known to me and 
are made with my advice to the Defendant. 

5. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the Defendant: 
a. Is competent and understands the 

charges and the consequences of 
pleading guilty as provided in this 
agreement, 

b. Executed this agreement and will 
enter all guilty pleas pursuant hereto 
voluntarily, and 

c. Was not under the influence of 
intoxicating liquor, a controlled 
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substance or other drug at the time I 
consulted with the Defendant as 
certified in paragraphs 1 and 2 
above. 

 
Id. at 8. 

In addition to the GPA, the Court canvassed Petitioner. During the canvassing, 

Petitioner illustrated that he entered the plea both knowingly and voluntarily:  
THE COURT: Okay. Fine. Mr. Powell, will you state and spell 
your name for the record.  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Adrian Powell, A-D-R-I-A-N, P-O-W-
E-L-L.  
THE COURT: And -- 
MR. KANE: I'll come over here. [Court and Court Recorder 
confer]  
THE COURT: Sure. Okay. Mr. Powell, how hold are you?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: I'm 23 years old. I'll be 24 on Thursday.  
THE COURT: How far did you go in school?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: I graduated high school.  
THE COURT: And do you have any learning disability?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Do you read, write and understand the English 
language?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: And is English your primary language?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Have you been treated recently for any mental 
illness or addiction of any kind?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Has anyone ever suggested you should be treated 
for mental health?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Are you currently under the influence of any drug, 
medication or alcohol?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Have you been on any medication during your stay 
in jail?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: What medication?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Remeron. 
THE COURT: What is -- what type of medication is that?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: It treats depression.  
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THE COURT: How do you feel today?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: I feel excellent, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Do you understand what's happening?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Does the medication affect your ability to 
understand what's going on today?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Are you under any other effects of the medication?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Have you received a copy of the guilty plea 
agreement?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Did you read the guilty plea agreement?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Did you understand everything in the guilty plea 
agreement?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Have you discussed this case with your 
attorney?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Are you satisfied with the representation and 
advice given to you by your attorney?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: As to the charges in the guilty plea agreement, how 
do you plead?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: I plead guilty, Your Honor 
THE COURT: I'm making this plea freely and voluntarily?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Has anyone forced or threatened you or 
anyone close to you to get you to enter this plea?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Has anyone made any promises other than 
what's in the guilty plea agreement to get you to enter the plea?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: I have before me the guilty plea agreement, and I'm 
going to hold this up, on page 7, is this your signature?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Did you understand everything contained in 
the guilty plea agreement?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: And do you understand that as part of the guilty 
plea agreement, although you are not pleading guilty to these 
alleged offenses, the State will be allowed to argue then at the time 
of sentencing?  
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DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
. . . 
THE COURT: So I don't know if I asked you, before you sign 
this plea agreement, did you read it and discuss it with your 
attorney?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Do you understand everything contained in 
this agreement?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: You understand that there are certain constitutional 
rights that you're giving up by entering the guilty plea agreement?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: You understand that you have a right to appeal on 
reasonable constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds that 
challenge the legality of the proceedings? 
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: And, again, do you understand the range of 
punishment? And counsel –  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Well, we're going to go through and put these on 
the record, so it's clear. 
MR. KANE: That's Counts 1 and 8, Your Honor. They carry with 
it a 1 to 6 range; Counts 2 and 9, 2 to 15. Counts 3 and 13, 5 to life 
or 5 to 15, plus a consecutive term of 1 to 15 for deadly weapon 
enhancement. Counts 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 11 and 14, they're 2 to 15; a 
term of 1 to 15 for use of deadly weapon enhancement.  
THE COURT: Do you understand the range for each of those 
counts?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Do you understand that sentencing is entirely up to 
me?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: And do you understand that, again, it's up to me as 
to whether any or whether all of those counts run consecutively or 
concurrently?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: And no one is in a position to promise you 
leniency or special treatment of any kind?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: In the information in the indictment, it says -- or 
what is it that you did on the 28th of September to cause you to 
plead guilty?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: I went into two establishments, Your 
Honor, and I committed the armed robbery.  
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THE COURT: And those establishments a -- is this Roberto's -- 
MR. KANE: Pepe's -- Pepe's and Walgreen's.  
THE COURT: Pepe's and Walgreen's. Thank you. Pepe's and 
Walgreen's?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: You went in those establishments and committed 
the armed robberies?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: And do you have any questions you'd like to ask 
me or your attorney before I accept this plea?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Anything that I left out?  
MR. GIORDANI: No.  
THE COURT: Okay. And also for the record, you had 
approximately two hours to discuss all of this -- maybe longer than 
that now -- with your attorney before accepting this? 
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: And without telling me what they were, your 
attorney answered all your questions regarding the guilty plea 
agreement?  
DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.  
THE COURT: Okay. The Court finds the Defendant's plea of 
guilty is freely and voluntarily made and the Defendant 
understands the nature of the offenses and the consequences of his 
plea and, therefore, accepts the plea of guilty. The matter is 
referred to Department of Parole & Probation for a PSI. What's the 
date for sentencing?  

Recorder’s Transcript of Jury Trial Filed on November 2, 2018, at 14-20 

(emphasis added). 

 Any claim that Petitioner entered the plea unknowingly and involuntarily is belied by 

the record and suitable for summary denial under Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d. In his 

GPA, Petitioner acknowledged that he waived certain rights and privileges. GPA, at 6. He also 

acknowledged that his decision to enter the plea was voluntary and not because of a promise 

of leniency. GPA, at 7; Recorder’s Transcript of Jury Trial Filed on November 2, 2018, at 19. 

In both the Court’s canvassing and his GPA, Petitioner showed that he understood the nature 

of his crime as well the terms of plea. The totality of the circumstances show that Petitioner’s 

plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered. Thus, these claims should be denied.  
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B. Petitioner Only Alleges Bare and Naked Claims 

Petitioner’s claims are not sufficiently pled pursuant to Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 

P.2d at 225, and Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987). Indeed, a party 

seeking review bears the responsibility “to cogently argue, and present relevant authority” to 

support his assertions. Edwards v. Emperor’s Garden Restaurant, 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 

P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006); Dept. of Motor Vehicles and Public Safety v. Rowland, 107 

Nev. 475, 479, 814 P.2d 80, 83 (1991) (defendant’s failure to present legal authority resulted 

in no reason for the district court to consider defendant’s claim); Maresca, 103 Nev. at 673, 

748 P.2d at 6 (an arguing party must support his arguments with relevant authority and cogent 

argument; “issues not so presented need not be addressed”); Randall v. Salvation Army, 100 

Nev. 466, 470-71, 686 P.2d 241, 244 (1984) (court may decline consideration of issues lacking 

citation to relevant legal authority); Holland Livestock v. B & C Enterprises, 92 Nev. 473, 533 

P.2d 950 (1976) (issues lacking citation to relevant legal authority do not warrant review on 

the merits). 100 Nev. 498 

Petitioner’s bare and naked allegations fail to include legal authority regarding what a 

proper indictment must allege.  An indictment must contain a “plain, concise, and definite 

written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged.” NRS 173.075. 

Specifically, the indictment must: (1) contain the elements of the charged offense; (2) inform 

the defendant of the charges so he can prepare a defense; and (3) “be definite enough to prevent 

the prosecutor from changing the theory of the case.” Husney v. O’Donnell, 95 Nev. 467, 469, 

596 P.2d 230, 231 (1979); Laney v. State, 86 Nev. 173, 178, 466 P.2d 666, 670 (1970). When, 

however, the sufficiency of an indictment is questioned for the first time upon appeal, it will 

not be held insufficient to support the judgment, unless it is so defective that by no 

construction, within the reasonable limits of the language used, can it be said to charge the 

offense for which the defendant was convicted.” Laney, 86 Nev. at 178, 466 P.2d at 670 

(1970).  

Petitioner fails to support his claims that there were any defects in the indictment. The 

arguments in Section I of the Petition claim the indictment was fatally flawed. However, 
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Petitioner provides nothing more than conclusory statements that the indictment is improper. 

His lack of legal support leaves his claim naked and, therefore, ripe only for summary 

dismissal under Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. 

 Even if Petitioner provided some legal support, his claims would fail as the indictment 

contained no defects. Every count in the indictment contained a concise statement of the facts 

for the offense charged. These statements were sufficient to inform Petitioner of the charges 

and theory of the case. Thus, any claim that the indictment was flawed should be denied.  

III. PETITIONER RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, “[i]n all criminal 

prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his 

defense.” The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that “the right to counsel is 

the right to the effective assistance of counsel.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 

104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 

(1993). 

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove 

he was denied “reasonably effective assistance” of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S. Ct. at 2063–64. See also Love, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865 

P.2d at 323. Under the Strickland test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's 

representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for 

counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have 

been different. 466 U.S. at 687–88, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2065, 2068; Warden, Nevada State 

Prison v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-

part test). “[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach 

the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant 

makes an insufficient showing on one.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069. 

The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine 

whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was 

ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). “Effective counsel 
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does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is ‘[w]ithin the range of 

competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.’” Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 

537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975). 

Based on the above law, the role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective 

assistance of counsel is “not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine 

whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render 

reasonably effective assistance.” Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 

(1978). This analysis does not mean that the court should “second guess reasoned choices 

between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against 

allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the 

possibilities are of success.” Id. To be effective, the constitution “does not require that counsel 

do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel 

cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade.” 

United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984). 

“There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the 

best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.” 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 689. “Strategic choices made by counsel after 

thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable.” Dawson v. State, 

108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 

P.2d 951, 953 (1989). In essence, the court must “judge the reasonableness of counsel's 

challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's 

conduct.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. 

When a conviction is the result of a guilty plea, a defendant must show that there is a 

“reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and 

would have insisted on going to trial.” Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366, 370 

(1985) (emphasis added); see also Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 

(1996); Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 190-91, 87 P.3d 533, 537 (2004). 

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an 
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objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a 

reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been 

different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064). “A reasonable probability is a probability 

sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 

694, 104 S. Ct. at 2064–65, 2068). 

The Nevada Supreme Court has held “that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the 

disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of 

the evidence.” Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004). Furthermore, 

claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must 

be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to 

relief. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). “Bare” and “naked” 

allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. Id. NRS 

34.735(6) states in relevant part, “[Petitioner] must allege specific facts supporting the claims 

in the petition[.] . . . Failure to allege specific facts rather than just conclusions may cause your 

petition to be dismissed.” (emphasis added). 

A. Counsel Did Not Mislead Petitioner Regarding Sentencing 

Petitioner claims that a conflict of interest existed when counsel told him he would only 

receive six (6) to fifteen (15) years. This is not Petitioner’s first attempt to make this claim. In 

a prior motion before this court, Petitioner alleged that trial counsel promised he would receive 

six (6) to fifteen (15) years. Petitioner’s counsel testified that no conversation ever took place: 
Q [Ms. Mcneill]: Okay. When you were discussing the deal with 
Mr. Powell, did you tell him that you were going to get him a 6-
to-15-year sentence? 
A [Mr. Kane]: Never 
Q: You never told him that. 
A: Nope 
Q: Okay. Did you tell him that if it weren’t for the uncharged 
cases, you could have gotten the 3 to 8? 
A: No  
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Recorders Transcript of Hearing Filed on 2/1/2021, at 9. On cross-examination, Petitioner’s 

counsel made further statements regarding their conversation: 
 Q [Mr. Giordani]: He also claimed in his affidavit: My 
attorney told me that regardless of what the guilty plea agreement 
said, I was going to get a sentence of 6 to 15 years. Is that true or 
false? 
 A [Mr. Kane]: No, and that’s, you know, when I was 
reading that today, that’s the one I took the most offense of, out of 
all of them. And that’s because very early on in my career, I forgot 
how it came about, but one of my mentors, Josh Tomshek, he says, 
listen, you can never promise a sentence. Just like in civil cases, 
you can never promise a client that they’re going to get X amount 
of money out of a settlement. Never have done it on any of my 
cases, either criminal or civil. And so, yeah, that absolutely did not 
take place. I’ve never promised a sentence. And going further, you 
go -- I went over the Guilty Plea Agreement with him as well as 
the sentencing memo multiple times. He -- we cannot guarantee 
you a sentence. You cannot be guaranteed a sentence. This is the 
sentencing range that you’re looking at. The discretion’s up to the 
Judge. We’ll do our best. We’re going to get a sentencing memo 
for you which we did. And we’ll argue like hell for you, but, no, 
did not tell him that. 

 

Id. at 17-18. At no point does the record indicate that trial counsel made any promises 

regarding the sentence Petitioner would receive. As discussed supra, Section I.3., this Court 

already ruled on this issue. Thus, Petitioner’s claim should be summarily denied. Hargrove, 

100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225.  

B. Counsel Cannot be Ineffective for Failing to Make a Futile Objection 

Petitioner claims that Counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the indictment. 

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments. See Ennis v. 

State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the “immediate and 

ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and 

what defenses to develop.” Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002). As 

discussed supra, Section II, any claim that the indictment contained defects is meritless. 

Petitioner’s counsel cannot be ineffective for making a meritless objection. Therefore, 
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Petitioner’s argument is insufficient to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel and 

should be summarily denied. Browning v. State, 120 Nev. 347, 357, 91 P.3d 39, 47 (2004); 

Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. 

C. The Record Belies Any claim that Counsel Did Not Investigate Possible 

Witnesses 

Petitioner incorrectly claims counsel did not investigate possible alibi witnesses. A 

defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not adequately investigate 

must show how a better investigation would have changed the outcome of trial. Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064. Such a defendant must allege with specificity what the 

investigation would have revealed and how it would have altered the outcome of the trial. See 

State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993). 

“[D]efense counsel has a duty ‘to make reasonable investigations or to make a 

reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” State v. Love, 109 Nev. 

1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S. Ct. at 2066). 

A decision “not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the 

circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel’s judgment.’” Id. Moreover, 

“[a] decision not to call a witness will not generally constitute ineffective assistance of 

counsel” Id. at 1145, 865 P.2d at 328.  

Indeed, to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for advice regarding a 

guilty plea, a defendant must show “gross error on the part of counsel.” Turner v. Calderon, 

281 F.3d 851, 880 (9th Cir. 2002). A plea of guilty is presumptively valid, particularly where 

it is entered into on the advice of counsel, and the burden is on a defendant to show that the 

plea was not voluntarily entered. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 272, 721 P.2d at 368 (citing Wingfield 

v. State, 91 Nev. 336, 337, 535 P.2d 1295, 1295 (1975)); Jezierski v. State, 107 Nev. 395, 397, 

812 P.2d 355, 356 (1991). Ultimately, while it is counsel’s duty to candidly advise a defendant 

regarding a plea offer, the decision of whether or not to accept a plea offer is the defendants. 

Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 163 (2002).  

The record belies any claim that counsel did not thoroughly investigate possible 
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witnesses. Counsel testified that he did follow up on possible alibi witnesses: 
A [Mr. Kane]: [H]e would have – he wanted to talk to us about 
alibi witnesses, you know, that we checked out.  

Recorders Transcript of Hearing Filed on 2/1/2021, at 16. No evidence in the record indicates 

that counsel failed to investigate witnesses. Thus, Petitioner’s claim should be summarily 

denied as it is belied by the record.  

Even if Petitioner could show deficiency, which he cannot, he makes no claims about 

what further investigation would reveal. The basis of his claim is a failure to investigate alibi 

witnesses. However, the petition contains no mention of any such alibi witness or their 

testimony. Thus, Petitioner’s failure to show what further investigation would reveal 

necessitates the denial of this claim. 

D. The Record Belies Any Claim that Counsel Failed to Communicate 

Petitioner claims counsel did not discuss trial strategy making him ineffective. A 

defendant is not entitled to a particular “relationship” with his attorney. Morris v. Slappy, 461 

U.S. 1, 14, 103 S. Ct. 1610, 1617 (1983). There is no requirement for any specific amount of 

communication as long as counsel is reasonably effective in his representation. See Id.  

 Petitioner’s claims regarding a lack of communication are meritless. Counsel frequently 

discussed the case with Petitioner: 
Q [Ms. Mcneill]: How much contact have you had with Mr. 
Powell prior to the start of the trial? 
A[Mr. Kane]: Okay. So I reviewed -- I went back today. I looked 
at it for about an hour and I looked at the original Motion to 
Withdraw and the attached visits which candidly didn’t seem right 
to me. So I looked at Rob Lawson’s billing records which showed 
that he had been there eight times. And I believe I had been there 
at least two, if not three times. The communication that we had 
was he had my cell phone number and with the direct bill line that 
he called quite frequently usually always at the same time. And so 
we did discuss things over the phone as well 
Q: Okay. Do you have any recollection of how many phone calls? 
A: Between Mr. Powell, his mom, it’s either his girlfriend or 
fiancée, and his dad – 
Q: Well let’s just narrow it to Mr. Powell. 
A: So for Mr. Powell, how many times he called or how many 
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times we actually spoke? I mean, he called -- Q How many times 
you actually spoke? A Okay. We probably spoke 15 plus times 
[indiscernible due to interruption by inmate] – 

Recorders Transcript of Hearing Filed on 2/1/2021, at 9-10. Not only did frequent 

conversations occur, but counsel discussed the strength of evidence in the case with Petitioner: 
Q [Mr. Giordani]: He also claims: At no point did my attorney 
discuss the discovery with me or discuss the theory of defense at 
trial. 
. . .  
A [Mr. Kane]: It goes back to what I was talking about with the 
alibi. You know, part of the issue when we were talking about 
defenses was this case, it was a tough case for him. And so, you 
know, going through the evidence and talking to him, I would and 
then I know I did, and then I’m almost a hundred percent sure Rob 
Lawson did as well, but if you asked him, well, listen, what’s 
missing? What should we look for? Your alibi witness, you know, 
whatever. And so, we did discuss the defenses leading up to trial. 
We discussed the defenses for -- not the defenses specifically, but 
the facts of the case and the evidence in the back room right there 
where they, where they keep the defendants for, had it was well 
over 30 minutes from what I recall. And I want to be conservative 
on that and it could have been even longer going through the 
evidence, the date, yeah, before he took it. I don’t, yeah, that’s all 
I got on that. 

Id. at 17. Counsel later clarified that their communications lasted closer to an hour and a half. 

Id. at 28. Counsel communicated with Petitioner about the evidence and witnesses for a 

substantial amount of time. Thus, Petitioner’s claim regarding a failure to communicate is 

belied by the record and suitable for summary denial.  
IV. NO DUE PROCESS VIOLATION OCCURRED WHEN PETITIONER DID 
NOT RECEIVE ALL THE DISCOVERY OF UNCHARGED CASES 

 Petitioner claims that a due process violation occurred due to not receiving discovery 

on uncharged cases. It is well-settled that Brady and its progeny require a prosecutor to 

disclose evidence favorable to the defense when that evidence is material either to guilt or to 

punishment. See Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963); Mazzan v. Warden, 

116 Nev. 48, 66, 993 P.2d 25 (2000); Jimenez v. State, 112 Nev. 610, 618-19, 918 P.2d 687 
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(1996). “[T]here are three components to a Brady violation: (1) the evidence at issue is 

favorable to the accused; (2) the evidence was withheld by the state either intentionally or 

inadvertently; and (3) prejudice ensued, i.e., the evidence was material.” Mazzan, 116 Nev. at 

67. “Where the state fails to provide evidence which the defense did not request or requested 

generally, it is constitutional error if the omitted evidence creates a reasonable doubt which 

did not otherwise exist. In other words, evidence is material if there is a reasonable probability 

that the result would have been different if the evidence had been disclosed.” Id. at 66 (internal 

citations omitted). “In Nevada, after a specific request for evidence, a Brady violation is 

material if there is a reasonable possibility that the omitted evidence would have affected the 

outcome. Id. (original emphasis) (citing Jimenez, 112 Nev. at 618-19, 918 P.2d at 692; Roberts 

v. State, 110 Nev. 1121, 1132, 881 P.2d 1, 8 (1994).  

“The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the 

defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish ‘materiality’ in the 

constitutional sense.” United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 108 96 S. Ct. 2392, 2399-400 

(1976). Favorable evidence is material, and constitutional error results, “if there is a reasonable 

probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Kyles, 514 U.S. at 

433-34, 115 S. Ct. at 1565 (citing United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 105 S. Ct. 3375, 

3383 (1985)). A reasonable probability is shown when the nondisclosure undermines 

confidence in the outcome of the trial. Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434, 115 S. Ct .1565.  

 Petitioner cites no law entitling him to pre-indictment discovery. The State is unaware 

of any Nevada case law directly addressing this issue. However, the Supreme Court of Nevada 

has previously stated that a defendant maintains no constitutional right to discovery in the 

grand jury setting. See Mayo v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of State in & for Count of Clark, 

132 Nev. 801, 806, 384 P.3d 486, 490 (2016) (“Brady’s constitutional disclosure obligation, 

and by extension, the presumption stated in Agurs, thus do not apply in the grand jury setting”). 

Certainly, a person who has no right to discovery in a grand jury setting, also has no right to 

discovery prior to the grand jury proceeding. Even if an obligation did exist, none of these 

charges were material to Petitioner’s case. They were unrelated armed robberies committed 
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by Petitioner. Thus, Petitioner’s claim should be denied.  

 Additionally, Petitioner’s argument is belied by the record. Petitioner claims that the 

State never provided any evidence related to the ten (10) additional armed robberies. 

Petitioner’s counsel previously testified that this claim is incorrect: 
Q [Mr. Giordani]: Right. And you were shown some discovery on 
those other uncharged acts like photographs -- still shots of 
photographs from surveillance videos in the uncharged cases, 
correct?  
A [Mr. Kane]: Correct.  
Q: And we kind of pointed out, look, you can see the shoes are the 
exact same in some of the events and the way they all jumped, the 
MO is the same. Do you recall those conversations? 
A: I don’t recall specifics. I recall that -- that you guys, the DA’s 
office, you know, thought they had evidence to file.  
Q: Okay. And you recall going through some of it or at least 
having some understanding of there are ten other events that are 
potentially related and potentially could be charged after this trial 
occurs, correct? 
A: Yeah, that’s correct. 

 
Recorders Transcript of Hearing Filed on 2/1/2021, at 21-22. Petitioner’s counsel did have a 

chance to review some of the evidence in the uncharged armed robberies. Thus, Petitioner 

claim is belied by the record and should be denied. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 

225. 
 

V. PETITIONER’S CLAIM OF CUMULATIVE ERROR FAILS 

Petitioner argues that the cumulation of all of the above errors warrants relief. However, 

the Nevada Supreme Court has not endorsed application of its direct appeal cumulative error 

standard to the post-conviction Strickland context. McConnell v. State, 125 Nev. 243, 259, 

212 P.3d 307, 318 (2009). Nor should cumulative error apply on post-conviction review. 

Middleton v. Roper, 455 F.3d 838, 851 (8th Cir. 2006), cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1134, 1275 S. 

Ct. 980 (2007) (“a habeas petitioner cannot build a showing of prejudice on series of errors, 

none of which would by itself meet the prejudice test.”).  

Even if applicable, a finding of cumulative error in the context of a Strickland claim is 
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extraordinarily rare and requires an extensive aggregation of errors. See, e.g., Harris By and 

through Ramseyer v. Wood, 64 F.3d 1432, 1438 (9th Cir. 1995). In fact, logic dictates that 

there can be no cumulative error where the petitioner fails to demonstrate any single violation 

of Strickland. Turner v. Quarterman, 481 F.3d 292, 301 (5th Cir. 2007) (“where individual 

allegations of error are not of constitutional stature or are not errors, there is ‘nothing to 

cumulate.’”) (quoting Yohey v. Collins, 985 F.2d 222, 229 (5th Cir. 1993)); Hughes v. Epps, 

694 F.Supp.2d 533, 563 (N.D. Miss. 2010) (citing Leal v. Dretke, 428 F.3d 543, 552-53 (5th 

Cir. 2005)). Since Petitioner has not demonstrated any claim warranting relief under 

Strickland, there are no errors to cumulate.  

Under the doctrine of cumulative error, “although individual errors may be harmless, 

the cumulative effect of multiple errors may deprive a defendant of the constitutional right to 

a fair trial.” Pertgen v. State, 110 Nev. 554, 566, 875 P.2d 361, 368 (1994) (citing Sipsas v. 

State, 102 Nev. 119, 716 P.2d 231 (1986)); see also Big Pond v. State, 101 Nev. 1, 3, 692 P.2d 

1288, 1289 (1985). The relevant factors to consider in determining “whether error is harmless 

or prejudicial include whether ‘the issue of innocence or guilt is close, the quantity and 

character of the error, and the gravity of the crime charged.’” Id., 101 Nev. at 3, 692 P.2d at 

1289. 

Here, Petitioner failed to show cumulative error because there are no errors to cumulate. 

Petitioner failed to show how any of the above claims constituted ineffective assistance of 

counsel. Instead, all of Petitioner’s claims are either belied by the record or otherwise 

meritless. As such, Petitioner has failed to establish cumulative error.  

VI. PETITIONER IS NOT ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING 

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that if a petition can be resolved without 

expanding the record, then no evidentiary hearing is necessary. NRS 34.770; Marshall v. State, 

110 Nev. 1328, 885 P.2d 603 (1994); Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 356, 46 P.3d 1228, 1231 

(2002). A defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing if his petition is supported by specific 

factual allegations, which, if true, would entitle him to relief unless the factual allegations are 

repelled by the record. Marshall, 110 Nev. at 1331, 885 P.2d at 605; see also Hargrove v. State, 
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100 Nev. 498, 503, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984) (holding that “[a] defendant seeking post-

conviction relief is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on factual allegations belied or 

repelled by the record”). “A claim is ‘belied’ when it is contradicted or proven to be false by 

the record as it existed at the time the claim was made.” Mann, 118 Nev. at 354, 46 P.3d at 

1230 (2002).  

It is improper to hold an evidentiary hearing simply to make a complete record. See 

State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 121 Nev. 225, 234, 112 P.3d 1070, 1076 (2005) (“The 

district court considered itself the ‘equivalent of . . .the trial judge’ and consequently wanted 

‘to make as complete a record as possible.’ This is an incorrect basis for an evidentiary 

hearing.”).  

At this stage, there is no need for an evidentiary hearing because all the claims are either 

waived, without merit, or bare and naked allegations that are belied by the record. 

Additionally, Petitioner’s counsel already testified at an evidentiary hearing regarding these 

issues. Another evidentiary hearing is unnecessary, as the record concerning these issues is 

complete. As none of Petitioner’s claims would entitle him to relief and there is no need to 

expand the record, the request for another evidentiary hearing should be denied. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court DENY 

Petitioner’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. 

DATED this 14th day of October, 2021. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

STEVEN WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 

 

 BY /s/ Taleen Pandukht 

  
TALEEN PANDUKHT 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #005734 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

 I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this 14th day of 

September, 2021, by depositing a copy in the U.S. Mail, postage pre-paid, addressed to: 
 
      ADRIAN POWELL #1217413 
      S.D.C.C. 
      PO BOX 208 
      INDIAN SPRINGS, NV 89070 
 
     BY _/s/ E. DEL PADRE____________________________ 
      E. DEL PADRE 
              Secretary for the District Attorney’s Office 
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, Petitioner/In Propia Persona 

) Post Office Box 208, SDCC 
- Indian Springs, Nevada 89070 

3 

4 

5 IN THE 6 5 >t ~ JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF 

6 
THE STATE OF NEVADA INAND FOR THE;_IL 

COUNTY OF c_ \q; Jc t- ED 
7 

~~8 ~: 
6 ,c;·. \) cue-"'<:..~ 

Plaintiff, l 
VL l 

OCT 1 ~ 2021 1 
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12 

13 

14 
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21 
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23 

24 

25 

;o 26 m 
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~ 28 
0 

Ad.~,yy\ eC.:,._;..:..\\ , 
) 

Case No. C.-/7-327~ 7-'2.. 

Dept. No. X2u11, 

Defendant, ) Docket 
-------~ _____ ) ·* /frv; i v1 

\ 

l\tIOTION TO WITHDRAW COUNSEL 

Date of Hearing: ----
Time of Hearing: ___ _ 

November 8, 2021 
11:00 AM 

'ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED, Yes __ No _j/_" 

COl\ilES NOW, Defendant, Ac9..§.,c\ f\ %......,_\\ _, proceeding in proper 

person, moves this Honorable Court for an ORDER Granting him permission to v,,ithdraw his 

present counsel of record in the proceeding action, namely, 

(Don, Ci u,-e {.\. ff\ e.-Yl e, \ 
\ 

This Motion is made and based on all papers and pleadings on file with the Clq-k of the Court 

\vbich are hereby incorporated by this reference, the Points and Authorities herein, and attached 

Affidavit of Defendant. 

DATED: this¼_ day of O c=< , 20-Zt . 

BY: C--/1.---
(Us:,c..'(\ €?0 ,~~11 #/2/71/(3 
Defendant/In Propria Personam 

1 
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1 POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

2 The Nevada Revised Statute 7.055(1 ), which deals with the duty of a discharged attorney, states: 

3 "An attorney who has been discharged by his client shall, upon demand and payment of the fee due from 
the client , immediately deliver to the client all papers, documents, pleadings and items of tangible property 

4 which belong to or were prepared for that client." 

5 As can be seen in this case, the defendant does not owe any fees, in fact, they, meaning counsel(s) 

6 f record, were appointed by the Court to represent the defendant, who was an indigent, in Case 

7 umber, e113.2?1&.7-t-in Department No. XJ< '-'• t t . 

8 N.R.S. 7.055(2) gives this Court the power to Order the Attorney(s) of record to produce and 

9 eliver to the defendant in his/her possession, which states: 

10 "A client who, after demand therefore and payment of the fee due from him, does not receive from his 
discharged attorney all papers, documents, pleadings and items of tangible personal property may, by 

11 a motion filed after at least 5 days' notice to the attorney, obtain an order for the production of his papers, 

12 
Documents, pleadings and other property." 

13 In numerous cases throughout this great land, the courts have held attorneys to a high degree of 

14 rofessional responsibility and integrity. This carried from the time of hiring to and through the 

15 ttomey's termination of employment. 

16 Supreme Court Rule 173 states quite clear that a withdrawn attorney owes his former client a 

17 ... prompt accounting of all his client's .... property in his possession." This is echoed in Canon 2 of 

18 e Code of Professional Responsibility of the American Bar Association, which states in pertinent 

19 EC 2-32: "A lawyer should protect the welfare of his client by ... delivering tj the client all 

20 apers and property to which the client is entitled." Again in Disciplinary Rule 2-11 0(AX2) of the 

21 A, this is brought out that a withdrawn attorney must deliver to the client all paJ:FrS an comply with 

22 pplicable laws on the subject. 

23 In the cases ofln Re Yount, 93 Ariz. 322,380 P.2d 780 (1963) and State v. Alvey, 215 Kan. 460, 

24 24 P.2d 747 ( 1974), both of which dealt with a factual situation involving a withdrawn attorney 

25 efusing to deliver to a former client his documents after being requested to do so by the client. The 

26 ourt in Yount, supra, ordered the attorney disbarred while in Alvey. supra, the court had the attorney 

27 ensored. 

28 2 
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1 While not the intention of the Defendant in this case to have the attorney disbarred, these cases do 

2 how a pattern in the court in considering the refusal to deliver to a former client all his documents 

3 nd property after being requested to do so, a serious infraction of the law and of professional ethics. 

4 ee, In Re Sullivan, 212 Kan. 233, 510 P.2d 1199 (1973). 

5 In summary, this court has jurisdiction through NRS 7.055 to Order the attomey(s) to produce and 

6 eliver to the Defendant all documents and personal property in his/their possession belonging to him 

7 r prepared for him. The Defendant has fulfilled his obligations in trying to obtain the papers. The 

8 ttomey(s) is in discord with Cannon 2 of the Code of Professional responsibility and the Nevada 

9 upreme Court Rules 173, 176 and 203. 

10 

11 DATED: this _S__ day of.....;O~~'_c.~ __ _, 20 -z1 . 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

BY: 

3 

tJ 
-B,.....c"'""')-t-, c-, "---,~ .... ,,.....,,-_.J-l._l\ ____ #.,.,..--12-_1_7_<:J-_1_'1_ 
Defendant/In Propria Personam 
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1 I 
:2 STATE OF NEVADA 

ss: 
3 COUNTY OF CLARK 

4 

5 

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN: 

the undersigned,do hereby swear that 

6 all statements,facts and events within my foregoing Affidavit are 
7 t rue and co r rec t o f my own know 1 e d g e , i n f o rm a t i on .rn d be 1 i e f , an d 

8 a.s to those,I believe them to be True and Correct. Signed under the 

9 pen a l t y o f p e r j u r y , p u r .s u an t to , N RS • 2 9 • 010 ; 5 3 • 04 5 : 2 0 8 • 16 5 , and s t a t e 

10 the following: 

11 

12 

13 
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15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

n.1 I 
... ·t I 

:2.1 ' 
I 

::'.Ii r 

fLlRTHSR YOCR AFFIANT S~YETH ~ACGHT. 
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1 CERTFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAILING 

2 I, Ad<' s cd\ (? 0--.,.," \. \ , hereby certify, pursuant to NRCP 5(b ), that on this .JL 
3 day of....;:{)):::c..=c.::...;~=---• 20-z., , I mailed a true and correct copy of the foregoing," Mc, h·•e.,YJ 

4 ~ LU \ \...h_J._ ,u._ \ e CS) u ,he __ / 

5 by placing document in a sealed pre-postage paid envelope and deposited said envelope in the 

6 United State Mail addressed to the following: 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 CC:FlLE 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

DATED: this _Q_ day of_CJ_-r1_;;c_'--)--~ 2<r2-' . 

Y.J~J\,•e,"' fb .. ._,d/ # 12-f 7q13 
/In Propria Personam 

Post Office Box 2O8,S.D.C.C. 
Indian Springs, Nevada 89018 
IN FORMA PAUPERIS: 

" 
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AFFIRMATION 
Pursuant to NRS 239B.030 

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding [(le ~" " +o 

(Title of Document) 

filed in District Court Case number C-17- 3:277 6 7-2 

Does not contain the social security number of any person. 

-OR-

□ Contains the social security number of a person as required by: 

A. A specific state or federal law, to wit: 

(State specific law) 

-or-

B. For the administration of a public program or for an application 
for a federal or state grant. I 

Signature 

Print Name 

Title 

(Ye i ~, 20--z..1 

Date 
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

A-21-839265-W

Writ of Habeas Corpus October 18, 2021COURT MINUTES

A-21-839265-W Adrian Powell, Plaintiff(s)
vs.
Nevada Department of Corrections, Defendant(s)

October 18, 2021 12:00 PM All Pending Motions (10/18/2021)

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Israel, Ronald J.

Thomas, Kathy

RJC Courtroom 15C

JOURNAL ENTRIES

STATUS CHECK: POSSIBLE APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL THROUGH OFFICE OF 
APPOINTED COUNSEL (JULIAN GREGORY)...PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS 
CORPUS

Deft. POWELL not present, in custody in the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDC). Mr. 
Gregory confirmed as counsel. At the request of counsel, COURT ORDERED, Matter SET for 
a status check to set the briefing schedule. 

NDC

11-15-2021 12:00 PM STATUS CHECK: SET BRIEFING SCHEDULE...PETITION FOR WRIT
OF HABEAS CORPUS

PARTIES PRESENT:
Ashley A. Lacher Attorney for Other

Julian Gregory Attorney for Plaintiff

RECORDER: Chappell, Judy

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 10/20/2021 October 18, 2021Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Kathy Thomas APP000564



DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

A-21-839265-W

Writ of Habeas Corpus November 15, 2021COURT MINUTES

A-21-839265-W Adrian Powell, Plaintiff(s)
vs.
Nevada Department of Corrections, Defendant(s)

November 15, 2021 12:00 PM All Pending Motions

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Israel, Ronald J.

Brown, Kristen

RJC Courtroom 15C

JOURNAL ENTRIES

PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS...STATUS CHECK: SET BRIEFING 
SCHEDULE

COURT ORDERED, matter SET for argument with a briefing schedule set as follows: 
Petitioner to file the opening brief by February 14, 2022; State's opposition is due by March 14, 
2022; and the Petitioner to file a reply by April 15, 2022.  Court directed the State to prepare a 
transport order for the Petition to be transported to court or the Petition can appear by video.

4/25/22 12:00 PM ARGUMENT: PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

PARTIES PRESENT:
Julian Gregory Attorney for Plaintiff

RECORDER: Chappell, Judy

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 1/7/2022 November 15, 2021Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Kristen Brown APP000565



DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

C-17-327767-2

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor November 29, 2021COURT MINUTES

C-17-327767-2 State of Nevada
vs
Adrian Powell

November 29, 2021 11:00 AM Defendant's Proper Person Motion to Withdraw Counsel Monique 
A. McNeil

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Israel, Ronald J.

Bracamontez-Munguia, Carina

RJC Courtroom 15C

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Mr. Gregory noted this was a Motion to Withdraw Monique McNeill, Esq. COURT ORDERED 
motion GRANTED. 

NDC

PARTIES PRESENT:
Julian Gregory Attorney for Defendant

RECORDER: Chappell, Judy

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 12/2/2021 November 29, 2021Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Carina Bracamontez-
Munguia APP000566
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MFW 
JULIAN GREGORY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11978 
LAW OFFICE OF JULIAN GREGORY, L.L.C. 
324 South Third Street, Suite #200 
Las Vegas, NV  89101 
T: (702) 625-1183 
F: (702) 302-4286 
E: Julian@jglawlv.com 
Attorney for Petitioner 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ADRIAN POWELL, 

Petitioner, 

vs. 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 
Dep’t No. 

A-21-839265-W
XXVIII

MOTION TO WITHDRAW 
AS COUNSEL OF RECORD 

(HEARING REQUESTED) 

Julian Gregory, counsel for Petitioner Adrian Powell, submits this Motion to With-

draw as Counsel of Record. Attached are points and authorities and a declaration of 

counsel in support. 

DATED this 11 of January, 2022. 

/s/ Julian Gregory 
JULIAN GREGORY, ESQ. 
LAW OFFICE OF JULIAN GREGORY, L.L.C. 
Attorney for Petitioner 

Case Number: A-21-839265-W

Electronically Filed
1/11/2022 9:51 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

Petitioner’s counsel Julian Gregory now moves to withdraw from representation of 

the Petitioner in this matter. Defense counsel has accepted an offer of employment from a 

governmental office, and counsel’s continued representation of Petitioner would create an 

undue burden on counsel. 

Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct 1.16(a) provides that an attorney must withdraw 

from representation of a client if the representation will result in violation of the Rules of 

Professional Conduct. Rule 1.16(b) provides that an attorney may withdraw from represen-

tation if other good cause for withdrawal exists. Counsel submits that employment in an in-

stitutional defender’s office constitutes good cause to withdraw from a case. 

The supplemental petition in this case is due February 14, 2022. Petitioner has already 

filed his petition and preserved his rights, therefore the Petitioner would not be prejudiced 

by counsel’s withdrawal. The undersigned would ask that this Court, if it grants the instant 

motion, appoint new counsel of record. The undersigned now respectfully moves to withdraw 

as counsel of record from the above-entitled case. 

 
 
DATED this 11 of January, 2022. 
 
/s/ Julian Gregory 
JULIAN GREGORY, ESQ. 
LAW OFFICE OF JULIAN GREGORY, L.L.C. 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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DECLARATION OF JULIAN GREGORY 

I, Julian Gregory, hereby declare that: 

1. I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada. 

2. I have been appointed to represent the Petitioner in the above-referenced case. 

3. I have accepted an offer to join the Clark County Special Public Defender’s office, a gov-

ernmental organization. 

4. The Petitioner’s telephone number is unknown to me. 

5. The Petitioner’s last known address is Southern Desert Correctional Center, P.O. Box 208, 

Indian Springs, NV 89070-0208. 

6. I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

 
 
January 11, 2022  /s/ Julian Gregory 
Date Executed  JULIAN GREGORY, ESQ. 

 

 

APP000569



4 of 4 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I am a person competent to serve papers, that I am not a party to 

the above-entitled action, and that on January 11, 2022, I served the foregoing document and 

all attachments on the parties or counsel listed below: 

Steven B. Wolfson 
Clark County District Attorney’s Office 

Via e-mail 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 

Adrian Powell, #1217413 
Petitioner 

Via mail 
c/o Southern Desert Correctional Center 

P.O. Box 208 
Indian Springs, NV  89070-0208 

/s/ Julian Gregory 
JULIAN GREGORY, ESQ. 
LAW OFFICE OF JULIAN GREGORY, L.L.C. 
Attorney for Petitioner 

AFFIRMATION 
Pursuant to NRS 239B.030, this document contains no social security numbers. 

/s/ Julian Gregory 01-11-22
Julian Gregory, Esq. Date 
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

A-21-839265-W

Writ of Habeas Corpus January 26, 2022COURT MINUTES

A-21-839265-W Adrian Powell, Plaintiff(s)
vs.
Nevada Department of Corrections, Defendant(s)

January 26, 2022 11:00 AM Julian Gregory, Esq.'s, Motion to Withdraw as Counsel of Record 
for Petitioner

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Israel, Ronald J.

Cunningham, Patia

RJC Courtroom 15C

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Court noted Deft. not present. Ms. Savage advised she can confirm as counsel. COURT 
ORDERED, motion Granted and the Supplement is DUE by 3/30/22, the Response is DUE by 
4/27/22, the Reply is DUE by 5/11/22, and Hearing SET for 5/25/22 11:00 AM.

NDC

PARTIES PRESENT:
Colleen N Savage Attorney for Plaintiff

RECORDER: Haak, Francesca

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 2/9/2022 January 26, 2022Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Patia Cunningham APP000571
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1 
 

ANTHONY P. SGRO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 3811 
COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 14947 
SGRO & ROGER 
720 S. 7th Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone No.: (702) 384-9800 
Facsimile No.: (702) 655-4120 
tsgro@sgroandroger.com 
csavage@sgroandroger.com 
Attorneys for Petitioner  

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ADRIAN POWELL, 

Petitioner, 

vs. 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

Respondent 

Case No.: A-21-839265-W 
 
 
STIPULATION AND ORDER TO 
EXTEND DEADLINES 
 
 

 
 COMES NOW Petitioner, ADRIAN POWELL, by and through his attorneys of record, 

ANTHONY P. SGRO, ESQ., and COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ., and counsel for the State of 

Nevada, TALEEN PANDUKHT, ESQ., hereby stipulate and agree to extend the current deadlines 

set forth in the briefing schedule.  

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

Electronically Filed
03/18/2022 4:11 PM

APP000572
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AND FOR AN ORD R TO 
TRANSPORT 
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Mr. Powell’s in custody status has made attorney client communication difficult, as such 

a brief extension of the supplemental briefing is now necessary. The parties further stipulate and 

agree that this extension is made in good faith and not intended for the purpose of delay. The 

proposed briefing schedule is set forth as follows:  

Current Proposed 
Petitioner’s Supplement March 30, 2022 April 29, 2022 
State’s Response April 27, 2022 June 28, 2022 

Dated this 16th day of March 2022. 

SGRO & ROGER OFFICE OF THE CLARK COUNTY 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

/s/ Colleen Savage___________ /s/ Taleen Pandukht_____________  
ANTHONY P. SGRO, ESQ.  TALEEN PANDUKHT, ESQ 
Nevada Bar No. 3811  Nevada Bar No. 005734 
tsgro@sgroandroger.com  Taleen.pandukht@clarkcountyda.com 
COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ. Attorney for Respondent 
Nevada Bar No. 14947 
csavage@sgroandroger.com  
Attorneys for Petitioner 
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ORDER 

Based upon the above Stipulation and good cause appearing, IT IS HEREBY 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the new briefing schedule is set forth as 

follows:   

Current Proposed 
Petitioner’s Supplement March 30, 2022 April 29, 2022 
State’s Response  April 27, 2022 June 28, 2022 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 

___________________________ 

Respectfully submitted by: 

s/ Colleen Savage______ 
Colleen N. Savage, ESQ 
Nevada Bar No. 14947 
720 South 7th Street, Third floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
csavage@sgroandroger.com  

APP000574

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Hearing on May 25, 2022, is hereby VACATED 
and RESET to August 3, 2022. 

State to prepare an Order To Transport. 

A-21-839265-W 

F29 106 4E4C DCB7 
Ronald J. Israel 
District Court Judge 

JT 
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-21-839265-WAdrian Powell, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Nevada Department of 
Corrections, Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 28

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Stipulation and Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system 
to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 3/18/2022

Clark County District Attorney's Office motions@clarkcountyda.com
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Case Number: A-21-839265-W

Electronically Filed
3/21/2022 4:36 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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1 NEO 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

ADRIAN POWELL, 

vs. 

STATE OF NEVADA, 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

Plaintiff, 

Defendant. 

* * * 

Case No.: A-21-839265-W 

Dept. XVIII 

12 NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER TO EXTEND DEADLINES AND FOR AN ORDER 

13 TO TRANSPORT 

14 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an Order Extending Deadlines and Order to Transport 

15 was filed on March 18, 2022 (a true and conect copy is attached hereto). 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dated thisdJ_ day of March 2022. 

-1-

SGRO&ROGER 

C~~~A:!tt 
Nevada Bar No. 3811 
SGRO&ROGER 
720 S. 7th St., 3rd Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone No.: (702) 384-9800 
csavage@sgroandroger.com 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the2/tay of March 2022, I served a true and c011'ect 

copy of the foregoing document entitled: NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER EXTENDING 

DEADLINES AND ORDER TO TRANSPORT. 

6 _][,Electronic service if the foregoing document shall be made in accordance with the CM/EC 

7 E-Service List; and/or 

8 

9 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

__ sending a copy via facsimile to the parties herein, as follows; and/or 

__ sending a copy via electronic mail, and/or 

--~placing the original copy in a sealed envelope, first-class, postage fully pre-paid thereon, 

and depositing the envelope in the U.S. mail as Las Vegas, Nevada addressed as follows: 

OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

200 Lewis A venue 

Las Vegas, NV 89155 

motions@clarkcountyda.com 

-2-

~' 
An employee of Sgro & Roger 
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1 ANTHONY P. SGRO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 3811 

2 
COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ. 

3 Nevada Bar No. 14947 
SGRO&ROGER 

4 720 S. 7th Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

5 
Telephone No.: (702) 384-9800 

6 Facsimile No.: (702) 655-4120 
tsgro@sgroandroger.com 

7 csavage@sgroandroger.com 

8 
Attorneys for Petitioner 

9 

Electronicall Filed 

~~2411PM, 

CLERK OFTHE OURT 

DISTRICT COURT 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

CLARK COUNTY, NEV ADA 

ADRJAN POWELL, 

Petitioner, 

vs. 

THE STATE OF NEV ADA, 

Respondent 

Case No.: A-21-839265-W 

STIPULATION AND ORDER TO 
EXTEND DEADLINES AND FOR AN ORD R TO 

TRANSPORT 

Entered in Odyssey/kd. 

COMES NOW Petitioner, ADRJAN POWELL, by and through his attorneys of record, 

18 ANTHONY P. SGRO, ESQ., and COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ., and counsel for the State of 

19 
Nevada, TALEEN PANDUK.HT, ESQ., hereby stipulate and agree to extend the current deadlines 

20 
set forth in the briefing schedule. 

21 

22 II I 

23 II I 

24 Ill 

25 
I II 

26 
I II 

27 

28 II I 
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Mr. Powell's in custody status has made attorney client communication difficult, as such 

a brief extension of the supplemental briefing is now necessary. The parties further stipulate and 

agree that this extension is made in good faith and not intended for the purpose of delay. The 

proposed briefing schedule is set f01th as follows: 

Current Pronosed 
Petitioner's Sunnlement March 30, 2022 Aoril 29, 2022 

7 State's Resnonse Aoril 27, 2022 June 28, 2022 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dated this 16th day of March 2022. 

SGRO&ROGER 

Isl Colleen Savage 
ANTHONY P. SGRO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 3811 
tsgro@sgroandroger.com 
COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ. 
NevadaBarNo. 14947 
csavage@sgroandroger.com 
Attorneys for Petitioner 

2 

OFFICE OF THE CLARK COUNTY 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

Isl Taleen Pandukht 
TALEEN PANDUKHT, ESQ 
Nevada Bar No. 005734 
Taleen.pandukht@clarkcountyda.com 
Attorney for Respondent 
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ORDER 

Based upon the above Stipulation and good cause appearing, IT IS HEREBY 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the new briefing schedule is set forth as 

follows: 

Current Pronosed 
Petitioner's Sunnlement March 30, 2022 Aoril 29, 2022 

7 State's Resoonse Aoril 27, 2022 June 28, 2022 

8 

9 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Hearing on May 25, 2022, is hereby VACATED 
and RESET to August 3, 2022. 

State to prepare an Order To Transport. 

Respectfully submitted by: 

s/ Colleen Savage 
Colleen N. Savage, ESQ 
NevadaBarNo. 14947 
720 South 7th Street, Third floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
csavage@sgroandroger.com 

3 

A-21-839265-W 

F29 106 4E4C DCB? 
Ronald J. Israel 
District Court Judge 

JT 
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CSERV 

Adrian Powell, Plaintiff(s) 

vs. 

Nevada Department of 
Corrections, Defendant(s) 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

CASE NO: A-21-839265-W 

DEPT. NO. Department28 

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

12 This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Stipulation and Order was served via the court's electronic eFile system 

13 to all recipients registered fore-Service on the above entitled case as listed below: 

14 Service Date: 3/18/2022 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 
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24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Clark County District Attorney's Office motions@clarkcountyda.com 
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ANTHONY P. SGRO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 3811 
COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 14947 
SGRO & ROGER 
720 S. 7th Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone No.: (702) 384-9800 
Facsimile No.: (702) 655-4120 
tsgro@sgroandroger.com 
csavage@sgroandroger.com 
Attorneys for Petitioner  

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ADRIAN POWELL, 

Petitioner, 

vs. 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

Respondent 

Case No.: A-21-839265-W 

STIPULATION AND ORDER TO 
EXTEND DEADLINES 

COMES NOW Petitioner, ADRIAN POWELL, by and through his attorneys of record, 

ANTHONY P. SGRO, ESQ., and COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ., and counsel for the State of 

Nevada, TALEEN PANDUKHT, ESQ., hereby stipulate and agree to extend the current deadlines 

set forth in the briefing schedule.  

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

Electronically Filed
04/25/2022 3:34 PM
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Mr. Powell’s in custody status has made attorney client communication difficult, as such 

a brief extension of the supplemental briefing is now necessary. The parties further stipulate and 

agree that this extension is made in good faith and not intended for the purpose of delay. The 

proposed briefing schedule is set forth as follows:  

Current Proposed 
Petitioner’s Supplement April 29, 2022 May 29, 2022 
State’s Response  June 28, 2022 July 28, 2022 

Dated this 22nd  day of April 2022. 

SGRO & ROGER OFFICE OF THE CLARK COUNTY  
DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

/s/Colleen N. Savage /s/Taleen Pandukht 

ANTHONY P. SGRO, ESQ. TALEEN PANDUKHT, ESQ 
Nevada Bar No. 3811  Nevada Bar No. 005734 
tsgro@sgroandroger.com  Taleen.pandukht@clarkcountyda.com  
COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ. Attorney for Respondent 
Nevada Bar No. 14947 
csavage@sgroandroger.com  
Attorneys for Petitioner 
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ORDER 

Based upon the above Stipulation and good cause appearing, IT IS HEREBY 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the new briefing schedule is set forth as 

follows:   

Current Proposed 
Petitioner’s Supplement April 29, 2022 May 29, 2022 
State’s Response  June 28, 2022 July 28, 2022 

 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

___________________________ 

DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

Respectfully submitted by: 

/s/Colleen N. Savage  
Colleen N. Savage, ESQ 
Nevada Bar No. 14947 
720 South 7th Street, Third floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
csavage@sgroandroger.com  

APP000584

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the hearing date for the Petition for Writ of Habeas 
Corpus is CONTINUED to September 14, 2022, at 10:00 a.m. 

;;;; J:C::i 
038 017 1483 6366 

A-21-839265-W Ronald J. Israel 
District Court Judge 

JT 
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-21-839265-WAdrian Powell, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Nevada Department of 
Corrections, Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 28

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Stipulation and Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system 
to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 4/25/2022

E File efile@sgroandroger.com

Colleen Savage csavage@sgroandroger.com

Tanya Hayden thayden@sgroandroger.com

Clark County District Attorney's Office motions@clarkcountyda.com
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Colleen N. Savage, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 14947 
SGRO & ROGER 
720 S. 7th Street, 3rd Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 384-9800 
Facsimile: (702) 665-4120 
csavage@sgroandroger.com 
Attorney for Petitioner 
ADRIAN POWELL 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
***** 

ADRIAN POWELL, 

Petitioner, 

vs. 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

Respondent. 

CASE NO.: A-21-839265-W 
Dept. 28 

SUPPLEMENT TO PETITION FOR 
WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS 

(POST-CONVICTION) 

DATE OF HEARING: 
TIME OF HEARING: 

TO: THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT  OF 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK: 

TO: SHERIFF OF CLARK COUNTY, JOSEPH LOMBARDO, AND HIS COUNSEL, 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY STEVEN B. WOLFSON: 

Case Number: A-21-839265-W

Electronically Filed
5/27/2022 11:53 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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 COMES NOW, Petitioner, ADRIAN POWELL, an inmate in custody at Southern 

Desert, Clark County, Nevada, and petitions this Court for a Writ of Habeas Corpus pursuant 

to NRS 34.724, for cause shows unto this Court the following facts, to wit: 

1. Name of institution and county in which you are being presently imprisoned or here 

and how you are presently restrained of your liberty: Southern Desert, Clark County, Nevada 

2. Name and location of court which entered the judgment of conviction under attack:  

Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark County, Nevada. 

3. Date of judgment of conviction: May 22, 2019. 

4. Case number: C-17-327767-2. 

5. Length of Sentence: At to Count 1 – twelve (12) to forty-eight (48) months; as to Count 

2 – thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) months concurrent with Count 1; as to Count 3 

– five (5) to fifteen (15) years with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) 

months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 2; as to Count 4 – thirty-six (36) to 

one hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) 

months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 3; as to Count 5 - thirty-six (36) to 

one hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) 

months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 4; as to Count 6 - thirty-six (36) to 

one hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) 

months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 5; as to Count 7 - thirty-six (36) to 

one hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) 

months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 6; as to Count 8 – twelve (12) to 

forty-eight (48) months concurrent with Count 7; as to Count 9 – thirty-six (36) to one hundred 

twenty (120) months concurrent with Count 8; as to Count 10 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred 
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twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for 

use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 7; as to Count 11 - thirty-six (36) to one 

hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) 

months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 10; as to Count 13 - five (5) to 

fifteen (15) years with a consecutive  term  of  thirty-six  (36)  to  ninety-six  (96)  months  for  

use  of  a  deadly  weapon consecutive to Count 3;   and as to Count 14 - thirty-six (36) to one 

hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) 

months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 11, with six hundred two (602) days 

credit for time served. The  aggregate  total  sentence  was  five  hundred  fifty-two  (552)  

months  maximum  with  a minimum parole eligibility of one hundred ninety-two (192) 

months; with 1661 days credit for time served. 

6. Are you presently serving a sentence for a conviction other than the conviction under 

attack in this motion? 

Yes _____    No __X__ 

If “yes” list crime, case number and sentence being served at this time: 

7. Nature of offense involved in conviction being challenged: Counts 1 and 8 - 

Conspiracy to Commit Robbery, Counts 2 and 9 - Burglary While in Possession of a Deadly 

Weapon, Counts 3 and 13 - First Degree Kidnapping With Use of a Deadly Weapon, and 

Counts 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 11 and 14 - Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon." Plea: Guilty 

8. Type of Trial: Plea negotiation 

9. Whether Defendant testified at trial: N/A 

10. Whether an appeal was filed from the judgment of conviction: Yes 

11. If an appeal was filed: N/A 
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12. Whether, other than a direct appeal, any petitions, applications, or motions with respect

to this judgment have been filed in any court, state or federal: Yes.

13. If a petition, application, or motion was filed:

a. Name of Court: Eighth Judicial District Court

b. Nature of Proceeding: Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea

c. Grounds Raised:

i. Mr. Powell did not enter the plea voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently;

ii. Mr. Powell accepted the plea agreement based on incorrect information from his

counsel regarding sentencing;

iii. Mr. Powell’s prior counsel did not meet objective standard of representation

which violated his right to counsel guaranteed under the Sixth Amendment to

the United States Constitution as prior counsel did not keep Mr. Powell

informed at every step of the proceedings; and

iv. Mr. Powell was coerced into giving his plea because prior counsel informed

him that there were ten uncharged cases that were pending if he did not accept

the plea deal.

14. Whether there was an evidentiary hearing on the petition, application, or motion: Yes.

15. Whether there was an appeal to the highest state court having jurisdiction the result of

action taken on any petition, application, or motion: Yes.

16. If an appeal was filed:

a. Name of Court: Supreme Court of Nevada

b. Result: The Court remanded the decision back to the Eighth Judicial District Court

c. Date of Result: Opinion filed May 11, 2020; Remittitur issued June 5, 2020
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d. Grounds Raised:

i. Mr. Powell did not enter the plea voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently;

ii. Mr. Powell accepted the plea agreement based on incorrect information from his

counsel regarding sentencing;

iii. Mr. Powell’s prior counsel did not meet objective standard of representation

which violated his right to counsel guaranteed under the Sixth Amendment to

the United States Constitution as prior counsel did not keep Mr. Powell

informed at every step of the proceedings; and

iv. Mr. Powell was coerced into giving his plea because prior counsel informed

him that there were ten uncharged cases that were pending if he did not accept

the plea deal.

17. Attorneys who represented Defendant:

a. Arraignment and plea: Michael C. Kane, Esq., Retained.

b. Sentencing: Michael C. Kane, Esq., Retained.

c. Motion to Withdraw Plea: Monique A. McNeil, Esq., Retained.

d. Appeal from Denial of Motion to Withdraw Plea: Monique A. McNeil, Esq.,

Retained.

e. Remanded Motion to Withdraw Plea: Monique A. McNeil, Esq., Retained.

18. State concisely every ground on which you claim that you are being held unlawfully.

Summarize briefly the facts supporting each ground.  If necessary, you may attach

pages stating additional ground and facts supporting the same:
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 On November 8, 2017, Indictment returned in the District Court charging Defendants 

Larenzo Pinkey, and Adrian Powell with two (2) counts of Conspiracy To Commit Robbery 

(Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 199.480), two (2) counts of Burglary While In Possession 

Of A Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 205.060), three (3) counts of First Degree 

Kidnapping With Use Of A Deadly Weapon (Category A Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320, 

193.165), seven (7) counts of Robbery With Use Of A Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony - 

NRS 200.380, 193.165) and one (1) count of Unlawful Taking Of Vehicle (Gross 

Misdemeanor - NRS 205.2715). (Exhibit “A” at 1-8). All charges stemmed from robberies that 

occurred at a Pepe’s Tacos restaurant and a Walgreens store in Las Vegas, Nevada on 

September 28, 2017. Id.  

On November 13, 2017, the defendant Mr. Powell was arraigned on the aforementioned 

charges in the District Court. Michael Kane Esq. was appointed on the case, and subsequently 

Roy Nelson Esq. was appointed to assist Mr. Kane. (Exhibit Q at 5). Over the course of the 

next eight months, Mr. Kane met with Mr. Powell approximately two times. Id. at 18.  Mr. 

Nelson allegedly met with Mr. Powell once with Mr. Kane. Id. at 16. The case ultimately 

proceeded to jury trial on July 30, 2018. Voir Dire commenced on Monday, July 30, 2018. 

(Exhibit “Q” at 6). Court concluded for the day, and the parties returned the following day to 

resume jury selection. Id. at 8. That morning, negotiations commenced, and Mr. Kane was 

shown a whiteboard with various other robberies that the State claimed to be pursuing. Id. 

Upon information and belief Mr. Nelson was not present during this negotiation period. The 

State threatened to charge Mr. Powell with these charges unless the plea deal was taken. Id. at 

20. The State also offered to take life sentence off the table. Id. 
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Mr. Powell agreed to plead guilty pursuant to the Guilty Plea Agreement after Mr. 

Kane advised Mr. Powell to take the deal after stating that he would spend the rest of his life in 

prison if he did not. (Exhibit “I” at 10-11). 

Mr. Powell pled guilty, the jury was discharged, and a sentencing date was set.  On 

October 31, 2018, prior to sentencing, Mr. Powell expressed concerns regarding his counsel 

and the guilty plea agreement, and his current counsel, Michael Kane was withdrawn and 

Monique McNeil, Esq. was appointed.  On January 14, 2019, Petitioner filed a Motion to 

Withdraw Guilty Plea, requesting an evidentiary hearing.  (Exhibit “I” at 1). On February 5, 

2019, the State filed its Opposition. (Exhibit “J” at 1). On February 27 2019, the District Court 

denied Petitioner’s motion without conducting an evidentiary hearing.  

On May 22, 2019, Petitioner was sentenced to the Nevada Department of Corrections 

as follows: as to Count 1 – twelve (12) to forty-eight (48) months; as to Count 2 – thirty-six 

(36) to one hundred twenty (120) months concurrent with Count 1; as to Count 3 – five (5) to 

fifteen (15) years with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of 

a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 2; as to Count 4 – thirty-six (36) to one hundred 

twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for 

use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 3; as to Count 5 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred 

twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for 

use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 4; as to Count 6 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred 

twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for 

use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 5; as to Count 7 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred 

twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for 

use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 6; as to Count 8 – twelve (12) to forty-eight 
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(48) months concurrent with Count 7; as to Count 9 – thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty

(120) months concurrent with Count 8; as to Count 10 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty

(120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a

deadly weapon concurrent with Count 7; as to Count 11 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty 

(120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a

deadly weapon concurrent with Count 10; as to Count 13 - five (5) to fifteen (15) years with a 

consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly weapon 

consecutive to Count 3; and as to Count 14 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) 

months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly 

weapon concurrent with Count 11, with six hundred two (602) days credit for time served. The 

aggregate total sentence was five hundred fifty-two (552) months maximum with a minimum 

parole eligibility of one hundred ninety-two (192) months. (Exhibit K at 1-4) 

The Judgment of Conviction was filed on May 24, 2019. Id. 

The Defendant filed a direct appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court challenging only the 

Court’s denial of his Motion to Withdraw his Guilty Plea on June 14, 2019. (Exhibit “M” at 1-

3) The Nevada Supreme Court reversed and remanded to the district court to conduct an

evidentiary hearing on May 11, 2020. (Exhibit “R” at 1).  Remittitur was issued on June 5, 

2020.  Id. at 6. 

The Court conducted an Evidentiary Hearing on August 13, 2020, at which only Mr.  

Kane was called as a witness to testify. (Exhibit “Q” at 1). Mr. Nelson was not requested to 

appear by Ms. McNeil. Id. Following the testimony, the Court found the Petitioner was not 

entitled to relief. Id. at 33-37.  The Court found there was no ineffective assistance of counsel 

and no grounds or fair and just reason to withdraw Petitioner’s plea. Id.  The Findings of Fact, 
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Conclusions of Law and Order was filed on March 4, 2021. (Exhibit “S” at 1). Ms. McNeil 

failed to file a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction) and failed to counsel 

Petitioner on his ability to do so. 

On August 10, 2021, Ms. McNeil filed a declaration stating that she failed to file a 

timely Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction). (Exhibit “Y” at 1-2) On August 

10, 2021, Petitioner filed the pro se Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). 

(Exhibit “E” at 1 to 17). On September 9th, 2021, the state filed a Response to the Writ of 

Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction).  

On October 14, 2021, Mr. Powell filed a Motion to Dismiss Ms. McNeil as counsel. 

(Exhibit “T” at 1).  District Court granted the Motion to Dismiss Ms. McNeil on November 29, 

2021. (XX).  Undersigned counsel, Colleen Savage, Esq. was subsequently appointed on 

January 26, 2022.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 Adrian Powell and Larenzo Pinkey were arrested on September 28, 2017. (Exhibit “A” 

at 1) The following is a summary of the victims’ testimony from the Grand Jury presentation, 

as well as a summary of the forensic evidence and the circumstantial evidence that may have 

been presented at trial. 

A. Testimony of Jose Chavarria 

Jose Alfredo Chavarria Valenzuela was working as a cook at Pepe’s Tacos located at 2490 

Fremont Street, Las Vegas, Nevada on September 28, 2017. (Exhibit “B” at 32-33). At 

approximately 2:40 AM, Chavarria was in kitchen area when two men entered the restaurant. 

Id. at 35. Chavarria ran toward the back refrigerator where his co-worker was located, when 

one of the men jumped the counter, followed Chavarria and pointed a gun at him. Id. The man 
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allegedly pointed his gun at Chavarria and Chavarria jumped on the ground. It is alleged that 

Chavarria was directed from the back of the store to the front cash registers who was unable to 

open the till because he did not have the correct password. Id. at 36. The second man then 

retrieved Chavarria’s coworker to assist Chavarria in opening the cash registers. Id. at 37. One 

of the men then took Chavarria to the second cash register, where he was either thrown to the 

ground or ordered to his knees, Chavarria’s testimony is unclear.  Id. The men then took the 

money from the cash registers but did not take any property from Chavarria. Id. at 37-38. 

B. Testimony of Yenir Hessing 

Yenir Hessing works as the shift lead at the Walgreens located at 4470 East Bonanza, Las 

Vegas, Nevada. Id. at 7. On September 28, 2017, Hessing was working the graveyard shift 

with four other Walgreens employees when, at approximately 4:05 AM, two masked gunmen 

entered the store. Id. at 8-10. 

Hessing was stocking the shelves in the food aisle when one of the men allegedly 

pointed a gun at her, demanding she move to the front of the store where he told her to open 

the three cash registers, which Hessing did. Id. At that moment, another Walgreens employee, 

Tifnie Bobbitt returned from lunch and was ordered toward the office located at the back of the 

store. Id. at 10.  

Upon reaching the back office, Hessing entered the code and Hessing and Bobbitt were 

ordered in. Id. at 15-16. In the office, it is alleged that the man began hitting Hessing in the ribs 

with the gun and demanding that she open the safe. Id.at 17. Hessing opened the first of two 

safes and the man grabbed everything. Id. The man then demanded Hessing open the second 

safe, which she did. Id. The gunman grabbed the contents from the second safe and fled. Id. 

 

APP000595



 

 

 

-11- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

ARGUMENT 

Mr. Powell’s legal representation has continuously and spectacularly failed to meet the 

reasonable standard expected and guaranteed to him by the Sixth Amendment. These errors 

prejudiced his defense in literally every stage of the case, from pre-trial litigation, to 

negotiating the plea agreement, and even during post-conviction proceedings. Not only was 

Mr. Powell subjected to ineffective assistance by his trial counsel, but he was failed by the 

attorney who was appointed to remedy trial counsel’s prior errors. Trial counsel undermined 

Mr. Powell’s defense during their pre-litigation representation by failing to challenge 

unconstitutionally permitted charges by not challenging anything via motion practice. They 

also failed to properly investigate alibi witnesses and failed to reveal the conflict of interest 

that prevented Mr. Powell from receiving effective assistance of counsel.   

Michael C. Kane, Esq. was Mr. Powell’s appointed counsel up to the entry of the guilty 

plea agreement. Supposedly, he has tried approximately twenty (20) civil cases. (Exhibit “P” at 

24). Recognizing his own lack of experience, Mr. Kane added Roy Nelson, a criminal trial 

lawyer, as first chair. Id. at 3. Apparently, unbeknownst to Mr. Kane, Mr. Nelson was suffering 

from documented substance abuse issues which were impacting his ability to perform his 

duties as an attorney. (Exhibit “W” and “X”) Mr. Kane was representing a client facing three 

life sentences and an additional one hundred and fifty years in prison on fifteen (15) charges 

having never tried a criminal case. (Exhibit “A” at 1-3). On top of all of that, the horrific loss 

of his newly born twins during this same period of time. (Exhibit “Q” at 24). Prior to trial, Mr. 

Kane only visited Mr. Powell “two to three times” with Mr. Nelson only attending one of those 

visits. Id. at 18. Not surprisingly, then, pretrial investigation and motion practice was virtually 

nonexistent. This created an untenable, powerless, and unfair position for Mr. Powell. 
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Amazingly, Mr. Powell suffered from the fact that both of his lawyers were dealing with 

substantial personal ordeals and tragedies that placed Mr. Powell in the untenable position of 

having to rely upon them for key decisions, including entry of plea. Id. at 34. (Exhibit “W” and 

“X”). 

At the time originally set for sentencing hearing, Mr. Powell expressed concern 

regarding his guilty plea agreement and his reliance on counsel which prompted the court to 

dismiss trial counsel and appoint Ms. McNeil. While Ms. McNeil filed the motion to withdraw 

the guilty plea for Mr. Powell, her subsequent representation was plagued with missed 

deadlines. (Exhibit “I” at 1-7). 

The combined effect of the ineffective assistance of counsel, the trial court’s refusal to 

grant motion to withdraw guilty plea agreement, and the unconstitutionality of the dual 

criminal liability of the charges were contrary to clearly established Nevada Law and resulted 

in decisions all to the detriment of Mr. Powell. Mr. Powell now respectfully requests that this 

Court grant this Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus for all reasons set forth herein.  

I. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

The Sixth Amendment right to counsel has been recognized by the United States Supreme 

Court which includes the right to “the effective assistance of counsel” during criminal 

proceedings. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063, 80 L.Ed.2d 

674 (1984) (citing McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, n. 14, 90 S.Ct. 1441, 1449, n. 

14, 25 L.Ed.2d 763 (1970)).  When measuring any claim of ineffectiveness, the standard is 

“whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process 

that the proceeding cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Paine v. State, 110 

Nev. 609, 620, 877 P.2d 1025, 1031 (1994) (Overruled on other grounds by Leslie v. Warden, 

118 Nev. 773, 59 P.3d 440 (2002)). 
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As the Second Circuit Court of Appeals held, the proper standard for attorney performance 

is that of reasonably effective assistance. See Trapnell v. United States, 725 F.2d, at 151-152. 

The Court indirectly recognized as much when it stated in McMann v. Richardson, supra, 397 

U.S., at 770, 771, 90 S.Ct., at 1448, 1449, that a guilty plea cannot be attacked when based on 

inadequate legal advice unless trial counsel was not “a reasonably competent attorney” and the 

advice was not “within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” See 

also Cuvier v. Sullivan, supra, 446 U.S., at 344, 100 S.Ct., at 1716. When a convicted 

defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show 

that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 687-88. In order to establish that representation fell below an objective standard of 

reasonableness, defendants must meet the factors set forth within the  Strickland test: 

(1) “First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient.
This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel
was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the
Sixth Amendment.

(2) Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance
prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were
so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is
reliable.”

A. PRE-LITIGATION INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Mr. Powell experienced prejudice from the onset when he was first appointed trial counsel.

Defendants have an incredible reliance on their counsel not only during trial, but through the 

entire process of litigation.  Defense counsel has the responsibility to defend against extraneous 

charges and engage in pretrial motion practice, which is an objective standard for competent, 

effective representation. Instead, Mr. Powell was left helpless as his counsel entirely failed to 

engage in any pretrial motion practice which deprived him of a fair trial and prejudiced his 
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defense from the start.  Mr. Powell’s inability to challenge any charges prior to trial, combined 

with inexperienced, distracted counsel left him vulnerable to the adversarial process.  

i. TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE FATALLY FLAWED
COMPLAINT.

The State’s Indictment charged Mr. Powell with three counts of First-Degree 

Kidnapping in relation to the alleged robbery victims. (Exhibit “A” at 2). Each of these charges 

carried a potential life sentence, which was the harshest punishment contained in the charging 

document. Id. Trial counsel failed to engage in any pretrial motion practice to contest these 

charges, despite longstanding Nevada law giving a defendant the right to prevent dual criminal 

liability when kidnapping charges overlap with robbery charges. Had trial counsel been 

successful in dismissing the Kidnapping Charges during pretrial motion practice, it would have 

changed the entire dynamic of plea negotiations, and, ultimately, Powell’s decision to plead 

guilty. 

The ability to attack the kidnapping charges was available from the start of this case. 

This legal distinction between robbery and kidnaping and the dual criminal liability is more 

thoroughly set forth in section II below. Under Nevada law, the test found in Mendoza 

differentiated the movement that was incidental to robbery as opposed to kidnapping where the 

movement (1) substantially increases the risk of harm; and (2) substantially exceeds that 

required to complete the associated crime. Mendoza v. State, 122 Nev. 267, 274-75, 130 P.3d 

176, 180-81 (2006).  

In the instant matter, Grand Jury testimony revealed that the robbery victims were only 

moved as a means for the suspects to carry out the robbery. The intent of the suspects in each 

robbery was to steal money from both locations via cash register and safe. In Mr. Chavarria’s 

case, this could not be accomplished due to Mr. Chavarria being unable to open the cash 
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register resulting in him ending up on the ground. (Exhibit “B” at 37). In Ms. Hessing’s case, 

this could not be accomplished without Ms. Hessing opening the cash registers in the front of 

the store or the safe in the office. In other words, all movement of the victims that took place 

was incidental and necessary in order to commit the robberies. Id. at 7-17. 

So long as the kidnapping is incidental to the robbery, defense counsel can attack the 

kidnapping charges prior to trial. Sheriff, Clark County v. Medberrv, 96 Nev. 202, 204, 606 P. 

2d 181, 182 (1980); Langford v. State, 95 Nev. 631, 638-639, 600 P.2d 231, 236-37 (1979). 

This is a case where the grounds are clear. Counsel’s failure to attack the kidnapping counts 

left three life sentences on the table, which turned out to be one of the main sources of leverage 

the State used to coerce Powell into signing the plea agreement.  (Exhibit “Q” at 20). Had trial 

counsel filed a pretrial Writ of Habeas Corpus Mr. Powell would have had the opportunity to 

argue for dismissal of the kidnapping charges. However, because there was not a pretrial Writ 

of Habeas Corpus filed, and the joinder filed by trial counsel was dismissed as untimely, it 

placed Mr. Powell at a significant disadvantage when it came time to negotiate a plea deal.  

Mr. Powell was prejudiced by this deficient performance because there existed a reasonable 

probability that some, if not all, of the kidnapping charges would have been dismissed. Had 

these charges been dismissed, there is a significant probability that Powell would have rejected 

the State’s offer and insisted on going to trial. 

Not only did trial counsel fail to submit a Pretrial Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on 

Mr. Powell’s behalf, trial counsel failed to file a single pretrial motion.  Mr. Powell’s counsel 

did not contest a single piece of evidence with pretrial motion practice. Notably, there was not 

one motion pertaining to suppression of evidence, jury questionnaires, voir dire methodologies, 
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nor opening statements. The record is wholly deficient, making it nearly impossible for Mr. 

Powell to create a defense on the spot at trial.  

ii. A CONFLICT OF INTEREST DEVELOPED BETWEEN DEFENSE COUNSEL
AND THE CLIENT DURING THE CASE.

The Nevada Supreme Court held that when the defense counsel has based his

recommendations on a plea bargain and tactical decision upon factors that would further his 

own personal ambitions as opposed to his client’s best interests, it was that conduct which “fell 

below an objective standard of reasonableness” and resulted in “prejudice” to his client.  

Larson v. State, 104 Nev. 691, 694, 766 P.2d 261, 263 (1988).  

Here, Mr. Powell’s constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel was severely 

impacted by the personal circumstances each of his trial counsel were experiencing during 

their representation which resulted in prejudice to Mr. Powell and ultimately created a conflict 

of interest. Specifically, Mr. Nelson was referred to the Nevada Bar for professional 

misconduct, which impacted his ability to practice law resulting in his removal from multiple 

cases. (Exhibit “U”, “W”, “X”). Details surrounding Mr. Roy’s circumstances are well 

documented in his case currently postured before the Nevada Supreme Court, Case No. 84369; 

In Re: Discipline of Roy L. Nelson, III. (Exhibit “W”, “X”). Due to the personal struggles Mr. 

Nelson was facing, he could not possibly act in the best interest of Mr. Powell as lead trial 

counsel, and thus his representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness as set 

forth in Larson. 

Like Mr. Nelson, trial counsel Kane was also preoccupied with a personal situation 

which impacted his ability to perform his duties as an attorney. Tragically, while representing 

Mr. Powell, Mr. Nelson experienced a terrible family tragedy which forced him to work from 

home from March 2017 to May 2017. (Exhibit “Q” at 24). Trial preparation during the last few 
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months leading up to trial is of incredible importance and time is extremely valuable to be able 

to adequately prepare for trial. Trial preparation includes, amongst many others, meeting 

clients, reviewing evidence, devising a trial strategy, and discussing theories of the case, all of 

which are necessary to sufficiently prepare for trial. Unfortunately, Mr. Kane’s personal 

circumstances and lack of criminal experience rendered him incapable of adequately preparing 

for a complex trial as in the instant matter, resulting in Mr. Powell receiving ineffective 

assistance of counsel. Mr. Kane conceded to his lack of experience, stating under oath that he 

brought Mr. Nelson on to Mr. Powell’s case to act as the “first chair” specifically due to his 

lack of criminal experience.     

Q. Mr. Kane, how many criminal jury trials have you done?  At the time --   

A. That would have been my first criminal jury trial. 

… 

Q. And so you said you brought Roy Nelson on.  Was Roy going to be considered first 
 chair or second chair?  

A He was going to be considered first chair, I believe.  I was planning on doing the voir 
 dire.  I was going to do at least one witness.  

Id. at 22.  

Mr. Kane further conceded he was only able to visit Mr. Powell approximately two 

times prior to the commencement of his trial, only one of which Mr. Nelson allegedly attended.  

Id. at 18. It is unimaginable for even the most experienced criminal defense attorneys to 

adequately prepare for trial after only two visits with a client. There is no time to completely 

review the evidence, create a defense strategy, and discuss the potential consequences of trial 

in just a few hours.  

Mr. Kane and Mr. Nelson’s personal circumstances created a situation where both 
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parties could be reasonably understood as distracted resulting in deficient performance as 

counsel to Mr. Powell.   

While this situation is different from the representation in Larson, where the attorney 

made recommendations based on his personal ambitions which led to prejudice, here we have 

two attorneys, facing substantial personal crises over the course of Mr. Powell’s case, and 

when faced with the first opportunity to take a Plea Agreement regardless of the merit, defense 

counsel advised their client to take the erroneous deal. Id. at 20. Mr. Kane and Mr. Nelson’s 

personal struggles restricted their ability to adequately prepare permitting only a nominal 

approach to Mr. Powell’s case. Trial counsel failed to advise Mr. Powell about the potential 

consequences of accepting the plea deal. Further, trial counsel failed to challenge the State 

when threatened with additional uncharged crimes where no discovery had been reviewed, 

which revealed a pattern of making recommendations and tactical decisions based on personal 

motives as opposed to Mr. Powell’s best interest.  But for the prejudiced advice from Mr. Kane 

and Mr. Nelson, it is reasonable that the proceeding would have been different.  

iii. TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO THOROUGHLY INVESTIGATE MR. 
POWELL’s ALIBI AND ALIBI WITNESSES 
 

When a defense attorney fails to conduct an adequate investigation, he denies his client his 

Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 

668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); also see Warner v. State, 102 Nev. 635, 638, 729 

P.2d 1359, 1361 (1986). 

Under Strickland, the defense counsel has a duty “to make every reasonable investigation 

or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” 466 U.S. 

668. The trial counsel, at a minimum, must conduct a reasonable investigation enabling him to 

APP000603



 

 

 

-19- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

make informed decisions regarding how to best represent his client. Phillips v. Woodford, 267 

F.3d 966, 978 (9th Cir. 2002). Pretrial investigation is a critical area in any criminal case and 

failure to accomplish that investigation has been held to constitute ineffective assistance 

of counsel. The Nevada Supreme Court stated: “It is still recognized that a primary 

requirement is that counsel... conduct careful factual and legal investigations and inquires with 

a view toward developing matters of defense in order that they make informed decisions on his 

client's behalf both at the pleading stage... and at trial.” Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 537 

P.2d 473-474 (1975). 

The Federal Courts also hold that pretrial investigation and preparation for trial are a key 

to effective representation of counsel. U.S. v. Tucker, 716 F.2d 576 (1983). When the 

deficiencies in counsel's performance can be found to be severe and cannot be characterized as 

the product of strategic judgment, ineffectiveness may be clear. United States v. Gray, 878 

F.2d 702, 711 (3d Cir. 1989). Thus, the courts of appeals agree that failure to conduct any 

pretrial investigation generally constitutes a clear instance of ineffectiveness. Id.  

In Warner v. State, 102 Nev. 635, 729 P.2d 1359 (1986), the Nevada Supreme Court 

found that trial counsel was ineffective when counsel had failed to conduct an adequate pretrial 

investigation, failed to properly utilize the full-time investigator employed by the public 

defender, and failed to prepare for the testimony of defense witnesses. See also, Sanborn v. 

State, 107 Nev. 399, 812 P.2d 1279 (1991). “At a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview 

potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of 

the case.” Crisp v. Duckworth, 743 F.2d 580, 583 (7th Cir.1984), cert, denied, 469 U.S. 1226, 

105 S.Ct. 1221, 84 L.Ed.2d 361 (1985). Ineffectiveness is generally clear in the context of 

complete failure to investigate because counsel can hardly be said to have made a strategic 
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choice against pursuing a certain line of investigation when s/he has not yet obtained the facts 

on which such a decision could be made. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91.  

The Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals held that when counsel did not investigate his client’s 

alibi prior to trial that satisfied the requirement of the Strickland test for ineffective counsel.  

Grooms v. Solem, 923 F.2d 88, 90 (8th Cir. 1991) The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals also held 

that when the previous counsel failed to interview the alibi witnesses prior to trial that was 

found to be unreasonable thus satisfying the Strickland test. Clark v. Redman, 911 F.2d 731 

(6th Cir. 1990). 

As stated above, a failure to investigate qualifies as a deficiency of trial counsel 

under Strickland. Trial counsel did not conduct any pretrial investigation for Powell's alibi, 

despite his insistence that he had an alibi and provided contact information for alibi witnesses. 

(Exhibit “I” at 10). To prove prejudice, Powell must present a “reasonable probability that, but 

for trial counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been 

different.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. A reasonable probability is a “probability sufficient to 

undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. Virtually no investigation was done to substantiate 

Powell’s alibi prior to trial counsel’s advice to accept the State’s plea deal. Powell was facing 

numerous serious felony charges and several life sentences, yet nothing was done to potentially 

exonerate Powell of any guilt by providing a clear alibi. Powell provided contact information 

for an alibi witness, in this case his fiancé. Despite Mr. Powell’s request to investigate this alibi 

neither his trial counsel nor anyone acting on their behalf reached out to this witness to discuss 

anything alibi related at any point during their representation. (Exhibit “Q” at 17). This court 

should be convinced that had the case been properly investigated and prepared for trial, and 

had counsel been effective, that the outcome would have been different. 
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B. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL - GUILTY PLEA AGREEMENT 

AND MOTION TO WITHDRAW 
 

i.       COUNSEL MISREPRESENTED TO HIS CLIENT THE PLEA DEAL HE 
WOULD BE ENTERING  

 
It has long been the law that a plea of guilty is constitutionally valid only to the extent it is 

“voluntary” and “intelligent. Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748, 25 L.Ed.2d 747, 90 

S.Ct. 1463 (1970). This standard connotes a two-part test. 

The first prong of this test requires that the plea be intelligent. The United States Supreme 

Court has held that: 

A plea does not qualify as intelligent unless a criminal defendant first receives real 
notice of a true nature of a charge against him, the first and most universally recognized 
requirement of due process. Bousley v. United States, 523 U.S. 614, 618, 118 S.Ct. 
1604 (1998) (internal citation omitted). 
 

Second, a plea must be voluntary. The voluntary prong is addressed as follows: 

A plea of guilty entered by one fully aware of the direct consequences, including the 
actual value of any commitments made to him by the court, prosecutor, or his own 
counsel, must stand unless induced by threats (or promises to discontinue improper 
harassment), misrepresentation (including *10 unfulfilled or unfulfillable promises), or 
perhaps by promises that are by their nature improper as having no proper relationship 
to the prosecutor's business (e.g. bribes). Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 755. 
 

A “knowing” plea is one entered into with a full understanding of the nature of the charge 

and all the consequences for the plea.  Boykin v. Alabama, 395 US 238 (1969) A plea 

agreement is construed according to what the defendant reasonable understood when he 

entered the plea.  Statz v. State 113 Nev. 987, 993, 944 P.2d 813, 817 (1997); Sulivan v. State, 

115 Nev. 383, 387, 990 P.2d 1258, 1260 (1999) The defendant’s reasonable understanding is 

distinguishable from the mere subjective belief of defendant as to any potential sentence, or 

hope of leniency, unsupported by a promise from the state or an indication by the court.  See 

Rouse v. State, 91 Nev. 677, 541 P. 2d 643 (1975)  
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A defendant who enters a guilty plea based on the advice of counsel may refute the guilty 

plea by demonstrating the ineffectiveness of counsel’s performance violated the defendant’s 

right to counsel guaranteed under the sixth amendment to the US constitution.  Nollete v. State, 

118 Nev. 341, 348-349, 46 P.3d 87, 92 (2002); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 

(1984) A defendant must substantiate their claim of ineffective assistance of counsel by 

showing counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and a 

reasonable probability exists that, but for counsel’s erroneous advice, the defendant would not 

have pled guilty.  Id; Warden v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984); Hill v. 

Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S. Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985) 

Mr. Powell asserts that his plea was signed involuntarily because of the 

misrepresentations made by his counsel during plea negotiations. These misrepresentations 

included unfulfilled and unfulfillable promises of a sentence that guaranteed six to fifteen years 

in prison. (Exhibit “I” at 10-11). His attorney could not promise something that is left to the 

court's discretion, and the actual sentencing decision was significantly different from what 

counsel had promised. Mr. Powell’s counsel also failed to investigate or request discovery on 

the undocumented charges that could result in an additional three hundred years of prison for 

Mr. Powell prior to advising him to agree to the offered Plea Deal. (Exhibit “Q” at 8). At no 

point would Mr. Powell have had a reasonable understanding of these threatened charges prior 

to signing the Guilty Plea Agreement. This is clearly due to Mr. Powell’s attorney’s ineffective 

assistance of counsel and erroneous advice. These promises and failures to effectively 

communicate the nature of the deal fully implicate the Brady rule and invalidate the plea deal. 

Had Mr. Powell known that there was a possibility that these additional charges were bare and 

naked, and had he known that the sentence communicated to him was not guaranteed then he 
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would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Therefore, Mr. Powell 

is entitled to relief by way of granting this Writ of Habeas Corpus.  

 
ii.       COUNSEL FAILED TO ASK THE STATE TO PROVIDE DISCOVERY ON 

ALLEGED NEW CRIMINAL CASES THAT INFLUENCED GUILTY PLEA 
 

The Supreme Court held that to succeed in the second prong of the Strickland test when 

arguing that ineffective assistance was erroneous plea advice, the defendant must prove that 

they would have entered a different plea but for counsel’s performance.  Hill v. Lockhart. 

When the deficiencies in counsel's performance can be found to be severe and cannot be 

characterized as the product of strategic judgment, ineffectiveness may be clear. United States 

v. Gray, 878 F.2d 702, 711 (3d Cir. 1989). Thus, the courts of appeals agree that failure to 

conduct any pretrial investigation generally constitutes a clear instance of ineffectiveness. Id. 

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that for a valid plea to stand, the Defendant must 

understand the elements of offense to which the plea was entered or made factual statements to 

court which constitute admission to offence pled to. State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1137, 865 

P.2d 322, 329 (1993) When determining if trail counsel was effective, the court determines 

whether counsel made a “sufficient inquiry into the information pertinent to his client’s case.” 

Doleman v. State, 112 Nev. 843, 848, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996). And then whether counsel 

made a “reasonable strategy decision on how to proceed with his client’s case.” Id.  While trial 

counsel is not required to exhaust all avenues of defense, that is only relevant when “counsel 

and the client in a criminal case clearly understand the evidence and the permutations of proof 

and outcome” Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004). 

 In this case, Mr. Kane and Mr. Nelson clearly failed to obtain discovery and understand 

the probability of the charges actually being filed against Mr. Powell, and thus failed to 
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effectively construct a reasonable strategy for their client which led to clear prejudice by Mr. 

Powell accepting the Guilty Plea Agreement.  Under Strickland, the first prong is the attorney’s 

performance must be proven to be deficient. This can be shown by trial counsel’s erroneous 

advice to Mr. Powell to accept a Guilty Plea Agreement with the State where a significant 

component of that agreement was based on the State agreeing to not charge Mr. Powell with 

ten additional robbery charges. (Exhibit “Q” at 8). Not only had trial counsel never reviewed 

the discovery from those new cases; the only alleged evidence they were presented with were 

photos on a police white board. Id. Even if other factors were included in the negotiation of the 

Guilty Plea Agreement, such as taking life sentence off the table from the previously charged 

crimes, the threat of ten additional robbery charges which could amount to a maximum of 150 

years in prison which amounts to an additional life sentence on top of the previous charges. Id. 

Mr. Powell was placed in the untenable position where, not only did he face three life 

sentences from the original charges being brought against him, but he was faced with the 

possibility of being sentenced to an additional three hundred years for crimes in which he had 

no ability to review or even understand. Id. Mr. Powell relied on the representation appointed 

to him to understand and represent him within a range of competence guaranteed to him by the 

sixth amendment, and to reasonably advise him on this new and objectively significant change 

in his case.  The response of Mr. Powell’s legal counsel was not to delay the trial for review of 

these new charges being threatened by the State that clearly changed the dynamic of the entire 

case, or even to request the discovery from these new cases, but to advise their client to blindly 

accept the State’s deal.  Id. This advice clearly shows a lack of baseline competency expected 

of an attorney advising a client of a deal with life altering consequences.   

Under Strickland, the second prong requires a reasonable probability that Mr. Powell 
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would have, but for counsels’ unprofessional errors, resulted in a different outcome during the 

Plea Agreement Negotiation.  It is apparent that these new allegations would not only prejudice 

Mr. Powell subjectively but would prejudice an objectively reasonable person in Mr. Powell’s 

position.  The threat of an additional three hundred years of imprisonment combined with the 

danger of the unknown is clearly a factor that could have affected Mr. Powell’s decision to take 

a plea deal.  While these new allegations may or may not have been able to have been brought 

by the State, Mr. Powell was in no position to understand or be able to understand these new 

charges. This type of erroneous advice by trial counsel, which not only shows a clear and 

obvious lack of understanding of these new potential charges being brought against Mr. 

Powell, but a total lack of meaningful assistance.  The ineffective assistance of Mr. Powell’s 

counsel plainly falls below the objective standard of reasonableness required, and the 

reasonable probability of Mr. Powell not pleading guilty but for counsel’s erroneous advice 

plainly exists.  

• INEFFECTIVE ASSITANCE OF COUNSEL THROUGHOUT COLLATERAL 

PROCEEDINGS. 

 Unfortunately, the ineffective assistance of counsel did not stop after the imposition of 

Mr. Powell’s sentence. Following the judgment of conviction filed on May 24, 2019, Ms. 

McNeil failed to file a direct appeal which challenged both the district court’s denial of the 

Motion to Withdraw the Guilty Plea, in addition to challenging the overall Judgment of 

Conviction producing a procedural default. Furthermore, Ms. McNeil wholly failed to file, or 

even advise Mr. Powell of his ability to file a Writ of Habeas Corpus within one year after 

entry of the March 4, 2021 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Ms. McNeil admitted to 

this shortcoming in a sworn declaration dated August 10, 2021. (Exhibit “Y” at 1-2) 
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A counsel’s ineffectiveness can be found when they failed to properly “preserve a 

claim for state-court review” but “only if that ineffectiveness itself constitutes an independent 

constitutional claim”. Edwards v. Carpenter, 529 U.S. 446, 447, 120 S. Ct. 1587, 1589, 146 L. 

Ed. 2d 518 (2000). Ms. McNeil’s performance continuously fell below the objective standard 

of reasonableness. First, Ms. McNeil failed to challenge the Judgement of Conviction in its 

entirety when she filed the June 14, 2019 Notice of Appeal, wherein she only challenged the 

district court’s denial of the Motion to Withdraw the Guilty Plea Agreement. (Exhibit “I” at 1). 

Failure to challenge the overall judgment forever waived Mr. Powell’s ability to do so on direct 

appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court. Despite this, the Nevada Supreme Court remanded the 

case for the purpose of conducting an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Powell’s Motion to Withdraw 

the Guilty Plea Agreement. (Exhibit “R” at 1) At the hearing, Ms. McNeil failed to call 

relevant witnesses including “lead trial counsel” Roy Nelson who had been under scrutiny with 

the Nevada Bar for suspected substance abuse and overall ineffective assistance. (Exhibit “Q” 

at 1-2) Instead, Ms. McNeil only requested to examine one of Mr. Powell’s former attorneys, 

Michael Kane. Id. Incredibly, Ms. McNeil waived the opportunity to examine Mr. Nelson, 

under oath, failing to obtain testimony regarding Mr. Nelson’s preparation, counseling of Mr. 

Powell and overall trial strategy. The Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea Agreement was entirely 

based on ineffective council and the fact that only one of Mr. Powell’s attorneys was called for 

examination by Ms. McNeil clearly prevents Mr. Powell being able to reasonably defend his 

claim properly especially when considering the aforementioned issues Roy Nelson was facing.   

Following the May 24, 2019, Judgment of Conviction, McNeil again failed to provide 

effective counsel to Mr. Powell by failing to file a direct appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court 

challenging not only the district court’s denial of the Motion to Withdraw the Guilty Plea, but 
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the overall Judgment of Conviction, which led to the waiver of this claim. Furthermore, 

following the March 4, 2021, Findings of Fact in Conclusions of Law, Ms. McNeil failed to 

file a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in a timely fashion, nor did she advise Mr. Powell of 

his ability to challenge this ruling altogether. The details of this error can be seen in the sworn 

declaration drafted by Ms. McNeil and filed on Mr. Powell’s behalf where she plainly states 

that she miscalculated the date which led to Mr. Powell missing the date to appeal the court’s 

decision based on her error. (Exhibit “Y” at 1-2) 

Ms. McNeil has not only failed to advise Mr. Powell on the timeliness on two important 

deadlines, but that failure has thereby waived any remedy Mr. Powell could have received by 

appealing the district court’s decision denying his Motion to Withdraw his Guilty Plea 

Agreement.  This has prejudiced Mr. Powell’s ability to adequately challenge his conviction. 

But for Ms. McNeil’s ineffective counsel, the result of the proceeding would reasonably been 

different.  

II.       THE STATE’S KIDNAPPING CHARGES ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL 
DUE TO THE DUAL CRIMINAL LIABILITY WHEN ALSO CHARGING 
ROBBERY FOR THE SAME ACT.  

Pursuant to NRS 200.310(1) : 

“A person who willfully seizes, confines, inveigles, entices, decoys, abducts, conceals, 
kidnaps or carries away a person by any means whatsoever with the intent to hold or 
detain, or who holds or detains, the person for ransom, or reward, or for the purpose of 
committing sexual assault, extortion or robbery upon or from the person, or for the 
purpose of killing the person or inflicting substantial bodily harm upon the person, or to 
exact from relatives, friends, or any other person any money or valuable thing for the 
return or disposition of the kidnapped person... is guilty of kidnapping in the first 
degree which is a category A felony.” 
 
In Wright v. State, 94 Nev. 415, 417, 581 P.2d 442, 443 (1978), this Court considered 

whether a defendant could be subjected to dual criminal liability when charged with both 

kidnapping and robbery. The Court held that when the movement or detention of a victim is 
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incidental to the robbery “and does not substantially increase the risk of harm over and above 

that necessarily present in the crime of robbery itself” dual convictions for robbery and 

kidnapping could not be concurrently charged. Conversely, “if the movement of the victim 

results in increased danger over and above that present in the crime of robbery itself, a 

kidnaping charge also may lie.” Id. at 418, 581 P.2d at 444.  The Nevada Supreme Court has 

explained that “some movement or confinement of the victim's inherent in almost every 

robbery.” McKenna v. State, 98 Nev. 323, 326, 647 P. 2d 865, 867 (1982). 

  This same issue was later addressed by this court in Mendoza v. State, 122 Nev. 267, 

274-75, 130 P.3d 176, 180-81 (2006). In Mendoza this Court held: 

“Movement or restraint incidental to an underlying offense where restraint or 
movement is inherent, as a general matter, will not expose the defendant to dual 
criminal liability under either the first- or second-degree kidnapping statutes. However, 
where the movement or restraint serves to substantially increase the risk of harm to the 
victim over and above that necessarily present in an associated offense, i.e., robbery, 
extortion, battery resulting in substantial bodily harm or sexual assault, or where the 
seizure, restraint or movement of the victim substantially exceeds that required to 
complete the associated crime charged, dual convictions under the kidnapping and 
robbery statutes are proper. Also, per Hutchins, dual culpability is permitted where the 
movement, seizure or restraint stands alone with independent significance from the 
underlying charge.” Id. 
 
In Mendoza, the Nevada Supreme Court upheld the Wright standard that when a 

kidnapping is incidental to a robbery, the defendant cannot be convicted of both crimes. In the 

test to determine if the movement or detention in the course of a robbery is deficient to charge 

separate kidnapping charges, the movement/detention must either: (1) substantially increase 

the risk of harm; (2) substantially exceed that required to complete the associated crime; or (2) 

stand alone with independent significance from the associated offense. Id. at 274-

75, 130 P.3d at 180-81.  
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While Wright was decided prior to Mendoza, the case is instructive on how to apply the 

standard.  In Wright, the defendants were charged with the robbery of a hotel. They had 

entered the lobby, pointed multiple firearms at the staff and proceeded to steal the cash out of 

the registers. The defendants then moved the staff to one of the back offices and forcefully 

threatened the night auditor to open the safe for them. The defendants then made the victims lie 

face down on the floor of the back office and preceded to leave the hotel.  Presented with these 

facts, the Court reversed the kidnapping convictions, finding that the movement of the victims 

was incidental to the robbery and that their movement did not increase their risk of danger. The 

Court explained its reasoning: 

“The statute is broad in its sweep. Literally applied, it would encompass an ordinary 
robbery in the course of which the victim happens to be moved from one room to 
another. Indeed, under a literal reading of NRS 200.310, it is difficult to conceive how 
any robbery could be accomplished without committing the crime of kidnap: the 
“forcible taking” necessary to commit robbery under NRS 200.380 necessarily involves 
some form of “confinement” under NRS 200.310. The penalty for robbery, however, is 
significantly less severe than that imposed for kidnaping. If, indeed, the movement of 
the victim is incidental to the robbery and does not substantially increase the risk of 
harm over and above that necessarily present in the crime of robbery itself, it would be 
unreasonable to believe that the legislature intended a double punishment. People v. 
Daniels, supra; cf. Stalley v. State, 91 Nev. 671, 541 P.2d 658 (1975). Within this 
context, we approve the reasoning of People v. Daniels. On the other hand, if the 
movement of the victim results in increased danger over and above that present in the 
crime of robbery itself, a kidnaping charge also may lie.” Wright v. State, 94 Nev. At 
417. 
 

  This analysis was used in this court most recently in Knight v. State where the 

defendant appealed a conviction for three brutal home invasions and the related robbery and 

kidnapping charges. Knight v. State, 475 P.3d 765 (Nev. 2020). The court held that in the first 

home invasion the totality of the circumstances was enough to satisfy the Mendoza test.  The 

court pointed out specifically the restraining of the victims with zip ties prior to leaving 

substantially increased the risk of harm to the victims and substantially exceeded the 
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requirement needed to complete the home invasion/robbery.  The court held that in the second 

home invasion that due to the totality of the circumstances; hitting the victim in the head with a 

gun and covering his head in a blanket while they were laying facedown was also unnecessary 

to completing the robbery. 

 Here, Mr. Powell was charged with both robbery and kidnapping from two separate 

incidents where none of the facts support the concurrent charging of both crimes under the 

Mendoza test. The first kidnapping charge was of the clerk working at Pepe’s Tacos, Jose 

Chavarria. (Exhibit “B” at 32). In Mr. Chavarria’s testimony during the grand jury, he stated 

that the masked men pointed a gun at him and told him to take the money out of his register. 

Id. Once completed, the masked men then told Mr. Chavarria to open the second register. Id. at 

36. After being unable to open the second register, they threatened and forced Mr. Chavarria 

onto his knees and went to find the second employee that had access to that register. Id. at 37. 

At no point was Mr. Chavarria restrained as the victims were in Knight, nor was he placed in a 

position that substantially increased the harm from the associated robbery. (Exhibit “B” at 37). 

As in Wright, the movement of Mr. Chavarria was incidental to the aforementioned robbery, 

placing him on his knees while another employee was obtained to finish the robbery and then 

leave the property. (Exhibit “B” at 37). The threat of force used against Mr. Chavarria can be 

reasonably construed within the original charge of robbery seen in NRS 200.380(1): “Robbery 

is the unlawful taking of personal property…against his will…by means of fear of injury.”  

 The second kidnapping charge was of Yeneir Hessing, an employee working at 

Walgreens. Id. at 7. In Ms. Hessing’s testimony during the grand jury, she stated that a masked 

man approached her while pointing a weapon at her and told her to go to the front of the store 

with him. Id. at 8-10. The masked man took the money from the registers and then told Ms. 
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Hessing and the other employee, Tifnie Bonnit, to go to the office where the safe was kept. Id. 

at 15-16. After taking the money, the masked man ran from the property. Id. at 17. The facts of 

this case mirror those in Wright. There was no independent purpose for the movement. At no 

time were Ms. Hessing or Ms. Bonnit restrained during the encounter as were the victims in 

Knight.  The only injury incurred were the bruises Ms. Hessing incurred from the weapon the 

masked man pressed into her side as they were walking which can be construed as reasonably 

incidental to the force needed to convict for the crime of a robbery with a deadly weapon as 

seen in NRS 200.380(1) “Robbery is the unlawful taking of personal property…against his 

will…by means of force.” (Exhibit “B” at 17). The suspects were there to take the property and 

leave.  

In Gonzales v. State, 131 Nev., Adv. Op. 49, 354 P.3d 654, 665 (Ct. App. 2015), the 

Court of Appeals upheld dual convictions where the victims were moved from one location 

into another. However, the instant case is easily distinguishable from Gonzales. 

First, Gonzales was decided after the defendants' attorney had the opportunity to attack 

the kidnapping counts unlike the instant matter, and therefore those arguments would not have 

been available for the State to rely upon when arguing against dismissal in this case. 

Additionally, Gonzalez can be distinguished on its facts. After the victim was brought inside 

the house from the garage, the victim was moved from room-to-room for no apparent purpose; 

the court explained as follows: 

“In this case, Michelle was moved from the open garage into the house, and then from 
room to room, while the criminals ransacked the entire home. Gonzales argues that the 
movement was intended to assist him in locating valuables, but as it turned out, 
Michelle provided almost no help because she did not know where [the items sought 
were located]... Yet, even after realizing she could provide little guidance to them, the 
perpetrators nonetheless continued moving her to different rooms for no ascertainable 
purpose.” Gonzales v. State, 354 P. 3d at 666. 
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Although the Gonzalez court could not ascertain the purpose for the movement, the fact 

that the movement was not incidental to the robbery and then classified the movement as 

“independent and significant” under Mendoza. By contrast, in the instant case, none of the 

victims were moved except as necessary for the suspects to steal money from the cash registers 

and safe from the businesses.  (Exhibit “B” at 35-38; 7-17) 

Based on the facts above and that to charge one defendant with two crimes is 

unreasonable to believe the legislature intended a double punishment for the same act, as such, 

Mr. Powell now asks this Court to grant this Writ of Habeas Corpus. 

III. CUMULATIVE ERROR.

Cumulative error warrants habeas relief where the errors have “so infected the

proceedings with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.”. 

Donnelly v DeChristaforo, 416 U.S. 637, 643 94 S.Ct 1868, 4. L.Ed. 2d 431 (1974). 

When errors of Constitutional magnitude are involved, reversal is warranted where those 

combined errors have created prejudice for the defendant. United States v. Wallace, 848 

F.2d 1464, 1475 (9th Cir. 1988). Even if an error does not, on its own, rise to the level of a

Constitutional violation, a combination of errors renders a trial fundamentally unfair in 

violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. See e.g., Lundy v. 

Campbell, 888 F.2d 467, 472073 (6th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 495 U.S. 950, 110 S.Ct. 

2212, 109 L.Ed.2d 538 (1990); Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959, 963 (6th Cir. 1983), cert. 

denied, 464 U.S. 951, 104 S.Ct. 367, 78 L.Ed.2d 327 (1983); United States v. Necoechea, 

986 F.2d 1273, 1282 (9th Cir. 1993); United States v. Glover, 83 F.2d 429 (9th Cir. 1996); 

United States v. McPherson, 108 F.3d 1387 (9th Cir. 1997); Big Pond v. State, 101 Nev. 1 

(1985). Habeas relief is available for cumulative error when the errors, combined, have 
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“so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due 

process.” Donnelly, 416 U.S. at 643, 94 S.Ct. at 1871. 

In Mr. Powell’s case, the inadequacies and critical failures of trial counsel and 

appellate counsel so infected Mr. Powell’s litigation with unfairness that he was denied 

due process of the law as required by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the 

United States Constitution. Additionally, the failures of trial and appellate counsel, 

combined with the violation of Mr. Powell’s right against Dual Criminal Liability resulted in 

cumulative errors, the effect of which resulted in a Guilty Plea Agreement that was “so 

infected … with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” 

Donnelly, 416 U.S. at 643, 94 S.Ct. at 1868. Upon review, this Court should find this 

cumulative error warrants granting this Writ of Habeas Corpus  

DATED this 27th day of May 2022. 

Respectfully Submitted:  

SGRO & ROGER 

Colleen Savage                        _ 
COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 14947 
720 S. 7th Street, 3rd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
csavage@sgroandroger.com 
Attorney for Adrian Powell 
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VERIFICATION 

 Under the penalty of perjury, the undersigned declares that she is retained counsel for 

the Petitioner named in the foregoing Petition and is an attorney licensed to practice law in the 

State of Nevada; that the pleading is true of her own knowledge, except as to those matters 

stated upon information and belief, and as to such matters she believes them to be true. 

Furthermore, the undersigned has made Petitioner aware of all the contents of the foregoing 

Petition and Petitioner agrees with the same. 

 I declare under the penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that I have 

read the foregoing Petition, know the contents thereof, and Petitioner, authorizes me to 

commence this Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (post-conviction). 

Dated this 27th day of May 2022.   

SGRO & ROGER 

 
 

       Colleen Savage                        _ 
       COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ. 

Nevada Bar No. 14947 
       720 S. 7th Street, 3rd Floor 
       Las Vegas, NV 89101 
       csavage@sgroandroger.com 
       Attorney for Adrian Powell 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on 27th day of May, 2022 I served a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing document entitled PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-

CONVICTION) to the Clark County District Attorney’s Office by sending a copy via 

electronic mail to:  

OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 
Motions@clarkcountyda.com 

Dated this 27th day of May of 2022.   

SGRO & ROGER 

Colleen Savage                        _ 
COLLEEN N. SAVAGE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 14947 
720 S. 7th Street, 3rd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
csavage@sgroandroger.com 
Attorney for Adrian Powell  
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FILE UNDER SEAL 

STATE OF NEVADA 
vs. 

LARENZO PINKNEY 
& 

ADRIAN POWELL 

C-17-327767-1&2 

Reports and Witness Statements re: 
1. LVMPD Event No. 170605-0220: Armed robbery at 7-Eleven located at 4800 West 

Washington, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, on June 5, 2017. 
2. LVMPD Event No. 170614-0524: Armed robbery at Roberto's/Mangos located at 6650 Vegas 

Drive, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, on June 14, 2017. 
3. LVMPD Event No. 170618-0989: Armed robbery at Pepe's Tacos located at 1401 North 

Decatur, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, on June 18, 2017. 
4. LVMPD Event No. 170701-0545: Armed robbery at Roberto's located at 2685 South Eastern 

Avenue, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, on July 1, 2017. 
5. LVMPD Event No. 170812-3809: Armed robbery at Pizza Bakery located at 6475 West 

Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, on August 12, 2017. 

6. LVMPD Event No. 170817-0241: Armed robbery at Terrible Herbst located at 6380 West 
Charleston Boulevard, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, on August 17, 2017. 

7. LVMPD Event No. 170817-0470: Armed robbery at Rebel located at 6400 West Lake Mead 
Boulevard, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, on August 17, 2017. 

8. LVMPD Event No. 170824-0521: Armed robbery at Roberto's located at 6820 West Flamingo 

Road, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, on August 24, 2017. 
9. LVMPD Event No. 170824-0645: Armed robbery at Roberto's located at 907 North Rainbow 

Boulevard, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, on August 24, 2017. 

10. LVMPD Event No. 170825-0589: Armed robbery at Pepe's Tacos located at 1401 North 
Decatur, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, on August 25, 2017. 
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd. 

Case Report No.: LLV170605000220 

Las Vegas, NV 89106 

Administrative 

Location 4800 W Washington Ave LV, NV 89108 
Occurred On (Date I Time) Monday 6/5/2017 1 :40:00 AM 
Reporting Officer 15315 - Smith, Matthew 
Entered By 15315 - Smith, Matthew 
Related Cases 

Traffic Report No Place Type 

Offenses: 
Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Handgun 
Criminal Activities None/Unknown 

Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry No Force Used Premises Entered 

Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Assault, W/Dw(F)-NRS 200.471.2B 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Handgun 
Criminal Activities None/Unknown 

Victims: 

Name: 7-11 

Or Between (Date/ Time) 
Reported On 6/5/2017 
Entered On 6/5/2017 2:45:07 AM 

Jurisdiction 

Accident Involved 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security 

Location Type Convenience Store 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security Alarm System 

Camera 
Location Type Convenience Store 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security 

Location Type Convenience Store 

Sector /Beat W2 

Las Vegas, City of 

Tools 

Tools 

Tools 

Victim Type Business Written Statement Can ID Suspect 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

50426 - Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 

DOB 
Height 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury 

Addresses 
Business 
Phones 
Business/Work 

Offender Relationships 
Notes: 

Name: Chamorro. ltalo Martin 

Age 
Weight 

Sex Race 
Hair Color 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

4800 W Washington Ave LV, NV 89108 United States 

(702) 646-2602 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement Yes 
Victim of 50201 - Assault, W/Dw(F)-NRS 200.471.28 

DOB 10/24/1970 Age 46 Sex Male Race White 
Height 5' 5" 
Employer/School 7-11 
Occupation/Grade Clerk 
Injury None Observed 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 

Offender Relationships 
S - Unknown 1 
S -Unknown 2 
Notes: 

812/2018 3:14 PM 

Weight 200 Hair Color Brown 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

6537 Bradford Ln LV, NV 89108 United States 

(702) 957-0631 

None 
None 

LLV170605000220 

Handgun 

Ethnicity 
Eye Color 

Can ID Suspect No 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Page 1 of 2 
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Suspects: 

Name: Unknown 1 
Alias: 

Scope ID DOB Age 25 Race Black or African Ethnicity Not Hispanic or 
American Latino 

Sex Male Height 5' 7" Weight 170 Hair Color Eye Color Brown 
Employer/School Occupation/Grade 

Addresses 
Phones 
Notes: 

Name: Unknown 2 
Alias: 

Scope ID DOB Age 25 Race Black or African Ethnicity Not Hispanic or 
American Latino 

Sex Male Height 5' 7" Weight 170 Hair Color Eye Color Brown 
Employer/School Occupation/Grade 

Witnesses: 

Name: Johnson, Dajuan 

Written Statement Yes Can ID Suspect No 

DOB 2/17/1998 Age 19 Sex Male Race Black or African 
American 

Ethnicity Not Hispanic or Latino 

Height 5' 7" Weight 130 Hair Color Black 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 

Properties:() 

613 Mcdermitt St Lv, NV 89107 United States 

(702) 489-1354 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Status Stolen 
Description $80-$100 cash in 1s, 5s, and 10s 
Manufacturer 
Vehicle Year 
Lie Plate# 
Insurance Company 
Owner V-7-11 
Notes: 

Narrative 

Model 
Body Type 

Lie Plate State 

Quantity 90 Value 90.00 

Serial No.\VIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

Eye Color Brown 

Color Green 

On 6/5/17 at approximately 0142 hours, LVMPD communications received a 911 call reference a robbery at the 7-11 convenience store located at 
4800 W Washington, LV NV 89108. Officers arrived and made contact with the clerk, Chamorro, ltalo 10/24/70, and witness Johnson, Dajuan 
2/17/98. 

Chamorro and Johnson both stated that two black males entered the store with hoodies pulled up and masks over their faces, holding semi­
automatic handguns. One suspect shouted "cash, cash, cash" and began counting down from 5 while he went behind the counter and held 
Chamorro at gunpoint, while the other held Johnson at gunpoint. Chamorro emptied both cash registers (approx. $80-$100, mostly in small bills), 
and the suspect behind the counter grabbed the money in his hand. Both suspects then ran out the front of the store. 

I viewed 7-11's video footage, which shows that both suspects appear to be black males in their twenties, 5'7-5'10, approx. 170 lbs. The first 
suspect was wearing a black hoodie with the hood pulled up, a black bandana with a white pattern over his face, blue jeans, black shoes, and 
black gloves. He had a black semi-auto handgun. The second suspect was wearing a black hoodie with the hood pulled up, a black ballcap, a 
black bandana with a white pattern on it covering his face, black pants, and white gloves. He had a black semi-automatic handgun, which he 
carried in his left hand. 

The video footage shows both males arriving from Yale St. to the Northwest of the business, then entering through the front door with guns 
drawn. The first suspect pointed his gun at Chamorro, walked behind the counter, jabbed the clerk several times in the left arm using the barrel of 
his gun, and grabbed money from the cash drawers. The second suspect points his gun at Johnson, then pushed Johnson to the ground when 
Johnson tried to leave out the front door. The video shows both suspects leaving out the front door of 7-11, then running Northbound on Yale. 

Johnson and Chamorro completed voluntary statements. Chamorro recovered what appeared to be a slide release from a firearm from the floor 
behind the counter. CSI arrived and processed the scene. 

8/2/2018 3:14 PM LLV170605000220 Page 2 of 2 
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd. 

Las Vegas, NV 89106 

Administrative 

Location 6650 Vegas Las Vegas, NV 89108 
Occurred On (Date /Time) Wednesday 6/14/2017 4:00:00 AM 
Reporting Officer 15222 - Lynn, Joshua 
Entered By 15222 - Lynn, Joshua 
Related Cases 

Traffic Report Place Type 

Offenses: 
Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Firearm (Type Not Stated) 
Criminal Activities None/Unknown 

Kidnapping, 1st Degree(F)-NRS 200.310.1 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Burglary, (1st)(F)-NRS 205.060.2 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry No Force Used Premises Entered 

Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Att Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Firearm (Type Not Stated) 
Criminal Activities None/Unknown 

Victims: 

Name: Trigg, Benjamin 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement 
Victim of 50051 • Kidnapping, 1st Degree(F)-NRS 200.310.1 

50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 6/25/1984 
Height 5' 10" 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 

Age 32 
Weight 190 

Mango's Beach Bar 

Injury Possible Internal Injury 
Loss of Teeth 
Other 

Sex Male 

Case Report No.: LLV170614000524 

Sector /Beat W2 
Or Between (Date I Time) 

Reported On 6/14/2017 
Entered On 6/14/2017 4:30:18 AM 

Yes 

Jurisdiction Las Vegas, City of 

Accident Involved 

Hate/Bias Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) 
Type Security Tools 

Location Type Bar/Night Club 

Hate/Bias 
Type Security 

Location Type Bar/Night Club 
Tools 

Hate/Bias Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) 
Type Security Exterior Lights Tools 

Interior Lights 
Camera 

Location Type Bar/Night Club 

Hate/Bias Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) 
Type Security Tools 

Location Type Restaurant 

Can ID Suspect Yes 

Race White Ethnicity Not Hispanic or Latino 
Hair Color Brown Eye Color Brown 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Firearm (Type Not Stated) 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 

8600 W Charleston Apt 2085 Las Vegas, NV 89117 United States 

(927) 270-8629 

Offender Relationships 
S - LNU, FNU ONE 
S - LNU, FNU TWO 
Notes: Bartender at Mango's 

Name: Costa. William 

None 
None 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement 
Victim of 50051 • Kidnapping, 1st Degree(F)-NRS 200.310.1 

50145 • Att Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

Yes Can ID Suspect Yes 

DOB 12/25/1975 Age 41 Sex 
Height 5' 11" Weight 205 

Male Race White 
Hair Color Brown 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 

8/2/2018 3:16 PM 

Work Schedule 
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Injury None Observed Injury Weapons Firearm (Type Not Stated) 

Addresses 
Residence 6225 Caprino Ave Las Vegas, NV 89108 United States 

Phones 
Cellular 

Offender Relationships 
S - LNU, FNU ONE 
S - LNU, FNU TWO 
Notes: 

Name: Rios-Muniz, Jose Luis 

(702) 945-5725 

None 
None 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

50051 - Kidnapping, 1st Degree(F)-NRS 200.310.1 

DOB 1/11/1960 Age 57 Sex Male 
Height 5' 7" Weight 180 
Employer/School Roberto's 
Occupation/Grade 

Yes 

Race White 
Hair Color Brown 

Can ID Suspect Yes 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Injury Apparent Minor Injury 
Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Firearm (Type Not Stated) 

Addresses 
Residence 4272 Withering Pine St Las Vegas, NV 89108 United States 

Phones 
Cellular 
Business/Work 

Offender Relationships 
S - LNU, FNU ONE 
S - LNU, FNU TWO 
Notes: 

Name: Mango's Beach Bar 

(702) 205-4689 
(702) 631-3600 

None 
None 

Victim Type Business Written Statement 
Victim of 50424 - Burglary, (1st)(F)-NRS 205.060.2 

DOB 
Height 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury 

Age 
Weight 

Sex Race 
Hair Color 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

Addresses 
Business 
Phones 
Business/Work 

6650 Vegas Dr #104 Las Vegas, NV 89108 United States 

(702) 631-4711 

Offender Relationships 
Notes: 

Name: Roberto's 

Victim Type Business Written Statement 
Victim of 50424 - Burglary, (1st)(F)-NRS 205.060.2 

DOB 
Height 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury 

Addresses 

Age 
Weight 

Sex Race 
Hair Color 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

Business 
Phones 
Business/Work 

6650 Vegas Dr Las Vegas, NV 89108 United States 

(702) 631-3600 

Offender Relationships 
Notes: 

Name: Esquivel, Carlos 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement 
Victim of 50051 - Kidnapping, 1st Degree(F)-NRS 200.310.1 

50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 10/29/1997 Age 19 Sex Male 

Yes 

Race White 

8/2/2018 3:16 PM LLV170614000524 

Can ID Suspect 

Ethnicity 
Eye Color 

Can ID Suspect 

Ethnicity 
Eye Color 

Can ID Suspect 

Ethnicity 

Yes 

Hispanic or Latino 
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Height 5' 3" 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 

Weight 122 Hair Color Brown Eye Color Brown 

Work Schedule 
Injury None Observed Injury Weapons Firearm (Type Not Stated) 

Addresses 
Residence 6672 Fredonia Dr Las Vegas, NV 89108 United States 

Phones 
Cellular 
Business/Work 

Offender Relationships 
S - LNU, FNU ONE 
S - LNU, FNU TWO 
Notes: 

Suspects: 

Name: LNU, FNU ONE 
Alias: 

Scope ID 

Sex Male 
Employer/School 

Addresses 
Phones 
Notes: 

Height 

Name: LNU. FNU TWO 
Alias: 

Scope ID 

Sex Male Height 
Employer/School 

Properties: () 

(702) 525-5028 
(702) 631-3600 

DOB 

DOB 

5' 10" 

None 
None 

Weight 

Weight 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Status Stolen 

170 

Description $200 in various denominations of US currensy 
Manufacturer United States Government Model 
Vehicle Year Body Type 
Lie Plate # Lie Plate State 
Insurance Company 
Owner V - Mango's Beach Bar 
Notes: 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Age 20 Race Black or African 
American 

Age 

Hair Color 
Occupation/Grade 

20 Race 

Hair Color 
Occupation/Grade 

Eye Color 

Black or African 
American 

Eye Color 

Quantity 200 Value 200.00 

Serial No.\VIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

Status Stolen Quantity 325 Value 325.00 
Description $325 in numerous denominations of US currensy 
Manufacturer United States Government Model Serial No.\VIN 
Vehicle Year Body Type 
Lie Plate # Lie Plate State Lie Plate Exp 
Insurance Company 
Owner V - Roberto's 
Notes: 

Narrative 

Ethnicity 

Ethnicity 

Not Hispanic or 
Latino 

Not Hispanic or 
Latino 

Color Light Green 

Color Light Green 

On 6/14/17 at approximately 0401 hours, I Officer J. Lynn P# 15222 while operating as marked patrol unit 1W21 was dispatched to 6650 Vegas Dr, 

Las Vegas, NV 89108 in reference to a possible Robbery that had occurred at the Mango's Bar and Roberto's Taco Shop. 

Upon arrival, I met with the bartender of the Mango's bar who identified himself via NV DL as Benjamin Trigg DOB 6/25/84. Trigg stated that around 

0400 hours, while he was sitting at the bar he witnessed a worker of the Roberto's adjacent to Mango's run into the bar area. The Roberto's 

employee was later identified as Jose Luis Rios Muniz DOB 1/11/60. An unknown black male adult dressed in a black hoodie and dark pants with a 

spider-man mask covering his face entered into the bar area just after Muniz and began to yell at him whilst inside the bar area. Trigg yelled at the 

unknown male, at which time the unknown male produced a firearm and pointed it at Trigg causing him to duck behind the bar. The suspect then 

jumped the counter and began to address Trigg while hitting and pushing him saying, "take me to the safe" and "get me the money". Trigg then 

went over to the cash register on the west side of the bar and opened it. The suspect then began pulling unknown denominations out of the till. 

After the suspect was done pulling money from the till (roughly around $200), he then instructed Trigg to open up the safe that was located on the 

west side of the bar. Trigg attempted to open up the safe but began to explain to the suspect that he could not open it due to a timer lock. The 

suspect then began to pistol whip Trigg approximately three to four times about the head area. Trigg stated he pretended to be unconscious and 

that's when the suspect fled on foot eastbound through the bar and exited over the east outside wall of the business. Trigg was then able to call 

8/2/2018 3:16 PM LLV170614000524 Page 3 of 4 
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911 and notify authorities of what had occurred. Trigg had visible blood coming from several parts of his head and face where he had been hit by 

the suspect. 

I then made contact with the employees at the Roberto's Taco Shop, Muniz as well as his coworker Carlos Esquivel DOB 10/29/97. Both Esquivel 
and Muniz stated that at around 0400 hours, two unknown black male adults in black hoodies entered the Roberto's through the west side 
entrance and produced firearms. One of the suspects placed his firearm against the neck of a customer that had been eating in the restaurant and 
demanded money. The customer was later identified as William Costa DOB 12/25/75. Muniz stated that when he saw this, he ran into the Mango's 
bar in an attempt to hide from the suspects where he was followed by one of them. Esquivel stated that the other suspect that didn't run after 
Muniz jumped the counter and demanded money out of the cash register. The suspect then removed the entire till (containing roughly around 
$325) and then attempted to take the safe located in the back office. Being unsuccessful, the suspect then exited Roberto's eastbound with the 
entire cash tray, into the Mango's bar area and joined with the other suspect. Both suspects then exited the business through the outside area and 
over the east side wall. 

CSA W. Speas P# 5228 arrived on site and processed the scene. Commercial Robbery Detective K Toomer P# 5780 arrived on site and reviewed 
surveillance footage assisted by Scott Walden, who is the manager of Mango's. Multiple bills and change were located and recovered in the 
outside area of Mango's as well as over the east wall into the desert area beyond the east wall. 

Muniz, Trigg, Esquivel and Costa all filled out voluntary statements of what had occurred. Walden and Muniz were provided with a Victims 
Information Guide. AMR unit# 148 arrived on site and tended to Trigg's injuries but Trigg denied transport to a hospital. Trigg was later 
transported by his manager, Walden, to Mountain View Hospital. 
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT 

Page __i_ of __ ,._ VOLUNTARY STATEMENT 
I Even1 # 

LLv 17 OCc,/y - 0~ .;> L' 

Sex Height Weight Hair Eyes Work Schdl. (Hours) (Days Off) 

tJMv 15"' lt? 11 "t,ID !Jr,,...., ~N,.,-, II 4t - 7-. . ,i/14(/ 
-----'--------'----'--"---__JL...,.;;,.'-'-----'--"'---'-----'--'-'-'---- __ _,__..:....;;...c=--+---,C.C:........-'-'-=-.C....:....,e....L-="""'-"""1--'-= 

Residence Address: (Number & Street) 

o tJ. ~/dC<'\ tlw/.,. 
Bldg./Apt# City 

lo&-f ~5 V "S 
Bus. (Local) Address: (Number & Streel) Bldg./Apt.# City 

______ __,__ __ l 
Best place to contact you during the day 

DETAILS !U A.p,<rih ~~ 7. 1,µ,-L, v,.. 

/>;;,.,,, . 'I.. --, ).oe,~ 11.{ ~C'b"- ,y Cl:v k, '3£,/./ 

_1\_,,,_b-.ibf 6...r ""1./l(fa,. ']:... ,:kl~A- f'~l,•z,,u 

h, slo1-' 'Tl,..,, S.r;.<£fuA::,, ~ 5' Z'' IJ\.l'-'~ 

State Zip Code 

P'il ff1l17 Bus. Phone: 
----'----'----4 
State Zip Code Occupation 

I 

Best time to contact you during the day 

Depart Date (if visitor) 

Can You Identify D Yes 

the Suspect? D No 

,'t..&Jk <¼&r- o,.J--Plfry,.S ~~ 

&nf'cq2u k 1 f"'~h.4.-
~-,_,..,.. 

~ '?~f'W; ,:21), 

;:::i.~, C,N,._ ~ ( e,.., ,..,b&i_'-.,_t-__._./r,,...,.o'---'---'/'7....:;..'&_,/=!,s,....,,,-'-.-'-'-JJ.'""'£,._1<,,-'---r;t-:e,1,_{a~· s:'--_ 

()IC-: kv s~l }y_,, fo.,._JtL .-.,1., 1w.. o...J-, ... t,, /._ .:c ~L, be,J..i:.,)., f-1,t.,-b«-. 17"-&..5~ 

c:1,,;~ }'$o,t./ J.o C!f V': rt h-v »·k 0.J:: r-"4 r~d: ,:wL ~ ~ f..01c, ~- k, ).{,...., ~t.. ku: ~ 

4~ ~J ,.,,J... t<cb-c.,J__, 1o J..w .t)-flwL,,. Mfe,,., ~-~K;i~d:- ~:i,s-~ I PC)¼ ~ ck.w«" 4, 

~ Jk,V' k,J.,..., J...r4 k,, J./-1./ S"--VL"Uof'i W be.{'-, k -er/I~ i.. J...,;..._~~{-_::C..~(/#._ •• f_l~dp4--=<!.1'"'~:~}-

b.,. k )--,;.)._ lb . ~ ,~ p~ ~ Hv 1'-C)uk btj"'"' ftflcl 

vh~,,:a5 /11-A-- ,,.,. kt.,,,~ ,,,,.V ~ :;;. tM-l-1~ l:-c, a-fi(tc½ k, 1--,;... .-)4.vf ;J- w-i dA"' 

- b ( • ,, r, 1 ( r_ , , - - r r ~ ,,.._. 1, L 
t,r,.#'oc.,J1,.., Pc,., 5.,,1o{ ft,a,,... u- :5 ... £,v (jr- J2 I '5~r: ypil,(.. 1 Y"u ~-,..,v -+-Mi f/t<Y',._ ~ fH-' ,..,,-

id- 2- C.1\11-V ,-,.,_ ~ ... ("t kv s~J.,,,, ~v, 51-:>Jy}-I l~l cV ,-,. )v... ~ °1,.;;. ~ 
I 

1:-: ~ /,(<.,, -:Z:: 1<5_J , oei+, ~ & 5t-rJW5 tfvr .J:½L:: W bw-, ,J-- f&~er-f!s f;;ykyt(I 

,, k,v 1''~ u::41t ,c {#/'V 517-k/ l:vvf Jvk lc,,):C ~ I~ ~[µ{V 

9/f -

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT AND I AFFIRM TO THE TRUTH AND ACCURACY OF THE FACTS CONTAINED HEREIN. THIS STATEMENT WAS 

COMPLETED AT (LOCATION) &, k2 :ro ~=--~'-'-'--'---+-U_V____,'l.....cv-J __ c-=(),,.,_'1-'--'--1.J_:8......,,......--------------------

0N THE I Lf-n<1 DAY OF ~vr-Jt::- ' AT 05<:P @ PM),c# i7 

Witness/Officer:_-t--_-t--\:"_-¥/'.o(SIGN""'AT=u=RE=)--c-------

Wilness/Officer: c) .L::f N iJ P# I ~ 
LVMPD 85 (REV. 6-0-8)--------.:a(P=Rl*NT:!=E""D)~----
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Page __l_ ot_(_ 

Specific Crime 

'.\20 
Location of Occurrence 

&,G:>S,""b vef7rt-3 

Height 

5· 10 
Residence Address: (Number & Street) 

lo o?,,;), 6 C.A }>R.J f\.} G S-\: 
Bus. (Local) Address: (Number & Street) 

Bes1 place to contact you during the day 

'....f o Mf:-, 

LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT 

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT 

THIS PORTION TO BE COMPLETED BY OFFICER 
Date Occurred Time Occurred 

(o-JY - \r 64.a 
Sector/Beat 

oa 
Bldg./Apt.# City State Zip Code Res. Phone: • '7 Q ~ 

I I LA :)._Y____a,c'r-+A_.?-'-::l\j-Yi...___2--=--q:-,_o_i_-t-B::-u_s. _Ph,-on_e: __ r=---::----::-:---:-: 

Bldg./Apt.# City Stale Zip Code Occupation Depart Dale (if visitor) 

I 
Best lime to contact you during the day 

fjll.) \. 
Can You Identify 

the Suspect? 

DETAILS CA ~.E Jru d (.)1'.J +c ll)E:c..k lu-'9 vV+ed /YJOVE-71 ::f=B k A+ 

pAtLA-.:,. lhER.€:.S d o~ + hE-M c::,r0E:. ch.~.se;J. orvE µJop.kE; r._,, o+hfR., 

w An.)'\-€ d__ .::, A\' E: cp~N RIVc).._ ~ R+ h -4-- I ci, l..U c:. ,v-\- --/-a 

R.~{s~'-\:-e R f"119 cl£:, o+h C:. R._ l/\..)() R.. \s.eE: " ....uf2 E:,_n) l't ..s±AR +Eel i-AL_ ;'0 (} 

....,__C""l.u...ci=rvc.:,..~~y.,__¼;.__:_:E-::c...:.fl.)_~dl-"'u'--=:j"'---M"".,___--=~-==--{-o------=o:...._k-=-----+--=--h----=6----'-A....:::o::.....l G..~-+......!.__h, _nJ_)--+---------

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT AND I AFFIRM TO THE TRUTH AND ACCURACY 0...(: THE FACTS CONTAINED HEREIN. THIS STATEMENT WAS 

C0MPLETEDAT(L0CATION) --~~ v6?::z£B I LV I ,v-..l 6~ tGf? 
ON THE I Y:nt::: DAv\oF _ ,\Jt--L AT o5:3a ~tPM), ~q . 

Witness/Officer: C , ~ 
SIGNATURE) 

Witness/Officer: ~ • L. 'i t-.l N P# I S-.;>o,?.;:> 
LVMPD 85 (REV. 6--08-,-------,,(P=R=1N=rE=oc--1 -----

~J/,~~ 
SIGNATURE OFl'ERSONGlVISTATEMENT 
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Pagina-Lde _\ __ 
DEPARTAMENTO DE POLICIA METR0P0LITANA DE LAS VEGAS l::~ci~e~t:lj__# 

DECLARACION VOLUNTARIA '-1--~ o~ 1 L-{,,- oS-.,,1 _________ ____. 

Fecha de los Hechos Hora de los Hechos 

sector/Beat 

l.,,..J,;l 

DESCRIPCION DETALLADA [_.s f;:IL I/IL (" '1 {1e 14&) a le. b'--'-/ '-'-'-1(?;. ,.. 

~ u..Q e-,Tvo.- YD'-1r ~ , ~ 6~ G-;14 y.Aa r CO-Y??-= r Lok1-4-rvv1C,\.I 

)/ ,_.__~1---i G~c,..,.,,fc-.: o....cle'J f;;;, ·ago.,-v,,,-,0 c.. Yvi I Coo\ veiid-<. fp,,,,, 

l/ ,lo/ cv ? u .. e., a b'-'/er,c- /c._¼/0---cP~e.1.lo.vSe_ -e/ cP;Lf-fbk~6' __ 

/ x: 0 u2"kvt tP(A.r 4- e/ 6a Y, o u «L e ~ a.I 144a. . 

HE LEIDO ESTA DECLARACION Y CONFIRMO LA VERACIDAD Y EXACTITUD DE LOS HECHOS ANTES MENCIONADOS. ESTA DECLARACION SE 

REALIZO EN {LUGAR) (e(q S:O vt::-(7/'{S I L-v, N-i 8:j r<-> ~ 
EL DIA / 4~ OE ur-,....e.. DE ..;Gn A LASO)~ i> ~MJ. 

Testigo/Oficial: ----;8--•-16Ji-._~.,_a.,....J ____ • ____ _ 

Testigo/Oficial: 
(Con Letra de Molde) 

~/0--J.f~ 
Jo.re )u,<·s &es: Ad~i 

Flrma derbeclara"te • 
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Pagina ----L-de __ , _ 
DEPARTAMENTO DE POLICIA METROPOLITANA DE LAS VEGAS I lncidente # 

DECLARACION VOLUNTARIA LW170G;:,1 y- oG'-1, 

ESTA SECCION DEBE SER LLENADA POR UN OFICIAL 
Fecha de los Hechos Hora de las Hechos 

Lugar de las Hechos 

Nombre (Apellido/Nombre/Segundo Nombre) 

0.. \ I" e:, C,,, 

Direcci6n: (Numero y Calle) 

(;bfiJ f'f~oll1'eA. J1 law~"$ IJv 
Direcci6n (Local) Trabajo: Numero y Calle 

c,5cJ 

G,-1 

(.N ~ 

Estado C6dlgo Postal 

1vv1 "!ttPI 

iudad 
□ Condado 

Puede ldentificar □ Si 

al Sospechoso IZI No 

-rDESCRIPCION DETALLADA e~_)t> G'.];yp .o\ S?.5pecla,,,:co Me', ayf~!t:1e.._____a.1 Q __ _ 

{;v. aJ,:sJ.,~clof(;{ el 0:')f'l'O ef.do.tP (bMre/11.do e-.\ -.Jm /clS Sc-5ped!ct>Cs 

{a,v:r:a c.i£;£\ ~-~_e __ qverJe 5'olo ~ blf:1'1cm palfa adevzlro 

~G 9.Jp~w~~~·~! __ ~q~-~v✓-~c~1~~~>u~k_J~~~~b~~~~-;~-~~-
~e,~ q,...,.((P.....,rf~ca~ _ _._q+"l)C:_ 0-b ~e=tfA~_Ca._p fc.e,~e_ /'.::".'.]e dc1.vl' jc2llt>tS C-dl 

_,_e~\~-~U~Q~=a_._ __ ~;,,.,_nL-_~lr...,__-----"'C~~€~0c_,___~o~-a=K,=~"--'qu~ o=-'-'b~/+1@~·=~~~b~~Ca=--=~~~~-~~~~-~~'+-
/ 

Se :-5 e1 I Dv1 ...,.,_ "1,WC' de ""&" _,_ Jbvo 
____y--~4:l± ca c>o (b a,JG a~ v ~cv-a, <Z c°:) o /g, a}?(~ _ Cj-_._._---1{tµ..A-<>---_ __,;:'.:p=/,.,,,,a"'-------_ 

vlt>6 /'r1a e-1 of ~lo, 
Scv u V' .. do,& 01 ~~~-be~~ _d◄_f) __ L..Joa "'Ct eP'.1 ~o lr'l'3 ,c. \.n da 

l £'£: ,~~ p-o-ra-+-f-,,_e_.,..,,=-----_.__,Q=.:o,w,{-"-'-Y-_=-r;)_c:;,~~ ....... lb:Cl~.yt.~.._e:ve-:--"\a"'--:~,.__.,_.:=· =l ...... ~ ..... c-::::s===, r:e-',lf,i«,:.,;.,..c,{7 _ _,h""'de'-1'-'p ....... :.....,1~ ....... c~,l:~~·~e-f 

HE LEIDO ESTA OECLAR~CION Y CONFIRMO LA VERACIDAD Y E~CTITUD DE LOS HECHO~ ANTES MENCIONADOS. ESTA DECLARACION SE 

REALIZO EN {LUGAR) (.p(oSO ~ , l .. ..V l r-:d 6~, o'g' • 

EL DIA / '1 DE c)-ut-/lS DE ~, A LAS 0.$5;:, (€M/PM). ~ 

Testigo/Oficial· d· &:-- RPjJ'uf !/)L 

Testigo/Oficial: ..),L-'1 f'J,.:, ~ \ ~ ,:::).,;>,£) L Jfr..l\=~-------
(Con Letra deMoklel -- F1nna del D clarante 
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd. 

Las Vegas, NV 89106 

Administrative 

Location 1401 Decatur Blvd Las Vegas, NV 89108 
Occurred On (Date/ Time) Sunday 6/18/2017 5:20:00 AM 
Reporting Officer 15448 - Carrington, Jonathan 
Entered By 15448 - Carrington, Jonathan 
Related Cases 

Traffic Report No Place Type 

Offenses: 
Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Handgun 
Criminal Activities None/Unknown 

Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry No Force Used Premises Entered 
Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Victims: 

Name: Medina, Maria 

Case Report No.: LLV170618000989 

Sector /Beat W2 
Or Between (Date/ Time) 

Reported On 6/18/2017 
Entered On 6/18/2017 6:36:06 AM 

Jurisdiction Las Vegas, City of 

Accident Involved 

Hate/Bias Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) 
Type Security Tools 

Location Type Restaurant 

Hate/Bias Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) 
Type Security Camera Tools 

Location Type Restaurant 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement Yes Can ID Suspect No 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 6/17/1977 
Height 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 

Age 40 Sex 
Weight 

Female Race White Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Hair Color Eye Color 

Injury None Observed 
Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Handgun 

Addresses 
Phones 
Cellular 

Offender Relationships 
S-UNK 
Notes: 

Name: Pepes Tacos 

(702) 445-8797 

None 

Victim Type Business Written Statement 
Victim of 50426 - Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 

DOB 
Height 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury 

Addresses 
Business 
Phones 
Business/Work 

Offender Relationships 
Notes: 

Suspects: 

Name: UNK 
Alias: 

Scope ID 

Sex Male 
Employer/School 

8/3/2018 7:43 AM 

Height 

Age 
Weight 

Sex Race 
Hair Color 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

1401 N Decatur Las Vegas, NV 89108 United States 

(702) 638-6200 

DOB 

5' 6" Weight 150 

Age 25 Race 

Hair Color 
Occupation/Grade 

LLV170618000989 

Can ID Suspect 

Jlll4ftt_ 
Efunicity 

Black or African 
American 

Eye Color 

Eye Color 

Ethnicity Not Hispanic or 
Latino 
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Addresses 
Phones 
Notes: 

Arrestees: 

Witnesses: 

Name: Crawford, Jonathan 

Written Statement 

DOB 
Height 

Addresses 
Phones 
Cellular 
Notes: 

No 

Name: Medrano, Rebecca 

Written Statement 

DOB 
Height 

Addresses 
Phones 
Cellular 
Notes: 

No 

Name: Rodriguiz, David 

Written Statement 

DOB 
Height 

Addresses 
Phones 
Cellular 
Notes: 

Other Entities: 

Properties:() 

No 

Age 
Weight 

(915) 613-6447 

Age 
Weight 

(915) 433-2013 

Age 
Weight 

(915) 246-5713 

Sex 

Can ID Suspect No 

Race 
Hair Color 

Can ID Suspect No 

Sex Race 
Hair Color 

Can ID Suspect No 

Sex Race 
Hair Color 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Status Stolen 
Description cash 
Manufacturer 
Vehicle Year 
Lie Plate# 
Insurance Company 
Owner V - Pepes Tacos 
Notes: 

Narrative 

Model 
Body Type 

Lie Plate State 

Quantity 1 Value 747.00 

Serial No.\VIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

Ethnicity 
Eye Color 

Ethnicity 
Eye Color 

Ethnicity 
Eye Color 

Color 

On 06/18/17 at approximately 0527 hours, LVMPD dispatch recieved a call from an employee at Pepe's Tacos 1401 N Decatur Blvd, LV, NV, 89108 
stating that they had just been robbed. Details of the call stated that a black male in wearing all black used a handgun and robbed them, then left 
Southbound on Decatur on foot. 

Upon arrival officers spoke to the employee identified as Maria Medina DOB 06/17/77. Maria was working behind the counter at approximately 0519 
when a black male in his early 20's, thin build, wearing all black, jumped over the counter and pointed a black semi automatic handgun at her, 
demanding money. The male had a black mask covering his face and was wearing white baseball style gloves. The male pushed her towards the 
register where she opened it. The male took $767 in cash and left back out the front door. 

Officers where able to view security footage that showed the male run southbound on Decatur and then turn West onto Westmoreland Dr. The 
male had a mask covering his face and wore white and black baseball style gloves that were possible Franklin brand. The suspect left several foot 
prints on the counter when he jumped over. LVMPD crime scene analysts arrived and photographed the scene. A $20 bill was recovered on Yale 
and Westmoreland and was returned to the business. 

8/3/2018 7:43 AM LLV170618000989 Page 2 of 2 
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DEPARTAMENTO DE POLICIA METROPOLITANA DE LAS VEGAS 

Pagina_\ _de _J__ DECLARACION VOLUNTARIA 

Nombre Apellido/Nombre/Segundo Nombre) Fecha de Numero de Seguro Social 

O;?/tJ 
Horario de Trabajo (Dias Libras) Empleador/Escuela 

Direcci6n: (Numero y Calle) Edtt/Depto. # Ciudad Eslado C6digo Postal b 'Z/)0 

i"ZZE._& E g /!;. ½!i.i..,_;./-l_,f;c,c_YL___ct-1,=lj)___,_f.-'----'9 e'--'-T-=D~ta"'-'1--'--l05'_v____,ta_e...:..=.6--'<..IAk...,t! 5.-i-='c;,=(, _,t/l._V"----L-_;'-_,_r_1 ()'--8---+_Tel_efo_no_Tr_ab_ajo_: ~ _ __._ __ 

Oirecci6n (Local) Trabajo: Numero y Calle Edif/Depto. # Ciudad Estado C6digo Postal Ocupaci6n Fecha de Salida (visitantes) 

Lugar para comunicarnos con ud. durante el dia Horario para comunicarnos con ud. durante el dia Puede ldentificar O Si 

alSospechoso 

DESCRIPCION DETALLADA _v--/4-"~----'------'-/,.IIC~....,A/ ............ l?....,,dJ~-------"-f_r_..w'-->£...L-h-=~;;....,f_-'--i..==~---'---.:...=:......+=~...=.1.-

__1~ (/)Q (l_on (,dlu o:;)~ !t-i.. at»'l?/4,zc£J?o I &no 
' I , 

Y cksrzY/-I Yo <;,y/; Ghz /4 out¼/~ de. 6m..£,..q€¼ e's Wr4 7 I -~~-~~-~~----+,~~~~--~~-~~~-_=r-~-~__,_, ~~ 

d~ r ~61 {/c,,J£) J~ a/ te._s,hvw?? Y- ~bx P1Y1 I~ Ql/£1-f-k.. 

Cd~) pvinr_ ,' pv/k 
7 

' 

I 

Mcu ct. k Yo 

HE LEIDO ESTA DECLARACION Y CONFIRMO LA VERACIDAD Y EXACTITUD DE LOS HECHOS ANTES MENCIONADOS. ESTA DECLARACION SE 

Testigo/Oficial: 

REALIZO fvLUGAR) I\( c, ~ N \)Ii (A"\J.fl, g W9 L V I NJ 9 ~ I .) ~ 
EL DIA -[12_~-- DE J J)1 I () DE J)_ 0 7 T A LAS ObOO ~/PM). 

cZ ----
(Flnna) 

S £-L\J\N \ 13'l'u Testigo/Oficial: ~ 
(Con Letra de Moldel Finna del Declarante 
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DEPARTAMENTO DE POLICIA METROPOLITANA DE LAS VEGAS 

Pagina _\_de ___l_ DECLARACION VOLUNTARIA 

WDW 

Fecha de Nacimiento Numero de Segura Social 

Raza Sexo (Dias Libres) Empleador/Escuela 

p 

q;:t00 ;z;r1o~ Dt 
Direcci6n (Local) Trabajo: Numero y Calle 

Edif/Deplo. # z· dad 

I~ I 92 
Edif/Deplo. # Ciudad 

Telefono Trabajo: 
---.---~---

Ocupaci6n Fecha de Salida (visitantes) 

Lugar para comunicarnos con ud. durante el dia Horario para comunicamos con ud. durante el dia Puede lden1ific.ir D Sf 

al Sospechoso JZ!.No 

DESCRIPCION DETALLADA .el Y'l1CIC ~ tc.c. 0 dr/lJ ell C, l vY\O_j f_a dQr rJ_C2_5 e.neon.frt) 

~ ~ ~::_ tr<-~• J; 0 Cf I.JC... g, dv ic Y~ fq C6'~~ 

( 
T 

C ( dineY'O tl1. ~ !1..._0:<)fe y de. 1 J,, 'Yl65 PuS.o. r1nz I 

p_jsl.o et1k d !Ci droo )>4+0 de_ 912fp_iqf "'I @Sihs:YQ 

Le- aclr_.. /4 Cct~~- fuvvi.o (. ( d.'nc-ro Q 1/evo ~(\ 'Sc.i"r71:l:!'.JQ5. r dr i rJ. co L': I Y'r!0'5.{u dca r Wt".tto U. 5tC(J_VQ.j r f Yc..2 4 h1Jy4 n k 

JJllJ!1,f;[:L 

HE LEIDO ESTA DECLARACION Y CONFIRMO LA VERACIDAD Y EXACTITUD DE LOS HECHOS ANTES MENCIONADOS. ESTA DECLARACION SE 

REALIZO EN J;UGAR) ,\\.o ~ OE. -1'\A.R. g. VD \..vl tvJ g~to8 
ELDIA /~ DE _ __,~L..LL...___ -~-- ALAS JA:i02... PM), 

Testigo/Oficial: 
(Firma) 

Testigo/Oficial: IJ\(;,L '\J, N \ ~~9 ::z, 
(Con Letra de Moldo) 
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd. 

Las Vegas, NV 89106 

Administrative 

Location 2685 Eastern LV, NV 89119 
Occurred On (Date/ Time) Saturday 7/1/2017 2:35:00 AM 
Reporting Officer 08409 - Patterson, Mark S 
Entered By 08788 - Morales, Carlos R 
Related Cases 

Traffic Report No Place Type 

Offenses: 
Consp Robbery(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Handgun - Automatic 
Criminal Activities 

Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Handgun - Automatic 
Criminal Activities 

Kidnapping, 2nd Degree, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.310.2 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Assault, W/Dw(F)-NRS 200.471.2B 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
~ry ~m~E~~ 

Weapons Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 
Criminal Activities 

Victims: 

Name: ROBERTOS 

Victim Type Business Written Statement 
Victim of 50147 - Consp Robbery(F)-NRS 200.380 

50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 
Height 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury 

Addresses 
Business 
Phones 
Cellular 

Offender Relationships 
Notes: 

Age 
Weight 

2685 S Eastern Ave 

(702) 431-2754 

Name: ROBLEDO. RUBEN RAY 

Sex 

Lv, NV 89121 

Case Report No.: LLV170701000545 

Or Between (Date I Time) 
Reported On 7/1/2017 
Entered On 7/1/2017 2:53:26 AM 

Jurisdiction 

Accident Involved 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security 

Location Type Restaurant 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security 

Location Type Restaurant 

Hate/Bias 
Type Security 

Location Type Restaurant 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security 

Location Type Restaurant 

Sector /Beat H1 

Clark County 

Tools 

Tools 

Tools 

Tools 

Can ID Suspect 

Race Ethnicity 
Hair Color Eye Color 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

United States 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement Yes Can ID Suspect Yes 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

50076 - Kidnapping, 2nd Degree, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.310.2 
50201 - Assault, W/Dw(F)-NRS 200.471.2B 
50147 - Consp Robbery(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 4/5/1980 
Height 5' 7" 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 

Age 37 
Weight 219 

Robertos employee 

Sex Male Race White Ethnicity Not Hispanic or Latino 
Hair Color Black Eye Color Brown 

Injury None Observed 
Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Firearm • Automatic (Type Not Stated) 

Addresses 
Business 

8/3/2018 7:45 AM 

2685 S Eastern Ave Lv, NV 89121 United States 

LLV170701000545 Page 1 of 3 
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Phones 
Business/Work 

Offender Relationships 
S-LNU, FNU 
S -LNU, FNU 
Notes: 

(702) 431-2754 

None 
None 

Name: KASILIAN-TAPIA, ESTER 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement Yes 
Victim of 50076 - Kidnapping. 2nd Degree, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.310.2 

50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
50201 -Assault, W/Dw(F)-NRS 200.471.2B 
50147 - Consp Robbery(F)-NRS 200.380 

Can ID Suspect No 

DOB 6/15/1974 Age 43 Sex Female Race White Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Height 5' 5" Weight 230 

Robertos Employee 
Hair Color Brown Eye Color Brown 

Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury None Observed 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

Addresses 
Business 
Phones 
Cellular 

2685 S Eastern Ave Lv, NV 89121 United States 

(702) 431-2754 

Offender Relationships 
S -LNU, FNU 
S - LNU, FNU 
Notes: 

Victim Was Stranger 
None 

Name: DE LEON GONZALEZ, JUAN CARLOS 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement Refused 
Victim of 50201 - Assault, W/Dw(F)-NRS 200.471.2B 

50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
50147 - Consp Robbery(F)-NRS 200.380 
50076 - Kidnapping, 2nd Degree, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.310.2 

Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 

Can ID Suspect No 

DOB 11/27/1968 Age 48 Sex Male Race White Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Height 5' 8" 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury None Observed 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 

Offender Relationships 
S- LNU, FNU 
S- LNU, FNU 

Weight 226 Hair Color Brown Eye Color Brown 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

1601 Eastwood Dr Lv, NV 89121 United States 

(702) 604-4441 

Relationship Unknown 
Relationship Unknown 

Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 

Notes: citizen buying food. 

Suspects: 

Name: LNU, FNU 
Alias: 

Scope ID DOB 

Sex Male Height 5' 8" - 5' 
10" 

Employer/School 

Addresses 
Phones 
Notes: 

Name: LNU, FNU 
Alias: 

Scope ID DOB 

Sex Male Height 5' 8" - 5' 
10" 

Employer/School 

8/3/2018 7:45 AM 

Weight 

Weight 

Age 18-25 

130 - 150 Hair Color 

Race Black or African Ethnicity 
American 

Eye Color 

Occupation/Grade 

Age 18-25 

130 - 150 Hair Color 

Race Black or African Ethnicity 
American 

Eye Color 

Occupation/Grade 

LLV170701000545 

Not Hispanic or 
Latino 

Not Hispanic or 
Latino 
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Addresses 
Phones 
Notes: 

Properties: () 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Status Stolen Quantity 1 Value 303.00 Color Green 
Description US currency 
Manufacturer US currency 
Vehicle Year 
Lie Plate# 
Insurance Company 
Owner V - ROBERTOS 
Notes: 

Model 
Body Type 

Lie Plate State 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Serial No.\VIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

Status Found Quantity 1 Value 30.00 Color Green 
Description US currency 
Manufacturer US currency 
Vehicle Year 
Lie Plate# 
Insurance Company 
Owner V - ROBERTOS 
Notes: 

Narrative 

Model 
Body Type 

Lie Plate State 

Serial No.\VIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

On July 1, 2017 at approximately 0238 hours Officers responded to a robbery with a gun call at the Roberto's Taco Shop (#18) located at 2685 S 
Eastern Suit# 400 Las Vegas Nevada 89146. 

Upon arrival Officers contacted employee Ruben Robledo date of birth 04/05/1980. Ruben stated while cooking and completing costumer's orders 
he saw two unidentified black male adults with their faces concealed, enter, point hand guns at customers and another employee named Ester 
Tapia, while yelling at them: "GET DOWN, GET DOWN." Suspect #2 (the lookout) forcibly put Ester to the ground, while maintaining gun coverage 
on the unknown customers. 
Ruben stated Suspect #1 immediately jumped over the cashier counter and pointed a gun at him, stating "OPEN THE CASH REGISTER." Ruben 
stated he feared for his life and immediately he complied to the suspects' orders. 

Ruben further stated while Suspect #1 was stealing the money from the register, the other suspect (#2) was walking up to the unknown customers 
and demanding their property at gun point. Although most customers remain unidentified, video confirmed property was forcibly taken from 3 
unidentified customers. Customer Juan Deleon Gonzalez was the only other victim identified, as he remained on scene. 

Ruben stated the suspect near the register seemed nervous and asked where the business safe was located. Ruben stated he told the suspect 
that they did not have any. Ruben then stated the suspect pointed the gun at him and demanded he move back towards the rear of the kitchen. 
Ruben again feared for his life, and felt he may be shot. Subsequently, he complied with the suspect's orders. Ruben stated as he was walking 
back he observed the suspect looking under the casher counter and register drawer for more money and to confirm if they owned a safe. 
Ruben stated as the robbery came to a close, one of the suspects shouted "we are out of time lets go." 
It was at this point both suspects ran out the front door to the rear of the Roberto's (south side) with the stolen currency. 
ID was requested and responded. 

Officers checked the area and found $30.00 US currency to the rear of the Dollar Loan which was returned to Robert's. 

8/3/2018 7:45 AM LLV170701000545 Page 3 of 3 
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Page _j_ of _j_ 

Specific Crime 

Residence Address: (Number & Street) J 
~ f3\v 

Bus. (Local) Address: (Number & Street) 

- .s 

LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT I Event# 

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT (7 o1 p I - CJ~> 

THIS PORTION TO BE COMPLETED BY OFFICER 

Bldg./Apt.# ity 

Date Occurred Time Occurred 

7-1-,1, C?Z-srr 
□ City 

,.e-county 

ug~~f.# l City I a s j/_-"-P-t-=...c..-L--'-..L..L.-"-'-----"'----'-'----'=-------+------I 

l • .- w Los Ve as 
Can You Identify D Yes 

the Suspect? ~o 

DETAILS V ')~ 3_0r J.,.' UQ( J:~-Co11p lt. of ~l.,l~~~~ 
±:'1/\.() side claac inJ J \rJC1-~ l ocALeci-~ a "!'.)p \J+t laA.v ,1e.. of' 
A\ e ~ ~ Ltf"Y-1 pd D \Jbr J:::hLJ!lJ.--V--l-l-.J........IC_----VlJ"J.M---4..L.1/-U-~,I......J,(LJ.Lµ.Ll'-'c...J......UlLJL--\I--V 1-

- .fb re ~ s: Let--'---"'( s_,_V' __ 

~-l---d-+---'-l'~L.lL..Ll...L.+-~<L...>S..d,.A..-V'--+-~~~,.L--l.,J..l-ll~~-l+-JG1-G-cd:: t: htZ 
b:\£ ~Lv, Clste.d W1-e do 5hou2 611/V\ }kt ~hl£e 6¢.Lta.JL 

~..__.__._...L1_._._Je__.....d1W_buh/f 00.P, ~- Jd3:L V\ ·-\:0 ( J h 1:s 1p0trtnQr :h2 t;tif ett :rcJtr1c.*~Jts~e :lo 5JL w\,1,,i~ UIAf 

(SIGNATURE I 

Witness/Officer: 4/tVV {p? 
LVMPD 85 (REV. 4H18)' (PRINTED) 
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FYI LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT I Evej~('\ (p 
1
_· /71,..-U r--' 

VOLUNTARYSTATEMENT . --~- 1 _ ~~-l~ 

"PRINT" "Click here lo add/edit Event Number" 

THIS PORTION TO BE COMPLETED BY OFFICER 

Your Name (Last/ First/ Middle) 

oe/2e-
Eyes Work Schdl. (Hours) Days Off 

00 Cc-\.\\ /V ~ 
Residence Address (Numbet & Slreel} Bldg/Apt. # City State Zip Code 

1010 l--os V . NV gc/ /) 7 Bus. Phone 

Business (Local) Address ( umber & Stmet} Bldg/Apt. # State Zip Code Occupation 

cho 
Best place to contact you during the day: 

~O\ S . ~Qn on 'Q/0 N A-
DETAILS: 

\s+ 

6:.SY5 

Date Occu,red 

Departure Date (If Visitor) 

Can you 
identify the 
Suspect? 

For Official Use Only 

/)//\..1JA,:f../ - - -

Yes 

No 

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT AND I AFFIRM TO THE TRUTH AND ACCURACY OF THE FACTS CONTAINED HEREIN. THIS STATEMENT 

WAS COMPLETED AT (LOCATI~)_. y (let S:. l'\.lL \;:... Y.3LVb 
ON THE ~ DAY OF vu L 2017 AT l q 19---

Witness/Officer: 

/t;&[CP 

[1J..,di □ P.M. 

-L· 
• P# 
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT Event# 

Page_l_ of_/_ VOLUNTARY STATEMENT /7'7 - ~rl/tr 
'-'----'--------"--~----

THIS PORTION TO BE COMPLETED BY OFFICER 
Specific Crime Date Occurred 

"7-/-7 
Location of Occurrence 

.- J . a-'f ~/),,.,.:,. I 
Sector/Beat 

/-;/-/ 
D City 

_,Ej County 

Residence Address: (Number & Street} Bldg.I Apt.# City Res. Phone: 

d4' ?f ~ :'.7 · Eti7.~t1,'-"--.J'-----'---"'L::;..._;U=-----'-----=-l''-'-------',<c.....:..,_.,;'-f-+-B-us._Ph□_ne:______L___~:::......i....,-+---
Bus. (Local) Address: (Number & Street} Bldg.I Apt.# City State Occupation 

-----========--...JL-___L ___ ~_ c -------Best place lo contact you during the day Can You Identify D Yes 

the Suspect? ~o 

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT AN~ I A_F!J,8..M TO THf,.Il!_UTH AND ACCURACY OF THE FACTS CONTAINE ~~-"T~~EMENT WAS 

COMPLETED AT (LOCATION) 4ttJc:,_ '$ tJZ.=---==--Sf.e--c:--'"".L_..L.....:.r, _______ --A-~~-----------

0. THE la= ~·:-:~~=--"-=--:,-J-v_(7___ AT ____ (AM/PM), t(J77. 
Witness/Officer: ~ 

(SIGNATURE) ~7<8 ~ 
Witness/Officer: __L ,,{ /41 VO LPL P# ~ )?.. v' ~ <"/ ... 
LVMPD 85 (REV. 6-08)~ (PRINTED) ~~~ATEMENT 
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FYI LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT [Event# 

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT )1-0':\-0 \-osLf 5 
"PRINT" "Click here to addledit Event Number" 

THIS PORTION TO BE COMPLETED BY OFFICER 

Specific Crime 

~obkr"'-
Date Oa;yrred / Time Occurred 

CJ-t /DI ('1" 0'300-0t.fOO 

County 

Race Sex Hair Eyes Work Schdl. '(Hours) Days Off Business I School 

,C fr/ /51?.0 fi.t.tl 6·-1·.JO St-.S 
Residence Address 

17 0 SOI/Tl~ 
City State Zip Code Re5. Phone -;' (J ;)_ -J, ~6 -1 t;J / /, 

f 9 j-½ L 4J V HAJ /V V 8 7 f IJ Y su5. Phone 

Business (Local) Address (Number & Stn,et) Bldg/Apt. # City State Zip Code Occupallon Departure Date (If Visitor) 

Best place to contact you during the day: Best time to contact you during the day: 

f ff. f'llo» c - lo)_,~ 0J-J. &/I f 4/11 - JO ~ 
DETAILS: 

I 

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT AND I AFFIRM TO THE TRUTH AND ACCURACY OF THE FACTS CONT. I 

WAS COMPLET~D AT (LOCATION} Lf 00 S~ MCAc+ '°' L )Lr.'-,, /)\v 

Can you 
identify the 
Suspect? 

D Yes 

~No 

I. 
LL[r 

TEMENT 

ON THE ?,.V<i). DAY OF h + , 2017 AT /I I'{ ~'-M- 0 P.M 

Witness/Officer: ~A!!!._ /1... ·:: ~---

~ (SIGN~ /L--------:::~....-,:==-----
Witness/Officer: ~~• ii) l c,,---z._ f S ~ 1) 1 { ../1 

(PRINTED) P# SIGNATURE OF PERSON GIVING STATEMENT 

LVMPD85(Rov. B/11)WORD2010 
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd. 

Las Vegas, NV 89106 

Administrative 

Location 6475 W Charleston Blvd LV, NV 89146 
Occurred On (Date I Time) Saturday 8/12/2017 9:24:00 PM 
Reporting Officer 16224 - Smith, Dylan 
Entered By 16224 - Smith, Dylan 
Related Cases 

Traffic Report Place Type 

Offenses: 
Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 
Criminal Activities None/Unknown 

Kidnapping, 1st Degree(F)-NRS 200.310.1 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Forcible Premises Entered 

Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Assault, W/Dw(F)-NRS 200.471.28 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 
Criminal Activities None/Unknown 

Victims: 

Name: Harris. Colin 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 7/18/1986 
Height 5' 9" 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury None Observed 

Addresses 
Phones 
Cellular 

Offender Relationships 
Notes: 

Name: Nozohour. Moein 

Age 31 Sex 
Weight 260 

(702) 339-8431 

Male 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, EIDW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 12/20/1992 Age 24 Sex Male 
Height 5' 11" Weight 250 
Employer/School Pizza and bakery 
Occupation/Grade Owner 
Injury None Observed 

Case Report No.: LLV170812003809 

Sector /Beat P1 
Or Between (Date/ Time) 

Reported On 8/12/2017 
Entered On 8/12/2017 10:45:30 PM 

Yes 

Jurisdiction Las Vegas, City of 

Accident Involved 

Hate/Bias Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) 
Type Security Tools 

Location Type Restaurant 

Hate/Bias 
Type Security 

Location Type Restaurant 
Tools 

Hate/Bias Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) 
Type Security Interior Lights Tools 

Camera 
Location Type Restaurant 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security Tools 

Location Type Restaurant 

Can ID Suspect No 

Race White 
A,tf'-ftlf--

Etflnicity Not Hispanic or Latino 
Hair Color Brown Eye Color Brown 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 

Yes Can ID Suspect No 

Race White Ethnicity Not Hispanic or Latino 
Hair Color Black Eye Color Brown 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 

7636 Tender Tassals St LV, NV 89149 United States 

(702) 328-6284 

Offender Relationships 

8/3/2018 7:48 AM LL V170812003809 Page 1 of 3 
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Notes: 

Name: Zaynab, Sameh 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement Yes 
Victim of 50051 - Kidnapping, 1st Degree(F)-NRS 200.310.1 

50138 - Robbery, EIDW(F)-NRS 200.380 
50426 - Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 

DOB 6/21/1990 
Height 5' 4" 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 

Age 27 Sex Female 
Weight 145 

Can ID Suspect No 

Race White Ethnicity Not Hispanic or Latino 
Hair Color Brown Eye Color Brown 

Injury None Observed 
Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Other 

Offender Relationships 
Notes: 

Name: Nozohour, Farvin 

7636 Tender Tassels St Las Vegas, NV 89149 United States 

None 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement No 
Victim of 50201 - Assault, W/Dw(F)-NRS 200.471.2B 

DOB 11/23/2014 
Height 3' 5" 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 

Age 02 Sex 
Weight 60 

Male Race White 
Hair Color Bald 

Can ID Suspect No 

Ethnicity Not Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Injury None Observed 
Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 

Addresses 
Phones 
Cellular 

Witnesses: 

Name: Lopez, Teodora 

Written Statement 

DOB 10/29/1976 
Height 5' 5" 

Addresses 
Phones 
Cellular 
Notes: 

Yes 

(702) 328-6284 

Can ID Suspect No 

Age 40 Sex Female Race White 
Weight 137 Hair Color Black 

(702) 248-6692 

Name: Chamele-Morales. Enma 

Written Statement 

DOB 4/12/1985 
Height 5' 1" 

Addresses 
Phones 
Notes: 

Yes 

Name: Lopez. Armondo 

Written Statement 

DOB 11/4/1967 
Height 5' 2" 

Addresses 
Phones 
Cellular 
Notes: 

8/3/2018 7:48 AM 

Yes 

Can ID Suspect No 

Age 32 Sex Female Race White 
Weight 139 Hair Color Black 

Can ID Suspect No 

Age 49 Sex Male Race White 
Weight 120 Hair Color Black 

616262238 

LL V170812003809 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Page 2 of3 
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Properties: () 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Status Stolen 
Description Unk amout US currency 
Manufacturer 
Vehicle Year Body Type 

Model 

Lie Plate# 
Insurance Company 

Lie Plate State 

Owner V - Nozohour, Moein 
Notes: 

Narrative 

Quantity 1 Value 00.00 Color 

Serial No.\VIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

On 08/13/2017 at 2114 hours a robbery occurred at 6425 W Charleston Blvd Las Vegas NV 89146 at Pizza House and Bakery. The details of the call 
stated that 2 black males both with guns entered the business and help people at gun point wile they took the money out of the register. 

Upon arrival I made contact with the owner Nozohour, Moein Born 12/20/1992. Nozohour stated that 2 males walked in the business and took 
money while pointing guns at his wife Zaynab, Sameh born 06/21/1990 and his son Nozohour, Farvin born 11/23/2014. He described suspect #1 to 
be a black male 6'0" 1801bs wearing a black hooded sweat shirt and black sweat pants with a black ski mask on and a white sock on his left hand. 
Suspect #1 had a black medium framed semi auto handgun in his right hand. Suspect #1 also had black Adidas shoes on with 3 white stripes 
down the side had what looks like a gray diamond design on the mid thigh of his black sweat pants. 

Suspect #2 was described as a black male 5'11" 190 wearing a gray hooded sweat shirt and gray sweat pants, with the hood of his sweat shirt 
pulled over his face and white with red design shoes. Suspect #2 had what looked like a long gun/ rifle with a high capacity magazine carried in his 
right hand. Suspect #1 entered from the north doors of the of the business and made contact with Harris, Colin born 07/18/1992 where he cocked 
the the handgun and pointed it at him wile telling him to empty his pockets. Suspect #1 then jumped the front counter pointing the handgun at 
Zaynab while she runs away. Suspect #1 then jumped back over the counter where he grabbed Zaynab and threw her to the ground and told her 
not to move or he would shoot her. Suspect #2 then walked into the business through the south entrance pointing the gun at the customers 
saying "don't move or I'm going to shoot you all" he then walked to the cash register while pointing the gun at Nozohour and his son Farvin telling 
them not to move. Suspect #1 opened the cash register wile suspect #2 tried to carry the safe out of the room. Suspect #1 took an unknown 
amount of cash from the register, suspect #2 pushed the safe out of the room but ended up leaving it due to it being to heavy. 

Det Rafertty arrived on location conducted an investigation and was able to collect the video footage of the incident from the security cameras in 
the business. ID showed up on location and processed the scene. 

8/3/2018 7:48 AM LLV170812003809 Page 3 of 3 
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Page_/ _ of_/_ 
LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT Event# 

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT / 7c/b/7.. - s 

Location of Occurrence & L1zs- &J C lf'ft"F,t,JE~7QA/ 

-f!our Name Last/ First/ Middle 

s 
Residence Address: (Number & Street) Sldg./Apt.# City 

Bus. (Local) Address: (Number & Street) Bldg./Apt.# City 

Best place to co • 

ce/ 

Date of Birth 

Work Schdl. {Hours) (Days Off) Business/ Schoo 

State Zip Code Res. Phone: 

Bus. Phone: 

State Zip Code Occupation 

Best time to contact you during the day 

Depart Date (if visitor) 

Can You Identify D Yes 

the Suspect? D No 

DETAILS :I ev(ts r ,•,H:;JJY At ~!)te wHeJJ A 5/(,'/JA,Jy 8Lllc~ .9())/ 

L c~D /j} w,'f~ A s/c.,' 1'-1/1.5(< AJJ1J GUN -e cou'CeV AND 

/ 1J w/fH A &iF L { A,if/) fOL '[} ft1(; fo 
G'~-f: <YN f/le -9taJfJ/u, I# 0ert r!IRJ l't> podc:flTJ ,f'/(C?J 

7 7 

-Lt>iA L/C ev c;<IC{:: 1Q 1flt3 /(,ef'fAIJl<A ;Jft ,4NU JJ 11/ev -(JV et:._ 

-t:/ie eouNte~ ll1 ft!B+ Poi'N±;t: G'or ut Mu f{A;J 

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT AND I AFFIRM O THE TRUTH ANO ACCURACY OF THE FACTS CONTAINED HEREIN. THIS STATEMENT WAS 

'b ~OF~STATEMENT 
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vV 
DEPARTAMENT0 DE P0LICIA METR0P0LITANA DE LAS VEGAS l lncidente # 

DECLARACION VOLUNTARIA . ;?Df-1i:J-, ?fa<, 
-----;---------~ 
PaginaJde_L__ 

Nombre (Apellldo/Nombre/Segundo Nombre) 

~- J s 
(Dias Libres) Empleador/Escuela 

Direccl6n; (Numero y Calle) Edif/Depto. # Ciudad Estado C6digo Postal 

Direcci6n (Local) Trabajo: Numero y Calle Edif/Depto. # Ciudad 

lv 
Estado C6digo Postal 

,'4/' FJ'/V& 
Lugar para comunicarnos con ud. durante el dla 

alSospechoso 

DESCRIPCION DETALLAD~ tr-52>26.4 .&-:~& ~~Q tt,~ c-::S:CtJ ck ,c;'( 

/2c,u120 &6:: ¢,r""= IM-M11 Vat'. r,,,e: A vex y HI,.(-<.; t? (4L Se-°2"2ax e--t:.- £«$0>/('. o?t-1'4 

z!H,,,772 y ;:;bw >' p &/I~ tLd ~ Pc(!,~ 06/U...,-,...,P',? :Su~ V C~G'dsl't 

No 

L?,s n4t 
V 

G;,v:1b~~ Ht .d6 "eac1 LJlf:-z?Z,JA.1 ,.ue 6't,-11n> 
I 

7 
y ~ .[ /2#- ~~ l{ uo ,n e::: a-T p I' ' 

S--¥ ,k/L@U>,V A- L4 G:6"~ 

63v:rlf'f wk /2tnY 

HE LEIDO ESTA DECLARACION Y CONFIRMO LAV IDAD Y EXACTITUD DE LOS HECHOS ANTES MENCIONADOS. ESTA DECLARACION SE 

REALIZO EN (LUGAR)---:--=------~~~------------------------------

EL DIA /;)-- DE~f/£c~"'--"-'!IW_
77 

__ ~..,,,? D ~dt:¥~'-- A LAS ..L5!!& (AM/l!M). 

Tesligo/Oficiaf: {-~ 

(! Z~ f]*~ "-)__~hrnd. --C /rlcft (774 Je 
(Con Lotra de Moldel V Firm• del Daclarante 

Testigo/Oflclal: 
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l 
DEPARTAMENTO DE POLICIA METROPOLITANA DE LAS VEGAS I lncidente # 

_Pa_· g_ina_ -__::-_l-=-d_e ___ (--=--=--________,_ DECLARACION VOLUNTARIA ~-~/Ji~"-· f--'--/.)._-__ 3fb __ 7' __ 

Lv 

Nombre (Apeflido/Nombre/Segundo~o~re) 

A ~ CJ-0(1"' 
Raza Sexo 

·-:-r--
E:statura Horario de Trabajo (Dias Libres) 

I l - '3 

Dlrecci6 (Local) Trabajo: Numero y Calle Edif/Depto. # Ciudad • Ocupaci6n Fecha de Salida (visitantes) 

Lugar para comunicamos con ud. durante el dia Horario para comunicamos con ud. durante el dia Puede tdentfflcar D Si 

al Sospechoso D No 

bofYtoS tia-fc),__ o.d,ren+ro <:t-S un roto, ~rr1-1v70.S asi odreof0 

Cuando OtJSQ f-roJ' 1.ba f7/?oS (Po..ro.. denlro de fa nuesfrq Ul'!ldort 

V r a fra q2 ers on q_ to-r1 to le: r'l for I o.. f uer 1:o--t ra s erQ. 

\.f fQ.r11 bl en f YO...,-°' O.rJ"l---1°'- v Iv urt tCO ofcg o c;s esc.uc~r 
I r 
q:ue eor}o C@-r'+u <?M \( ( o d ,·J e., a. yyz, E:S pa Jo 9= w 

c.._e: t=tro..ro. I 0. e uert G,, \J no<;. cV) ce..(l,-'b,_J0::10,Q a.1CA 01,Q:>11°' 

( 

0 

y?or {a, 
tVefjrO 

Puerf:o. de 

HE LEIDO ESTA DECLARACION Y C9JIJ"IRMO LA VERACIDAD Y EXACTITUD DE LOS HECHOS ANTES MENCIONADOS. ESTA DECLARACION SE 

REALIZO EN (LUGAR) --w-· ~5'"'l'--A'/l ___ ~-------------...,,,..------------

EL DIA /.l-- De Afus;n, _ J~<~ ,;,,,a • LAs &= ••-~ Jd.l J-'1 ":JJ.-
Tesu901oficia1: z__ 

(z•l --C-o. Jl/r\{'01... LdPET~ 
Testigo/Oficlal: C _______fr,,tl f?..); S-? __..Ye-....,c1..::ec.....>....-"--'CJ\....__,,v=-=-~~~---'---=----

(Con Letra da Molda) T Flrrna del Dactarante 
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\A) 

Pagina __ ( de _f_ 
DEPARTAMENTO DE POLICIA METROPOLITANA DE LAS VEGAS I lncidente # 

DECLARACION VOLUNTARIA _ /)<?f:6? . sEv9 

Nombre (Apellido/Nombre/Segun o Nombre} _\ 

"{" YV\.Q.. V\ C\O 
Raza Sexo Peso Cabello (Dias Libres) Empteador/Escuela 

Telefono Casa: 

Telefono Trabajo: 

Direcci6n (Local) Trabajo: Numero y Calle Edif/Oepto. # Ciudad Estado Codigo Postal Ocupaci6n 

Lugar para comunicamos con ud. durante el dia Horario para comunicarnos con ud. durante el dia 

DESCRIPCION DETALLADA J;s_ko...\, 9. s e \/\.d: oJ._ ~ 
,e · o._ '4\.._ cl c \]'.J\.. ~ o 

~1 0 \ ~ r\{ tj-__ Gk 0! 'S ((_Cl::, \J '\A Ci '? I 'S.<\:-0 \ ts... 

1 Q. 0 cn:::Q • des t'"";: 6TT1,._ou j ~ c 
~ \/\.A.\ t \,\q 2< \e. ~ ~ Q_"w-,." 

S--~ < -re..¼ S.. o \c 

Fecha de Salida (visltantes) 

Puede ldentificar D SI 

al Sospechoso o 

a.\ 

HE LEIDO ESTA DECLARACION Y CONFIRMO LA VERACIDAD Y EXACTITUD DE LOS HECHOS ANTES MENCIONADOS. ESTA DECLARACION SE 

Testigo/Oficial: 

REALIZO EN (LUGAR) S;? 
ELDUI ,:).. DE ~~ :;,.,? ALAS~A..,.,. 

Testigo/Oficial: _ 

c: (Z~ ~~x-, 
(Con Letra de Molde} 
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Page_J_ofJ_ 

LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT 1 Event# 

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT ,17ab',2, sEo9 

THIS PORTION TO BE COMPLETED BY OFFICER 

Specific Crime 4aw 

Location of Occ?¥? J &,,/ 

Your Name (Last/ First/ Middle) 

!'- z 
Sex 

F 
Eyes Wor1< Schdl. (Hours} (Days Off} 

Residence Address: (Number & Street) Bldg./Apt.# City 

~ b 3E:. - ~QK "'"r"al ~~ "t S 
Bus. (Local) Address: (Number & Street) Bldg./Apt.# City State Zip Code 

Best place to contact you during the day Best timfl' to contact you during the day 

Date Occurred 

tY-/~-/ 

Res. Phone: 

Bus. Phone: 

Occupation Depart Date (if visitor) 

Can You Identify □ Yes 

the Suspect? □ No 

0ETA1Ls .f-: __ I _ __.., ....... S~.e._,_e.~-~~Y\~_~C ....... ~m ............ o~J('_Q __ s_~_m~e~b~ol=-<---f~~~~...._-c~c~M~e __ _ 

Tu \-hl qJ ~ ¥1:or;t C-Jt Ye~ :sJ:-u CAnc\ t~~ to ~ G 0 :0'.\ f 

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT AND I AFFIRM TO Jl:iE TRUTH AND ACCURACY OF THE FACTS CONTAINED HEREIN. THIS STATEMENT WAS 

COMPLETED AT (LOCATION) ____ __..5-U~--------------------------

ON THE -~~__.~ DAY OF /lvfivs Z- AT q • So (AM/~ #2 . ~ LY( f:/SL--

~ {SIGNATURE) 

Witness/Offi r: ----i,rf2-........ -"'--5-==m=J=-1_tf~ ___ P# / ti ii 2 
,. (PRINTEDI LYMPD B5 (REY. 6~8) 
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT 

Page_l_of_/_ VOLUNTARY STATEMENT 
I Event# 

;Z&ilJ.- '3?J? 

THIS PORTION TO BE COMPLETED BY OFFICER 
Specific Crime Date Occurred 

City 
□ County 

)f( Your Name (Last I First I Middle) 

/'· • 
y 

DateofBirth 

l 2--?., _; 7 q • 
Hair Eyes Work Schdl. (Hours) (Days Off) 

--~~-~~~~--~_B_l~_,_A~i-~~~----~------~~~~~._-~B~¼,~ 
Residence Address: (Number & Street) Bldg.I Apt.# State Zip Code Res. Phone: 

7 Bus. Phone:7-!> 

DETAILS / ti/V'Q S 

R.~ s,T C\bb 

CO () f:; I)] 3 +b ~ f\v"J ":>S>S a. 

Is-~, }h£ ~¼y ~,om Pir.~ 

Occupation 

Can You Identify D Yes 

the Suspect? D No 

~ ) T J.,<ftyh 

±o../-t,~ 

Td -1-6,:, 
k hi cb Pt) 

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT ND I AFFIRM TO THE TRUTH AND ACCURACY OF THE FACTS CONTAIN!:D HEREIN. THIS STATEMENT WAS 

COMPLETED AT (LOCATION) 5.. jr" L~ s T Q I\,/ R J 'y 

ON THE /.?- =---2,~~cz,;,,r::_ ___ AT '7><t't:: (AM/e!'!'D, 
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd. 

Las Vegas, NV 89106 

Administrative 

Location 6380 W Charleston Blvd Las Vegas, NV 89107 
Occurred On (Date/Time) Thursday 8/17/20171:40:00 AM 
Reporting Officer 15222 - Lynn, Joshua 
Entered By 15222 - Lynn, Joshua 
Related Cases 

T raffle Report Place Type 

Offenses: 
Kidnapping, 1st Degree(F)-NRS 200.310.1 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Handgun - Automatic 
Criminal Activities Possessing/Concealing 

Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry No Force Used Premises Entered 
Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Victims: 

Name: Terrible's Gas Station 
Victim Type Business Written Statement 

Case Report No.: LLV170817000241 

Or Between (Date I Time) 
Reported On 8/17/2017 
Entered On 8/17/2017 2:06:34 AM 

Jurisdiction 

Accident Involved 

Hate/Bias 
Type Security 

Location Type Convenience Store 

Sector /Beat W8 

Las Vegas, City of 

Tools 

Hate/Bias Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) 
Type Security Tools 

Location Type Convenience Store 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security Tools 

Location Type Convenience Store 

Can ID Suspect 
Victim of 50426 - Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 
Addresses 
Business 
Phones 
Business/Work 

Name: Castro, Josephine 

6380 W Charleston Las Vegas, NV 89107 United States 

(702) 870-0384 

.___{?,[( J.J-f 1nL 
Victim Type Individual Written Statement Yes Can ID Suspect No 
Victim of 50051 - Kidnapping, 1st Degree(F)-NRS 200.310.1 

50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
DOB 8/27/1989 Age 27 Sex Female Race White Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Height 5' 9" Weight 330 
Injury Not Provided 
Addresses 

Hair Color 
Injury Weapons 

Brown 
Handgun - Automatic 

Residence 100 S Martin Luther King Apt 1225 Las Vegas, NV 89106 United States 

Offender Relationships 
S - LNU, FNU 1 None 
S - LNU, FNU 2 None 
Notes: Cashier at gas station 

Suspects: 

Name: LNU, FNU 1 
Scope ID 

Sex Male Height 

Name: LNU, FNU 2 
Scope ID 

Sex Male Height 
Employer/School 

Witnesses: 

DOB 

5' 6" 

DOB 

5' 7" 

Name: Richardson, Jamie Sue 

Written Statement 

8/3/2018 7:50 AM 

Yes 

Weight 

Weight 

140 

170 

Age 20 Race Black or African 
American 

Age 

Hair Color Unknown Eye Color 

20 Race Black or African 
American 

Hair Color Unknown Eye Color 
Occupation/Grade 

Can ID Suspect No 

LLV170817000241 

Eye Color Brown 

Ethnicity Not Hispanic or 
Latino 

Unknown 

Ethnicity Not Hispanic or 
Latino 

Unknown 

Page 1 of 2 
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DOB 7/21/1980 Age 37 Sex Female Race White 
Height 4' 1 0" Weight 110 Hair Color Brown 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 

6500 W Charleston Apt 93 Las Vegas, NV 89146 United States 

(702) 203-8838 
Notes: 

Name: Gerrish, Daniel 

Written Statement Yes Can ID Suspect No 

DOB 8/10/1986 Age 31 Sex Male Race White 
Height 6' 0" Weight 165 Hair Color Blond 

Addresses 
Residence 6500 W Charleston Apt 92 Las Vegas, NV 89146 United States 

Properties:() 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Status Stolen Quantity 57.63 Value 57.63 
Description $57.63 of US currency 
Manufacturer US Government Model Serial No.\VIN 
Owner V - Terrible's Gas Station 

Type: Consumable Goods (incl Prescriptions/drugs/narcotics) 

Status Stolen 
Description Newport cigarettes 
Manufacturer Newport 
Owner V - Terrible's Gas Station 

Narrative 

Model 

Quantity 9 

cigarettes 

Value 74.61 

Serial No.\VIN 

Ethnicity Not Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Blue 

Ethnicity Not Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Hazel 

Color Light Green 

Color Green 

On 8/17/17 at approximately 0141 hours, I Officer J. Lynn P# 15222 while operating as marked patrol unit 1W21, was dispatched to a call for service 
in reference to a possible Robbery to the Terrible's Gas Station at 6380 W Charleston, Las Vegas, NV 89107. 

Upon arrival I met with the store clerk who identified herself via NV DL as Josephine Castro DOB 8/27/89 ID# 6072032. Castro stated that at around 
0140 hours, she was taking care of the trash behind the counter with her back to the entrance of the convenience store. Castro then heard the tone 
bell of someone entering the store immediately followed by the cocking of what she believed to be a firearm. Castro turned to discover an 
unknown skinny black male adult dressed in a black hoodie, black shorts, blue shoes and blue latex gloves presenting a black in color firearm. 
The unknown male then grabbed Castro and demanded that she open the cash register all the while forcibly moving Castro towards it. Castro then 
opened that cash register. Unsatisfied with the little amount of money that was in the till, the suspect then stated "I know you have more in the 
back, we're going in the back." The suspect then attempted to physically move Castro a second time towards the back of the store. At that time, 
another unknown black male dressed in a black hoodie, red/orange pants, a black mask covering his face and wearing blue latex gloves entered 
the store and stood by the front door. Soon thereafter, both males exited the business on foot and fled northbound through the parking lot. The 
suspects left with a rough estimate of $57.63 and around nine packs of Newport cigarettes valued at $8.29 each. 

Two witnesses were inside of the business gambling when the events occurred. Witnesses Daniel Garrish DOB 8/10/86 and Jamie Richardson 
DOB 7/21/80 both filled out a voluntary statement as well as Castro. Castro was provided with a victims information guide as well as the store 
manager, Gerald Grossman DOB 2/22/55. 

Commercial robbery detective Sgt. O'Brien P# 6801 was notified. Video surveillance available. 

8/3/2018 7:50 AM LLV170817000241 Page 2 of 2 
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Page _J_ of _L_ 
LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT I Event# 

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT )7 b~ /7 --O~Y I 

THIS PORTION TO BE COMPLETED BY OFFICER 
Time Occurred 

s~~/ Da._1~ Occurred 

b- )· - Ir ()t u 
~City Location of Occunence I 

fe>~to □ County 

Dale of Birth 

r ?..-::t-
Hair Eyes Work Schdl. (Hours) (Days Off) 

1:xn\,)() ~ 
s: (Number & Street) Bldg./Apt.# City State Zip Code Res. Phone: /. 

0 s. Mc..(-\-\o ~6: \(..\nf\. ~1.,,Qj 1 '22,sj .i..<.::...c-=-.:~~..,_ _ ___,__:..,:N~,J...J....J,'--'--'tC..::o'-(p=---+-B-us_. P_h_on_e:...f.L)J.:l!......l~::........:::...ou., 

us. (Local) Address: (Number & Street) J Bldg./Apt.# 

'b ~ -i~ I 
es ay Can You Identify D Yes 

the Suspect? No 

0ErA1Ls Oolb,2-r.srk fhJ. ~2s± C:=ti Q o \'4- 1 :)\')·, \e L w0-s CV1o.t3i'23 "1"\e 

~~~~J.!:'.J_~::::::_t.'..~,,C,.....!:,=-L..!....l.LA......!~~~ 'J-l l \c. cl Co-<nQ_ -lD 6,()d cocW ~S;. 

300. 3\Q_ n a.<""o Ree o 

j-r) )j ~ ', T\/\. Q.. o~ ~ 4 o eo~o~ 

--r\ne ,<; 

_L,,..._J.Sl~:>.........\.-'~~'---'...:..;,.._,._,~-----\.,._,_.J...Lf'-~,,__ 

(Q__. e 3c&-- loecJ 

0, c~y~. Y,·,5 N,:s'h, \Jee__(!,~-\ 'c,e-.'1 a.mW~ fu v0;.5 cs\:,\;.& =l.o... 

lcrc...r\5 0-' '-o\c...C:\L \J..::~:;~?fu,._,_~a._~C-~(:'.~c\~c::0~v..:=s\~(....~~ _____________ _ 

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT AND I AFFIRM TO THE TRUTH AND ACCURACY OF THE FACTS CONTAINED HEREIN, THIS STATEMENT WAS 

COMPLETED AT 1zPION) 'Tc:{2~L,p5 did$ ~ 
ON THE / DAY OF ~ AT (),:9~ ® PM).).:> t "7 . 

Wttoe,s/Off,~c C) 62:S 
Witness/Officer: ____ 0-• ~ tJ P# IS'~ 
LVMPD 85 (REV. 6-08) (PRIN EDJ 
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Page_l_of c;)... 

Specific Crime 

~vJ 
Location of Occurrence 

Witness/Officer: 
LVMPD 85 (REV. 8--08) 

LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT I Event# 

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT I 70?.J17 -o;;J :-( 

THIS PORTION TO BE COMPLETED BY OFFICER 
Date Occurred 

~-17-1 
Sector/Beat 

/ 

Time Occurred 

6}4-o 

Depart Date (if visitor) 

Can You Identify D Ye~ 

the Suspect? e-8 lfo 

-
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT 

CONTINUATION 
Event#: \ 7015)] - W::{ \ 

,,r .Q Q~ L¥-~~rv--.:____-_---\-------=:~L..........::::~==--- ,~-~___,_-=----'--IE:=-1----------''----\..J,.~~ 

_.. ' b~~\c-,--= -~----________..tG=~~-------

~L~$ ----­

cj-dc Witness/Officer: 

Witness/Officer: 
(PRINTED) 
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I 
·LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT I Event# 

_Pa_g_e_L __ of:=-(=.::::---~- VOLUNTARY STATEMENT 17 og IJ ~ 6;,u 1 

Location of 0 

Your Name (last/ First/ Middle) 

-----r--S-ex--r--=-e-=-:.--'--1~---,--,-----t<;:-~Fair=,.- f2(yes -¼-k S-c-hd-1. -(H-ou-rs-) ---~"'---r--'B~us-ln~ ...... ;ss~/'-S-ChoOI 

Hc-.2-
Res. Phone: 4 

Bus. Phone: 

Occupation 

Best place to contact you during the day Best lime to contact you during the day 

DETAILS 

Depart Date (if visitor) 

Can You Identify □ Yes 

the Suspect? 

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT ~FflR~ TO THE TR~ AND~CCUAACY OF T~E FACTS SONT~ED HEREl~l T~IS STATEMENT WAS 

COMPLETED =LOCATION) ____j.E'r'~,:'.:i· ¼>,_.. ~,,. !~~€,,) t_ Ch;,--k;rd:"':2? . 
ON THE t _ _l_ DAY OF (A,1 ~_c__S ±-----AT 2.,.(i ~PM), cJm7 . . 

W.toe,s/Qff<e, c]' ft :b___ ---+-IL._ i1 '1 
~ ir-

Witness/ O ffi c er. 1 L ..J ,J ___ P# ISJ.d/2) 
LVMPD 85 (REV. 6~81 (PRIN D) 
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd. 

Case Report No.: LLV170817000470 

Las Vegas, NV 89106 

Administrative 

Location 6400 W Lake Mead Blvd LV, NV 89208 
Occurred On (Date/ Time) Thursday 8/17/2017 3:15:00 AM 
Reporting Officer 15256 - Roman, Abdiel 
Entered By 15256 - Roman, Abdiel 
Related Cases 

Traffic Report No Place Type 

Offenses: 
Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Handgun 
Criminal Activities None/Unknown 

Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry No Force Used Premises Entered 

Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Victims: 

Name: Rebel Gas Station 

Victim Type Business Written Statement 

Sector /Beat 
Or Between (Date I Time) Thursday 8/17/2017 3:45:00 AM 

Reported On 8/17/2017 
Entered On 8/17/2017 3:49:59 AM 

Jurisdiction 

Accident Involved 

Las Vegas, City of 

Hate/Bias Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) 
Type Security Tools 

Location Type Convenience Store 

Hate/Bias Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) 
Type Security Camera Tools 

Exterior Lights 
Interior Lights 

Location Type Service/Gas Station 

Can ID Suspect 
Victim of 50426 - Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 

DOB 
Height 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury 

Addresses 
Business 
Phones 
Business/Work 

Offender Relationships 
Notes: 

Name: Brown, Ta'Shay 

Age 
Weight 

Sex Race 
Hair Color 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

6400 W Lake Mead Blvd LV, NV 89108 United States 

(702) 648-0403 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement Yes 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

Ethnicity 
Eye Color 

Can ID Suspect No 

W1 

DOB 1/28/1992 Age 25 

210 

Sex Female Race Black or African 
American 

Ethnicity Not Hispanic or Latino 

Height 5' 0" Weight 
Employer/School Rebel Gas Staiton 
Occupation/Grade Night Clerk 
Injury None Observed 

Hair Color Black 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Handgun 

Addresses 
Business 
Residence 
Phones 

6400 W Lake Mead Blvd LV, NV 89108 United States 

3635 Russian Olinest North LV, NV 89032 United States 

Cellular 
Business/Work 

Offender Relationships 

(702) 272-9864 
(702) 648-0403 

S - Last Unknown, First Unknown 
Notes: 

Relationship Unknown 

Suspects: 

Name: Last Unknown. First Unknown 

8/3/2018 7:59 AM LLV170817000470 

Eye Color Brown 

Page 1 of 2 
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Scope ID 

Sex Male 

Employer/School 

Witnesses: 

DOB 

Height 5' 5" - 5' Weight 
8" 

Name: Johnson, Harry 
Written Statement Refused 
DOB 1/5/1991 Age 26 

Age 18-30 

Hair Color 

Race Black or African Ethnicity 
American 

Eye Color 

Occupation/Grade 

Can ID Suspect No 
Sex Male Race Black or African Ethnicity 

American 

Unknown 

Height 5' 6" Weight 145 Hair Color Black Eye Color 

Not Hispanic or Latino 

Brown 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 

Other Entities: 

2200 N Torrey Pnes Apt 1068 LV, NV 89108 United States 

(702) 573-9031 

Name: Person Reporting/Complainant Miles, Sherry 
Written Statement No Can ID Suspect No 
DOB 3/27/1961 Age 56 Sex Female Race Black or African 

American 
Height 5' 1" Weight 195 Hair Color Brown 
Driver License Number 
Addresses 

1603399094 Driver License State Nevada 

Business 
Residence 
Phones 
Business/Work 
Cellular 

Properties: () 

6400 W Lake Mead Blvd LV, NV 89108 United States 
6245 Bellota Dr#b LV, NV 89108 United States 

(702) 648-0403 
(702) 416-6372 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Status Stolen Quantity 349.48 
Description U.S. Currency 
Owner V - Rebel Gas Station 

Narrative 

Value 349.48 

Ethnicity Not Hispanic or Latino 

Eye Color Brown 

Color 

On 08/17/17 I, Officer A. Roman P# 15256, while operating as marked LVMPD patrol unit was dispatched to the Rebel gas Station located at 6400 
W. Lake Mead Blvd, LV, NV, 89108 in reference to a Robbery call. The details of the call stated that a firearm was used and that the suspect was 
wearing a marks. 

Upon arrival I made contact with the night clerk, later identified as Ta'Shay Brown DOB 01/18/92, who began to state that she was assisting 
another customer with purchasing an item. As Ta"shay finished assisting the customer, the customer began to exit, she hears a handgun "cock" 
like a round was chambered into the barrel of a handgun. As Ta'Shay hears this noise, she simultaneously observes a black male adult wearing a 
black/grey hoodie or sweater, wearing a black mask, black basketball shorts, white socks, red shoes and was wearing blue latex gloves. The black 
male adult immediately jumped over the front counter and demanded that Ta'Shay open the cash register. Ta'Shay further stated that she opened 
her cash register and after she did, the black male adult demanded she opened the cash register next to her's and proceeded to take the money. 
After the black male adult retrieved the money from both the cash registers, he demanded Ta'Shay lay down on the floor, face down, while he 
jumped the counter and exited the business. 

Per P# 15042, who was operating as an RT unit, stated that at approximately 0323 hours on 08/17/17 - the black male adult was walking south 
bound on Torrey Pines coming from the Brittnae Pines apartment complex. Per P# 15042, the black male adult is seen in the video wearing a black 
colored sweater or long sleeve shirt and black basketball shorts. Per P# 15042, the black male adult entered the business and was only inside the 
business for approximately 25 - 30 seconds. The black male adult then exits the business and proceeds to run north bound back into the Brittnae 
Pines apartment complex. 

Per Officer C. Rogers P# 15666, while attempting to locate the suspect involved, Officer Rogers was hailed by a citizen at 2051 N. Torrey Pines, LV, 
NV, 89108 regarding what he witnessed. Per Officer Rogers, he made contact with Harry Johnson DOB 01/15/91 who stated that he observed a 
black male adult fitting the description of the robbery suspect run and enter a Red Ford Fiesta, unknown what year. The black male adult entered 
through the passenger side and the vehicle immediately drove off north bound on Torrey Pines. 

Ta'Shay filled out a voluntary statement and the business was given a victim information guide. Harry refused to fill out a voluntary statement, but 
stated he is willing to speak with detectives. CSA was requested and responded and processed the scene. There is video surveillance and will be 
available at a later time for detectives. The black male adult took $349.48 in U.S. currency (unknown denominations). 

8/3/2018 7:59 AM LLV170817000470 Page 2 of 2 
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Page_J_ ot_• _ 
LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT I Event# 

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT l?otjt,- o'ha 

i--- ___ (loJ}f),=-=n, ........ _____________________ -+-"-4--'-'-+..,_ ---+------1 
Location of Occurrence 

W/ 

-"----'----------.-.:-=-:--4-.-----------><-..:...~----'-oJeTm q d--
----.------,----...~-r----,.~~~1--- (Days Off) Business/ Sch 

Your Name (Last/ First/ Middle) 

I I 
Bldg./Apt.# City 

I 
Best place ta contact yau during the day Best lime to contact you during the day 

oom QftY) 

Res. Phone: 7c~ :2. ~ ?667' 
Bus. Phone: ~ 

Depart Date (if visitor) 

Can You Identify □ Yes 

I the Suspect? )?" No 

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT AND I AFFIRM TO THE TRUTH AND ACCURACY OF THE ~tCTS CONTAINED HEREIN. THIS STATEMENT WAS 

COMPLETEDAT(LOCATION) 61,f()(J W (A.I.{~ ,,,,,..J:4() /}t,vfJ. t,,v; /VV. _-o_?~l~O~i',-___________ _ 

ON THE I; r/-1 DAY OF IA-..,1( AT 6'-f W ~ PM), ~Ch 

Witness/Officer: ~_,,__ _____ k_~==-------
__ ..,,P' [SIGNATURE) 

Witness/Officer: -j:' ~ ol,,.t1 P# lS"J ~O 
LVMPD 85 (REV. 6-0-8)------'---'--=(P=Rlfll=T=ED~) ----
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd. 

Case Report No.: LLV170824000521 

Las Vegas, NV 89106 

Administrative 

Location 6820 W Flamingo Las Vegas, NV 89103 
Occurred On (Date/ Time) Thursday 8/24/2017 3:49:00 AM 
Reporting Officer 15867 - Magazin, Jovan 
Entered By 15867 - Magazin, Jovan 
Related Cases 

Traffic Report No Place Type 

Offenses: 
Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Handgun 
Criminal Activities None/Unknown 

Burglary, (1st)(F)-NRS 205.060.2 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry No Force Used Premises Entered 

Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Victims: 

Name: Chavez, Odani 

Or Between (Date/ Time) 
Reported On 8/24/2017 
Entered On 8/24/2017 4:11 :42 AM 

Jurisdiction 

Accident Involved 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security 

Location Type Restaurant 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security Exterior Lights 

Camera 
Location Type Restaurant 

Sector /Beat P3 

Clark County 

Tools 

Tools 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement Yes Can ID Suspect No 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 2/10/1994 
Height 5' 6" 
Employer/School Robertos 
Occupation/Grade Clerk 
Injury Not Provided 

None Observed 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 

Offender Relationships 
S- UNK 
S- Unk 
Notes: 

Name: Maria. Ruiz-Rizo 

Age 23 Sex Male 
Weight 160 

Race White 
Hair Color Black 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Handgun 

6500 W Charleston #54 Las Vegas, NV 89146 United States 

(702) 330-2988 

None 
None 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement Yes 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 8/26/1986 
Height 5' 2" 
Employer/School Robertos 
Occupation/Grade Clerk 
Injury Not Provided 

None Observed 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Business/Work 
Cellular 

Offender Relationships 
S-UNK 
S- Unk 
Notes: 

Name: Robertos 

8/3/2018 8:02 AM 

Age 30 Sex 
Weight 180 

Female Race White 
Hair Color Black 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Handgun 

4630 Koval Ln 63d Las Vegas, NV 89109 United States 

(702) 876-2353 
(702) 601-8483 

None 
None 

LLV170824000521 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Can ID Suspect No 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Black 

Page 1 of 3 
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Victim Type Business Written Statement 
Victim of 50424 - Burglary, (1st)(F)-NRS 205.060.2 

DOB 
Height 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury 

Addresses 

Age 
Weight 

Sex Race 
Hair Color 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

Can ID Suspect 

Ethnicity 
Eye Color 

Business 
Phones 
Business/Work 

6820 W Flamingo Las Vegas, NV 89103 United States 

(702) 876-2353 

Offender Relationships 
Notes: 

Suspects: 

Name: UNK 
Alias: 

Scope ID 

Sex Male 

Employer/School 

Addresses 
Phones 
Notes: 

Name: Unk 
Alias: 

Scope ID 

Sex Male 

Other Entities: 

DOB 

Height 5' 7" - 5' Weight 
9" 

DOB 

Height 5' 7" - 5' Weight 
9" 

Name: Contact Rodriguez, Jose 

Written Statement No 

Age 20-30 

Hair Color 

Race Black or African Ethnicity 
American 

Eye Color 

Occupation/Grade 

Age 20-30 

Hair Color 

Can ID Suspect No 

Race Black or African Ethnicity 
American 

Eye Color 

Not Hispanic or 
Latino 

Not Hispanic or 
Latino 

DOB 12/14/1967 Age 49 Sex Male Race White Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Height 5' 6" 
Driver License Number 

Addresses 
Residence 
Business 
Phones 
Cellular 
Business/Work 
Notes: 

Properties: () 

Weight 145 Hair Color Black 
1601562972 Driver License State 

6743 W Charleston Blvd Unit 1 Las Vegas, NV 89146 United States 
6820 W Flamingo Las Vegas, NV United States 

(847) 961-8034 
(702) 876-2353 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Nevada 

Status Stolen Quantity 1 Value 300.00 
Description cash 
Manufacturer 
Vehicle Year 
Lie Plate# 
Insurance Company 
Owner V - Robertos 
Notes: 

Model 
Body Type 

Lie Plate State 

Type: Misc. (Cell Phones, Bicycles, Worthless Doc, items not listed) 

Status Stolen 
Description black wallet 
Manufacturer 
Vehicle Year 
Lie Plate# 
Insurance Company 

8/3/2018 8:02 AM 

Model 
Body Type 

Lie Plate State 

Quantity 

LLV170824000521 

Serial No.\VIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

Value 50.00 

Serial No.\VIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

Eye Color Brown 

Color 

Color 
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Owner V - Chavez, Odani 
Notes: 

Type: Misc. (Cell Phones, Bicycles, Worthless Doc, items not listed) 

Status Stolen 
Description credit card 
Manufacturer 
Vehicle Year 
Lie Plate# 
Insurance Company 
Owner V - Chavez, Odani 
Notes: 

Narrative 

Model 
Body Type 

Lie Plate State 

Quantity Value 00.00 Color 

Serial No.\VIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

On 08/24/2017 at 0349 hours I, Officer J.Magazin P #15867, operating as marked patrol unit 1P45 responded to Robertos located at 6820 W 
Flamingo Las Vegas NV 89103, in reference of Robbery call. Details of the call stated time lapsed 3- 4 minutes to business, firearm used. The two 
suspects had their faces covered, left on foot towards trash cans. 

Upon arrival I made contact with Chavez, Odani DOB 02/10/1994 who stated two black male suspects with ski masks entered the store, pointed a 
black hand gun at him and demanded from Odani to open cash register and give them the money. Odani gave suspects $300.00 in cash, half of 
the cash was inside the black Wells fargo moneybag and the other half inside cash register. Both suspects fled easbound from the business. 

Officers recovered$ 140.00 dolalars in cash outside of the business on the ground, and it was returned to the business Manager. 

Surveillance video showed the two suspects enter the business, jump over the counter and present the black handgun to the employee. The 
suspects took the cash ran out eastbound from the business. 

8/3/2018 8:02 AM LLV170824000521 Page 3 of 3 
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I 
DEPARTAMENTO DE POLICIA METROPOLITANA DE LAS VEGAS lncidente # 

_Pa_·g_in_a _ _L __ d_e=-~~~----'· DECLARACION VOLUNTARIA LLJ r 7o__._.__,:i..=___,_q c---'e=-'°-~-_:tc..,__1 _ 

ESTA SECCION DEBE SER LLENADA POR UN OFICIAL 
Delito 

Lugar de los Hechos 

Nombre (Apellido/Nombre/Segundo Nombre) 

an', ;ca v~ ......... l.=..-~--~-------
Peso I Cabello 

/4 

Horario de T rabajo 

z: -
(Dias Ubres) 

I 
Olrecci6n: (Numero y Calle) Edlf/Depto. # C1udad Estado C6digo Postal 

, 5 o o t1r leSfQJy A. f-1 J v. v-c ~D..S 
Direcd6n (Local) Trabajo: Numero y Calle Edlf/Depto. # Ciudad 

lrv-41--~ cf 1 I, 

Fecha de los Hechos 

)?'"-..2v-1-; 
Sector/Beat 

i)'3 

Emplea<lor/Escuela 

Hora de los Hechos 

O'S S"'C.) 

□ Ciudad 
~ondado 

Te!Mono Casa: ? o t:. , () f 

Telefono Trabajo: '7 6 z 

6 '.is' 20 w. ectaY>7ili1llO I I / as l.,!_C_fj_o..._,.__-'--'--'--"-'------=____:__..:.-=----'--= .......... ~-__.____,,_,-=.:_=--..,__ 
Lugar para comunicarnos con ud. durante el dfa" 

DESCRIPCION DETALLADA y () c-dani' 

0200:<.s 

v,·mv~, .... q vc en 'Trot o l:J 2.. bom br: C-:3 
<:, 

ASIA UYIO 

ellb) P. r JIYl culo , P. f2_u D --w n d(j 
0 e SuA nc.)so,f o_s __ -J_o~6_;, __ _ 

At:uobtAn en 1nfJIC'....S Ptd,cndonos .Qt d1l'.2Q(u-~·~f~n'--'-"-D~)..._ ____ _ 

IY'C.L-) 'T11AbC1,q 1 tp.5 a)(,Sa..S j lve-<;;O 

ja. CJ?.-JA da11dc ')e enco11:,Yq kle, e/ d,n;eLc) deJ Rdf?zc,T@ ,~ 

euo_, buScJA DIA(} (>1C&,$ COS14S: ~ P,J-'Ylt cdcJt1~ 

_st,vJ..:T_n,_r_o'-'-n_.__~01CL.l_,'l: .... ~'---->-c ..... £>.=t._"'1:'-'e=t'-'c ... "'-_ __, __ 'fi_t>-=--=-M-=---=-b_f.__.e,;;.,v'2.....__ __ 0f)=• ,L;e...___.c=d-~e..o,,,__~ .... a,L_n~--'-Cf_._U>C.->.,,C~-

~~~--bt~l~e~,r~c,....~~'~Ci~__,__c.f:l.:;r4 p(.\,o. s.o.e.~, eJ dl,ne..YU_~P_c.._~,,,_o _____ _ 

con l c, ()JS 76 / '< 1 tu e ivo Sc.. Mordhd.fOf\ 

d, Vt £1, cndo 5 e. 
ta 1}1-e Al C/ 11-

Testigo/Oficial: 

HE LEIDO ESTA DECLARACION Y CONFIRMO LA VERACIDAD Y EXACTITUD DE LOS HECHOS ANTES MENCIONADOS. ESTA DECLARACION SE 

ReAuzo EN (LUGAR) RD o,q -re, :> ~ c..._·o=-----~.,,_2,__,H"-'o=-O _________ __,..........,.~~,,,__-------
eL DIA -U:....e11C11 2-oe __ ?2._lt~--- DE Z.O 17 A LAS ~ (AM/PM). ,J')[ LJJ--l f;Ji L-

~' ~JY/J 
Testigo/Oficial: ~ fffl'ila del Declarante 
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DEPARTAMENTO DE POLICIA METROPOLITAN A DE LAS VEGAS I lncidente # 

_Pa_· g_in_a,::::-_:::--_l--::...d_e __ ~(- ---~ DECLARACION VOLUNTARIA LL u 11o <c;z.. 9 02- 6 ~-2. l 

Nombre (Apellido/Nombre/Segundo Nombre) 

Dlreccii'ln: (Numero y Calle) Edif/Oepto. # Ciudad 

68.10 ~ ±..\.0:: -\.-"°'" Q. t) la. I lo.$ 
Direccicm (Local) Trabajo: Numero y Calle Edif/Oepto. # Ciudad 

Lugar para comunicarnos con ud. durante el dia 

(Dias Libres) Empleador/Escuela 

Horarlo para comunicarnos con ud. durante el dia 

Fecha de Salida (visitantes) 

Puede ldentificar □ Si 

al Sospechoso □ No 

o ::,.o..\.\a..r1>e. 2 $~ b,t "-C:..c-..."t" o"' \ o_. ~e-:;) .,, ::\ l\ t:.. ~ ~"{"c'o de:,"-,.\ Q. d G\ bo.Y"''/$.>.:) '/0 

cs.\ ~h"- s:~hc,.,""-do c1 P'i'Cb ~ <?')o.,\'lo e'f\ \ o-b C. h.a...ro lss '-va..Y' do c..\\e,.3 

fo :tq_ 

_o. c c & ~ o. j \ \) c: ~.e--5..o-..c:_~•_,_. r-...,_----=-e....=---~'-'--'.__,__,~..,_,_---=d=--:4!..=--__,\....::o....==--.c:c.c.ca..;:...~...c....c.o....,__._-=S.,,_ 

fo.r-g 
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd. 

Las Vegas, NV 89106 

Administrative 

Location 907 N Rainbow LV, NV 89145 
Occurred On (Date I Time) Thursday 8/24/2017 5:10:00 AM 
Reporting Officer 06067 - O'Neill, Timothy K 
Entered By 06067 - O'Neill, Timothy K 
Related Cases 170824-0521 

Traffic Report No Place Type 

Offenses: 
Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 
Criminal Activities None/Unknown 

Victims: 

Name: Roberto's Taco Shop Store#18 

Victim Type Business Written Statement 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB Age Sex 
Height Weight 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury 

Addresses 
Business 907 N Rainbow Blvd LV, NV 89145 

Phones 
Business/Work (702) 258-2699 

Offender Relationships 

Case Report No.: LLV170824000645 

Sector /Beat V4 
Or Between (Date I Time) 

Reported On 8/24/2017 
Entered On 8/24/2017 5:42:52 AM 

Jurisdiction Las Vegas, City of 

Accident Involved 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security Tools 

Location Type Restaurant 

Can ID Suspect 

Race Ethnicity 
Hair Color Eye Color 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

United States 

Notes: Estimated over $500.00 US currency taken from cash register and bank box 

Name: Roman. Gil 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement Yes Can ID Suspect No 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 2/8/1987 Age 30 Sex Male Race White Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Height 5' 5" Weight 170 Hair Color Brown Eye Color Brown 
Employer/School Roberto's Taco Shop 
Occupation/Grade Cook 
Injury None Observed 

Addresses 
Residence 
Business 
Phones 
Cellular 
Business/Work 

Offender Relationships 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

340 Upton LV, NV 89107 United States 
907 N Rainbow Blvd LV, NV 89145 United States 

(702) 929-4005 
(702) 258-2699 

Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 

Notes: no ssn/ suspect #1 punched Gil and took his walet with Mexican ID and $40.00 US currency 

Suspects: 

Name: Unknown 
Alias: 

Scope ID 

Sex Male 
Employer/School 

Addresses 
Phones 

DOB 

Height 5' 5" Weight 

Age 0 Race Black or African Ethnicity 
American 

140 Hair Color Black Eye Color Brown 
Occupation/Grade 

Unknown 

Notes: Punched Gil in the head and took his wallet. At time of robbery was wearing a black ski mask and gloves, right glove fingerless 

8/3/2018 8:06 AM LLV170824000645 Page 1 of 3 
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Name: Unknown 
Alias: 

Scope ID 

Sex Male 
Employer/School 

DOB 

Height 6' 0" Weight 

Age 

160 

o Race 

Hair Color 
Occupation/Grade 

Black or African 
American 

Eye Color 

Ethnicity Unknown 

Addresses 
Phones 
Notes: Only suspect that was armed, entered business first, shouted commands. At time of robbery was wearing a black ski mask and gloves, 

left glove fingerless. 

Name: Unknown 
Alias: 

Scope ID DOB Age O Race Unknown Ethnicity Unknown 
Sex Unknown 
Employer/School 

Height Weight Hair Color 
Occupation/Grade 

Eye Color 

Addresses 
Phones 
Notes: Driver of get away vehicle a 4 door gray or light colored Chevy Caprice type vehicle that picked up suspects #1 and #2 in the SE corner 

of parking lot. Then fled south onto Rainbow Blvd then east across Rainbow Blvd into the alleyway north of the Rebel gas station and 
south of the Medical plaza towards Lorenzi Street. No plate obtained. 

Arrestees: 

Witnesses: 

Name: Cortez, Yuiiana 

Written Statement Yes Can ID Suspect No 

DOB 
Height 

10/10/1984 
5' 0" 

Age 32 Sex 
Weight 130 

Female Race 
Hair Color 

White 
Black 

Addresses 
Residence 
Business 
Phones 

340 Upland LV, NV 89107 United States 
907 N Rainbow Blvd LV, NV 89145 United States 

Cellular (702) 980-8795 
Business/Work (702) 258-2699 
Notes: No ssn/Nothing taken from person 

Other Entities: 

Properties:() 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Status Stolen Quantity 1 
Description Estimated over $500.00 US currency 
Manufacturer Model 
Vehicle Year Body Type 
Lie Plate # Lie Plate State 
Insurance Company 
Owner V - Roberto's Taco Shop Store#18 
Notes: Taken from cash register and bank box. 

Type: Misc. (Cell Phones, Bicycles, Worthless Doc, items not listed) 

Status Stolen 
Description Wallet with Mexican ID 
Manufacturer Polo Model 
Vehicle Year Body Type 
Lie Plate# Lie Plate State 
Insurance Company 
Owner V - Roman, Gil 
Notes: $40.00 US currency; 2-$20 bills inside wallet 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Status Stolen 
Description 2-$20 bills; $40.00 US currency 
Manufacturer 

Body Type 
Model 

Vehicle Year 
Lie Plate# Lie Plate State 

8/3/2018 8:06 AM 

Quantity 1 

Quantity 2 

LLV170824000645 

Value 500.00 

Serial No.\VIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

Value 50.00 

Serial No.\VIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

Value 40.00 

Serial No.WIN 

Lie Plate Exp 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Color 

Color Black 

Color 
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Insurance Company 
Owner V - Roman, Gil 
Notes: Inside wallet. 

Type: 

Status 

Automobile (not Stolen or Recovered) 

Used In The Crime Quantity 

Description 4 door, possible light colored Chevy Caprice style vehicle 

Value 

Manufacturer Chevy Model Caprice Serial No.\VIN 
Vehicle Year Body Type 
Lie Plate # Lie Plate State Lie Plate Exp 
Insurance Company 
Owner S - Unknown 
Notes: Unknown suspect#3 driver, picked up Suspects #1 & #2, fled scene. 

Narrative 

over 
$500.00 

Color Gray 

***BWC*** I, Officer T. O'Neill, P#6067, working as marked unit 1V33, and Officers S. Cody, P#15865, working as marked unit 1X22, and J. Ayala, P# 
7906, working as marked unit 1V55, were dispatched to a robbery at 5:10AM, 8/24/2017, at Roberto's Taco Shop Store#18, at 907 N. Rainbow Blvd. 
Officers Cody and Ayala arrived first and met with the cook, Gil Roman and the cashier, Yuiiana Cortez, who speak Spanish, with some broken 
English, and stated that two, late teens to early 20s, BMAs, had committed an armed robbery of the business and of Gil's personal property. Gil 
stated that an unknown BMA (suspect#2), wearing a black ski mask, black bb cap, black long sleeved hoodie with white letters possibly "Hollister" 
across the chest, black gloves, with left glove fingerless, gray sweat pants, red/white Nike high top tennis shoes charged into the business, 
pointed a large frame, black, semi-automatic pistol, and yelled "give me the money or I'll kill you mother fuckers". Immediately after him, another 
unknown BMA (suspect#1), wearing a black ski mask, black bb cap, blue long sleeve hoodie, black gloves, right glove fingerless, black sweat 
pants, black or dark blue/white Adidas tennis shoes, black, blue and white multi-colored back pack ordered Gil and Yuiiana to the back of the 
store. Suspect#1 attacked the cash register and the bank box and stole an estimated over $500.00 in US currency, stuffing the money in the back 
pack he brought. Suspect#1 and #2 tried to put Gil and Yuiiana in the freezer, Yuiiana went inside but Gil wouldn't go inside. Suspect#1 then 
punched Gil in the head and stole his wallet, containing his Mexican ID and $40.00 US currency. Gil began to fight back as suspects#1 and #2 
started to leave the business. Gil knocked down a shelving unit onto suspect#2, twice, and started throwing items at the suspects. The suspects 
fled the business and a unknown (suspect#3), the driver of get away vehicle, a 4 door gray or light colored Chevy Caprice type vehicle, picked up 
suspects #1 and #2 in the SE corner of parking lot. The suspects fled south onto Rainbow Blvd then east across Rainbow Blvd into the alleyway 
north of the Rebel gas station and south of the Medical plaza towards Lorenzi Street. No plate was obtained. Gil called police on 911. CSI 
responded and took photos and processed the scene. 
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Page_L__of_/_ 
LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT I Event# 
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Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department 
400 S. Martin Luther King Blvd. 

Las Vegas, NV 89106 

Administrative 

Location 1401 N Decatur Las Vegas, NV 89108 
Occurred On (Date/ Time) Friday 8/25/2017 4:00:00 AM 
Reporting Officer 15222 - Lynn, Joshua 
Entered By 15222 - Lynn, Joshua 
Related Cases Jumping Jack Series 

Traffic Report Place Type 

Offenses: 
Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry Premises Entered 
Weapons Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 
Criminal Activities None/Unknown 

Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 
Completed Yes Domestic Violence No 
Entry No Force Used Premises Entered 
Weapons 
Criminal Activities 

Victims: 

Name: Pepe's Tacos 

Case Report No.: LLV170825000589 

Sector /Beat W2 
Or Between (Date/ Time) 

Reported On 8/25/2017 
Entered On 8/25/2017 4:24:08 AM 

Jurisdiction Las Vegas, City of 

Accident Involved 

Hate/Bias Unknown (Offenders Motivation Not Known) 
Type Security Tools 

Location Type Restaurant 

Hate/Bias None (No Bias) 
Type Security Tools 

Location Type Restaurant 

Victim Type Business Written Statement Can ID Suspect 
Victim of 50426 - Burglary While Poss Of Gun/Dw(F)-NRS 205.060.4 

DOB 
Height 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 
Injury 

Addresses 

Age 
Weight 

Sex Race 
Hair Color 

Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons 

Business 1401 N Decatur Las Vegas, NV 89108 United States 

Phones 
Business/Work 

Offender Relationships 
Notes: 

Name: Cruz, Reyna 

(702) 638-6200 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 9/7/1972 Age 44 Sex Female 
Height 5' 2" Weight 180 
Employer/School Pepe's Tacos 
Occupation/Grade 

Yes 

Race White 
Hair Color Brown 

Ethnicity 
Eye Color 

Can ID Suspect No 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Injury None Observed 
Work Schedule 
Injury Weapons Firearm - Automatic (Type Not Stated) 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 

Offender Relationships 
S - LNU, FNU 
Notes: Cashier 

Name: Medina, Maria 

9025 Desert Inn #180 Las Vegas, NV 89117 United States 

(702) 423-6899 

None 

Victim Type Individual Written Statement Yes 
Victim of 50138 - Robbery, E/DW(F)-NRS 200.380 

DOB 6/17/1977 
Height 5' 1" 
Employer/School 
Occupation/Grade 

8/3/2018 8:09 AM 

Age 40 Sex 
Weight 190 

Female Race White 
Hair Color 

Work Schedule 
LLV170825000589 

Can ID Suspect No 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Black Eye Color Brown 
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Injury None Observed Injury Weapons Firearm • Automatic (Type Not Stated) 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 

Offender Relationships 
S-LNU, FNU 
Notes: 

Suspects: 

Name: LNU. FNU 
Alias: 

912 Stanfford Unit B Las Vegas, NV 89110 United States 

(702) 445-8090 

None 

Scope ID DOB Age 20 Race Black or African Ethnicity 
American 

Not Hispanic or 
Latino 

Sex Male Height 5' 1 O" Weight 160 Hair Color 

Witnesses: 

Name: Medina, Maria 

Written Statement 

DOB 6/17/1977 
Height 5' 1" 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 
Notes: 

Yes Can ID Suspect No 

Age 40 Sex Female Race White 
Weight 190 Hair Color Black 

912 Stanfford Unit B Las Vegas, NV 89110 United States 

(702) 445-8090 

Name: Toledo-Vasquez, Francisco 

Written Statement Yes Can ID Suspect No 

DOB 3/9/1985 Age 32 Sex Male Race White 
Height 5' 9" Weight 180 Hair Color Brown 

Addresses 
Residence 
Phones 
Cellular 

5220 Pebble Bch Bid D Las Vegas, NV 89108 United States 

(702) 638-6200 
Notes: 

Other Entities: 

Name: Contact Nevarez, Sandra Elizabeth 

Written Statement Yes Can ID Suspect Yes 

DOB 4/3/1995 Age 22 Sex Female Race White 
Height 5' 5" Weight 140 Hair Color Brown 
Driver License Number Driver License State 

Addresses 
Residence 5820 Velma Ave Las Vegas, NV 89108 United States 
Phones 
Cellular (702) 647-3773 
Business/Work (702) 324-1609 

Eye Color 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Ethnicity Hispanic or Latino 
Eye Color Brown 

Notes: states that possible suspect entered autozone with an unknown black female adult around 0300 hours. surveillance video available. 

Properties: () 

Type: Currency, Coins, Securities, Cash 

Status Stolen Quantity 200 Value 200.00 Color Light Green 
Description Estimated $200 of US currency in unknown denominations 
Manufacturer US Government Model Serial No.\VIN 
Vehicle Year Body Type 
Lie Plate # Lie Plate State Lie Plate Exp 
Insurance Company 
Owner V - Pepe's Tacos 
Notes: 

8/3/2018 8:09 AM LLV170825000589 Page 2 of 3 
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Narrative 

On 8/25/17 at approximately 0405 hours, I Officer J. Lynn P# 15222 while operating as marked patrol unit 1W21 was dispatched to a possible 
robbery to the Pepe's Taco Shop at 1401 N Decatur, Las Vegas, NV 89108. 

Upon arrival I met with one of the workers of the business who verbally identified herself as Reyna Cruz DOB 9/7/72. Cruz stated that around 0400 
hours, she went to the rear of the kitchen area of the business to continue cleaning mats. She then returned to see an unknown black male adult 
dressed in a dark colored hoodie with Hollister Hawaii writing in front, gray shorts, white/ red Nike shoes and a black mask covering his face 
behind the counter. The unknown male then produced a black in color handgun and pointed it at Cruz, demanding her to open the cash register. 
When Cruz was unable to do so, the suspect pressed the firearm against her neck voicing his displeasure. Cruz then called for the assistance of 
her coworker, Maria Medina DOB 6/17/77. Medina was then able to open the register. The suspect then demanded all the employees to the floor 
while her was able to remove around $200 in unknown denominations from the cash register. The suspect then jumped the counter and exited 
through the north side entrance on foot northbound through the parking lot. Cruz then notified the authorities of what had occurred. 

Commercial Robbery Sgt. O'Brien P# 6801 responded to the scene along with Detectives Ticano P# 6804 and Rafferty P# 8919. CSA agent K. 
Thomas P# 13574 responded and processed the scene. 

Cruz, Medina and Francisco Toledo (works as a cook and was located in the kitchen) filled out voluntary statements of what had occurred. Cruz 
was also provided with a victim's information guide. 

Security camera footage available. 

8/3/2018 8:09 AM LLV170825000589 Page 3 of 3 
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Page_\_of_\_ 
LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT I Event# 

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT l7o8z S-- 0S8q 

THIS PORTION TO BE COMPLETED BY OFFICER • 

Specific Crime 

~ 
p,ate Occurred 

tf-'lS-l7 
Time Occurred 

~q 0v\ 

Lf/~lion of Occurrence 

~ ~ 3 6 \je!of\'5 p R. 
Sector/Beat 

\J..J//._, 
~-city 
D County 

Date of Birth 

c.t-1~ °I 
Social Security# 

Sex Height 

&'~ 
Eyes Worl< Schdl. (Hours) (Days Off) Business I School 

\?JKMM 
Res· ence Address: {Number & Street) i Code 

s B 2. () ~e..J_J..LC&_._.__._ ___ ......._________J.--'-'-'"'--'--"<--r--J--->--JL------''.i........;._--'-----=------~....:...,,:, o'---"-e--l--Bu_s. P_ho_ne:-----=-.,;--;,c-='---'----::--.L.=..=.-'-

Bus. {Local) Address: {Number & Street) Bldg./Apt.# City Occupation 

Best i•roo contact you during the day 
Can You Identify Yes 

the Suspect? D No 

DETAILS YJ\aaL mo\Q and tti~vani (, ffffict\'-0 como. I Oto the ctnno arwo d 
o:'bO am ~\L109 tor a fUs& Jjj]Q manager on dutj c\t :tY\e time 

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT AND I AFFIRM TO THE TRUTH AND ACCURACY OF THE FACTS CONTAINED HEREIN. THIS STATEMENT WAS 

COMPLETED AT tLOCATION) LiC\.30 V <i:6Pw C--Q\l--'---_L.,v_J,L-lv_,,__v;;...__9_c,,~i~o_1 __ ~---------------

0N THE 7. 5 DAY OF . .A¼\J 5\ AT OL!OL @I PM), __ 

Witness/Officer: ~.?t,,,,,-
~ (SIGNATURE) 

Witness/Officer: • .j , .J DN a.So iJ 
LVMPD 85 (REV. 6-08) (PRINTED) 
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Pagina _\ _de _f _ 

Direcci6n: {Nlimero y Calle) 

vtl~ slc-1nfford 
Direcci6n (Local) Trabajo: Numero y Calle 

DESCRIPCION DETALLADA 

.C) l:Jrg,5 ~o 

OEPARTAMENTO DE POLICIA METROPOLITANA DE LAS VEGAS Jncidente # 

DECLARACION VOLUNTARIA 

Edif/Depto. # Ciudad 

'.1\. u, .-Col!'.!'.'.la 

c_s/46 c-l~oJc) < 
b \ wr)fjc.ho 

Numero de Seguro Social 

'bres) Empleador/Escuela 

~ 

□ Si 

ii!jNo 

I) 

9ue- e\ Y)05 r,1bd e { J~,. Je ;;;pntd 

a.ck 
ooc911, ,- fc 

e~ .c'"':J"rq 
r;, t\0S1 Su 

bo~ "1 lu ,¼rM de.. ~ .. 

F MO L VERACIDAD Y E ACTITUD DE LOS HECHOS ANTES MENCIONAOOS. ESTA DECLARACION SE 
• 4o 

Testigo/Oficial: 
FirmaJ 

Testigo/Oficial: ___ ...,j.,....,,_ ... ~,N.ecl'=cb,,~on...,J~e.,..tr-a d~e-cM-=-o~ld,....e,....l ------- Flnna del Declarante 
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I 
DEPARTAMENTO DE POLI CIA METROPOLITANA DE LAS VEGAS I lncidente # 

_Pa_g_ina _____ \-=.d_e_::-_-_
1
-=--~. DECLARACION VOLUNTARIA ~ - oS 8'1 

ESTA SECCION DEBE SER LLENADA POR UN OFICIAL 
Delila 

Lugar de los H 

Lugar para comunlcarnos con ud. durante el dia 

F~pa de los Hechos 

D,;;:r, I· 
Hora de los Hechos 

Sector/Beat 

Fecha de Nacimiento Numero de Seguro Social 

&/o s: 
(Dias Lib res) Empleador/Escuela 

Telt\fono Casa: 

Telefono Trabajo: 

Ocupaci6n 

Horario para comunicarnos con ud. durante el dla 

Fecha de Salida {visitantes) 

Puede ldentlficar D Si 

al .sospechoso ' No 

0EscR1Pc10N DETALLADA Es/~ vo /,? he-,-zc/J ,2my; LUM e,,°'Zl da 

J};,-f<{?-d _j;e,, ,,c /t. 4i£c.C ?c .el.ls./=) J • ~ agvv. d,,( 

;;4~ ck : d :;4xi Lt;: ur),m-1.-~=I, =->~-{),.,....._'l)._z;>.,,_ ....... 1_c._~--

f3101 l, ,v kohW t20 -LL g~ue 7 01 oa la ez;/4qc4'q_-:1 

_t;;ga U e,,. /4, C&i e t: c,1 ar:pu---Let cfu ck_ /4 p/aµ .r 0- /< ~ 
c0ic4 n-~ Jo r't»z &i_ v,:.& -/4 /4. tl/Jt/nl) c&l?t Q_[4, {(( ,' C, 

A T 7, 

ci1,1&,7&;/1:r pur;, olf~I": 61 "lict I. L?fi"" 7k: ell/,< 220 ?6d'-4-
ab/; j' 7v /4 ~8(/ JI{; ~ ... C?,c:,~ 2 c/4 )c m ~ (yf 2 tl-0 --/4.t&'( 
&_ __ J!Jl;I II? liuo2v~?J1)( a oµu Cuj&-J'l:t /?CP:,,,,.A __ ...,,9.._._.,J....,,,£....,.__ __ _ 

..al:, ,;,',::Ya /4 (u_/ u ;J 
7
Yca (;lu,(.. ob1/o ftt Caj~~ O!f?'-Y/0 

jocfu el c412./H O y-u-C,,, 0(./.-~-:;}~ J)es j}J~~ /2(:(, /72/4 h'l y 

JZ127;?i1 r-t1 1222-#21 ct· ei ~_JJ2_ v-/ 9._,,vt.. l~c Cqj-e re-... ,--c.-- {Mf/,,,,.qya_ 

/2/c,? /!o .121/c 12212-'2 a/4(/v'<:½ ~-' ntp c:&/ ;Y no .VJ i La-£ lo Y 
7 

JZ». ( k: C, da Y V g C( Ir' c2, 

7 

7 

HE LEIDO ESTA DECLARACION Y CONFIRMO LA VERACIDAD Y EXACTJTUD DE LOS HECHOS ANTES MENCIONADOS. ESTA DECLARACION SE 

REAUZOEN(LUGAR)_-:-:---.-------.a---=:c-.--r--------,-----;;------------------
EL DIA ~ > DE_fl::_ 0 DE--""------'--'-- A LAS ~'.8AM/PM), 

Testigo/Oficial: d·&:r 
Testigo/Oficial: 

(Con Letra de Molde) 
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Page--\-- of _____.1__ 

Best place to contact you during the day 

LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT Event# 

VOLUNTARY STATEMENT 

Work Schdl. (Hours) 

□ Yes 

No 

I HAVE READ THIS STATEMENT AND I AFFIRM TO THE TRUTH AND ACCURACY OF THE FACTS CONTAINED HEREIN. THIS STATEMENT WAS 

coMPLETED AT cLocAT10N) /L(a N j)~ 
ON THE____ _ ______ AT ____ (AM/ PM), __ 
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